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Item #2.0
Board of Health
Barrie Office
April 19, 2017
9:15 am – 12:00 pm

	1.0
	
	9:15
	Call To Order

	2.0
	
	
	Approval of the Agenda

	3.0
	
	
	Declaration of Conflict of Interest

	4.0
	
	
	Minutes of Previous Meeting

	
	4.1
	9:15
	Approval of Minutes from March 15, 2017.



	6.0
	
	
	New Business

	
	6.1
	9:20
	Audited Financial Statements and Auditors Report for the Year Ending December 31, 2016.  Kerri Graham, and Crystal Barnard, BDO Dunwoody Representatives.




	5.0
	
	
	In Camera

	
	5.1
	9:50
	HR Issue (1)

	6.0
	
	
	New Business (con’t)

	
	6.2
	10:10
	Development of 2019-2021 Strategic Plan.  Briefing Note.  K. Ellis-Scharfenberg and C. Gardner presenting.






	
	6.3
	10:30
	Environmental Surveillance for Lyme Disease.  Briefing Note.  S. Rebellato, M. Whelan and C. Gardner presenting.



	
	
	10:50
	Break

	7.0
	
	
	Advocacy

	
	7.1
	11:00
	Healthy Babies Healthy Children Program Budget.  Briefing Note.  C. Shoreman and S. Horney presenting.







	
	7.2
	11:20
	Addressing Opioid Use in Simcoe and Muskoka.  Briefing Note.  C. Shoreman, J. Greco, C. Swoboda-Green and L. Simon presenting.




	8.0
	
	Items of Education

	
	8.1
	Gravenhurst Tour of new Dental Clinic & Board of Health Meeting, May 17, 2017, Gravenhurst Office, 2-6 Pineridge Gate, Gravenhurst, ON.




	
	8.2
	Board of Health Retreat, June 5, 2017, Fern Resort, 4432 Fern Resort Road, Ramara, ON

	
	8.3
	2017 Canadian Public Health Association (CPHA) annual conference June 5 to 8, 2017 in Halifax, NS.  

	
	8.4
	Save the Date - 2017 alPHa Annual General Meeting & Conference, June 11 to June 13, 2017 - Driving the Future of Public Health, Chatham-Kent John D. Bradley Convention Centre, Chatham, ON.  More details to follow when available.

	
	8.5
	Save the Date – 2017 Staff Education Days, October 11 & 12, 2017 at Geneva Park, Orillia.  (Each staff member only attends one of the two days; the agenda is identical for both days.)

	9.0
	
	Items of Information

	
	9.1
	Municipal Roles in Healthy Food Environments, Sustainable Food Systems and Household Food Insecurity Briefing Note.  Prepared by C. Bushey, Manager, CDP-Healthy Lifestyle Program, J. Shrestha, Public Health Nutritionist, CDP-Healthy Lifestyle Program, Carolyn Shoreman, Director, Community and Family Health Department and L. Simon, Associate Medical Officer of Health.



	
	9.2
	1. Letter to the Honourable Dr. Eric Hoskins, Minister of Health and Long-Term Health from Scott Warnock, Board of Health Chair, Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit re Tobacco Endgame.


2. Letter to the Honourable Dr. Jane Philpott, Minister of Health, Government of Canada from Scott Warnock, Board of Health Chair, Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit re Tobacco Endgame.



	
	9.3
	Thank you email from Bruce Stanton MP, Simcoe North for the correspondence to Minister Philpott and Minister Hoskins.



	
	9.4
	Copy of letter from Dr. Eric Hoskins, Minister of Health and Long-Term Care re the modernizing of the Smoke-Free Ontario Strategy.



	
	9.5
	Copy of letter from Dr. Charles Gardner, Medical Officer of Health, Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit to Natalie Bubela, Chief Executive Officer, Muskoka Algonquin Healthcare commending them for taking the initiative to support and implement the provincial Quit Card cessation program for patients being discharged from the hospital.



	
	9.6
	Shared Library Services Partnership Agreement.



	
	9.7
	Thank you letters from the Honourable Dr. Eric Hoskins, Minister of Health and Long-Term Care to Ben Rattelade, Margaretta Papp-Belayneh and Fred Hamelink for their years of service on the Board of Health.





	
	9.8
	Copy of letter from Carmen MacGregor, alPHa Vice-President, to Roselle Martino, Assistant Deputy Minister, Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care re Public Health Programs and Services Consultation.



	
	9.9
	Email from Gordon Fleming, Manager, Public Health Issues, Association of Local Public Health Agencies, to Chairs, Board of Health & Senior Managers All Programs re Public Health standards for Ontario.



	
	9.10
	Letter from Sylvia Jones, MPP, Dufferin-Caledon to Barry Ward, Board of Health Chair, Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit re private member’s bill, The Greater Access to Hepatitis C Treatment Act, 2016, Bill 5.



	
	9.11
	Copy of letter from Donald W. West, Chief Administrative Officer, Porcupine Health Unit to the Honourable Dr. Eric Hoskins, Minister of Health and Long-Term Health re Low-Income Dental Program for Adults and Seniors.



	
	9.12
	Copy of letter from Jesse Helmer, Chair, Middlesex-London Board of Health to Ontario Boards of Health re Support for Stop Marketing to Kids Coalition’s Ottawa Principles and Further Action on Sugary Drinks.






	
	9.13
	Copy of letter from Teresa Barresi, Perth District Health Unit Board Chair to The Honourable Dr. Jane Philpott, Minister of Health for Canada re Children’s Marketing Restrictions, Federal Healthy Eating Strategy & Support for Bill S-228 & Bill C313.



	
	9.14
	Copy of letter from Tyler Hesel, Chair, Huron County Board of Health to The Honourable Dr. Helena Jaczek, Minister of Community and Social Services and the Honourable Chris Ballard, Minister Responsible for the Poverty Reduction Strategy re support for Baric Income In Ontario.



	
	9.15
	Copy of letter from Dr. Marlene Spruyt, Medical Officer of Health, Algoma Public Health to The Honourable Kathleen Wynne, Premier of Ontario re requesting support for enactment of legislation under the HPPA to allow for the inspection and enforcement activities of personal service settings.



	
	9.16
	North Bay Parry Sound District Health Unit 2016 Annual Report.



	
	9.17
	Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder Awareness Day Proclamation and sample letter.


[bookmark: _GoBack]

	10.0
	
	
	Date and Time of Next Meetings:
Wednesday, May 17, 2017, Gravenhurst Office (Confirmed)
Monday, June 5, 2017, Board Retreat, Fern Resort, Orillia, 8:30 am to 12:00 noon
Wednesday, June 21, 2017, Barrie Office
Wednesday, September 20, 2017, Barrie Office

	11.0
	
	
	Adjournment
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Tel:  705 726 6331
Fax:  705 726 6333 
www.bdo.ca 


BDO Canada LLP
300 Lakeshore Drive, Suite 300 
Barrie, ON  L4N 0B4   Canada 
 


 


April 19, 2017 
 
Board of Directors 
Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit 
15 Sperling Drive 
Barrie, Ontario  
L4M 6K9 
 
Dear Members of the Board: 
 
We are pleased to present the results of our audit of the financial statements of Simcoe 
Muskoka District Health Unit (the “organization”) for the year ended December 31, 2016.  The 
purpose of our report is to summarize certain aspects of the audit that we believe to be of 
interest to the Board of Directors and should be read in conjunction with the draft financial 
statements. 
 
Our audit and therefore this report will not necessarily identify all matters that may be of 
interest to the Board of Directors in fulfilling its responsibilities. 
 
This report has been prepared solely for the use of the Board of Directors and should not be 
distributed without our prior consent.  Consequently, we accept no responsibility to a third 
party that uses this communication. 
 
We wish to express our appreciation for the co-operation we received during the audit from the 
organization’s management and staff that assisted us in carrying out our work.  We look 
forward to discussing the contents of this report and any other matters that you consider 
appropriate. 
 
Yours truly, 
 
 
 
 
 
Kerri Graham, CPA, CA   
Partner   
BDO Canada LLP    
Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
Audit Results Our audit of the financial statements was designed to obtain reasonable, 


rather than absolute, assurance as to whether the financial statements 
are free of material misstatement. 
 
There were no significant departures from our audit plan as described in 
our planning report presented to the Board of Directors on November 16, 
2016. 
 
A detailed description of our audit results has been included on page 6. 
 


Status of Audit As of the date of this final report, we have substantially completed our 
audit of the December 31, 2016 financial statements pending the 
completion of the items highlighted below.  These items will need to be 
completed prior to issuance of our audit report on the financial 
statements: 
 
• Receipt of the signed management representation letter 
• Subsequent events review through to financial statement approval 


date 
• Receipt of the legal letters from the organization’s legal counsel 
• Approval of financial statements by the Board of Directors 


 
Audit Risks In accordance with our audit plan, our procedures focused on the 


following areas that we identified as containing risks of material 
misstatements: 
 
• Revenue recognition 
• Risk of management override 
 
We have summarized the results of our audit procedures for each of these 
risk areas on page 7 of this report. 
 


Internal Control 
Over Financial 
Reporting 


We did not identify any deficiencies in internal controls over financial 
reporting during the year ended December 31, 2016 that we considered to 
be material weaknesses. 
 


Fraud and Illegal 
Activities 


We developed procedures within our audit plan as recommended by CAS 
240 – The Auditor’s Responsibilities Relating to Fraud in an Audit of 
Financial Statements.  Based on these procedures, we have not 
encountered any illegal activities or fraudulent events with respect to the 
organization. 
 


Significant 
Events 


As of the date of this letter, we have not identified any significant events 
which we believe should be brought to your attention. 
 







 


Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit 5 


 
 


 


 


Significant 
Accounting 
Policies 


The organization’s significant accounting policies are set forth in the 
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies included in the financial 
statements.  We believe management’s selection of accounting policies is 
appropriate under Canadian public sector accounting standards. 
 


Estimates Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements and 
are based on management’s current judgments.  These judgments are 
based on knowledge and experience about past and current events, 
assumptions about future events and interpretations of the financial 
reporting standards. 
 
Our comments on the significant estimates included in the financial 
statements are included on page 8 of this report. 
 


Audit 
Adjustments and 
Unadjusted 
Differences 


Our final materiality level remained unchanged from the original planning 
materiality of $760,000 as indicated in our audit planning report 
presented to the Board of Directors on November 16, 2016. 
 
Unadjusted misstatements for the year ended December 31, 2016 totaled 
$53,006.  A summary of these items is included in Appendix B. 
 


Disclosures There are no material omissions with respect to the disclosures in the 
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016 that we have 
noted. 
 


Independence We have developed appropriate safeguards and procedures to mitigate 
threats to our independence.  As required under Canadian Auditing 
Standards (CAS), we have reported all relationships and other relevant 
matters that, in our professional judgment, may reasonably be thought to 
bear on our independence.  We have confirmed our independence to the 
Board of Directors for the year ended December 31, 2016 in our letter 
included as Appendix C in this report. 
 


Representation 
Letter 


We will provide management a copy of the management representation 
letter which summarizes the representations we have requested from 
management. 
 


Conclusion We intend to issue an unmodified audit report on the financial statements 
of the organization for the year ended December 31, 2016 once the 
outstanding items referred to above are satisfactorily resolved and the 
financial statements are approved by the Board of Directors. 
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INDEPENDENCE 
 
At the core of the provision of external audit services is the concept of independence.  
Canadian auditing standards require us to communicate to the Board of Directors at least 
annually, all relationships between BDO Canada LLP and its related entities and the 
organization and its related entities, that, in our professional judgment, may reasonably be 
thought to bear on our independence with respect to the audit of the organization – Refer to 
Appendix C. 
 
 


MATERIALITY 
Misstatements, including omitted financial statement disclosures, are considered to be 
material if they, individually or in aggregate, could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.   
 
As communicated to you in our planning report to the Board of Directors, preliminary 
materiality was $760,000.  Final materiality remained unchanged from preliminary materiality. 
 
In Appendix B we have communicated all uncorrected misstatements identified during our audit 
to the Board of Directors, other than those which we determine to be “clearly trivial”. 
Misstatements are considered to be clearly trivial for purposes of the audit when they are 
inconsequential both individually and in aggregate.   
 
 


AUDIT FINDINGS 
 
Based on our knowledge of the organization’s business, our past experience, and knowledge 
gained from management and the Board of Directors, we have identified the following 
significant risks; those risks of material misstatement that, in our judgment, require special 
audit consideration. 
  
Significant risks arise mainly because of the complexity of the accounting rules, the extent of 
estimation and judgment involved in the valuation of these financial statement areas, and the 
existence of new accounting pronouncements that affect them.   
 
As part of our ongoing communications with you, we are required to have a discussion on our 
views about significant qualitative aspects of the organization’s accounting practices, including 
accounting policies, accounting estimates and financial statement disclosures. In order to have 
a frank and open discussion, these matters will also be discussed verbally with you. 
 
 


 


 


 







 


Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit 7 


 
 


 


 


ACCOUNTING AND AUDIT MATTERS 


Revenue Recognition 
 


Risk  Approach  Results 


There is a bias to overstate 
accounts payables/expenses 
at year end and thus an 
overstatement of grant 
revenue to avoid a surplus 
repayable to the Ministry of 
Health and Long-Term Care. 
 
 


 Our planned audit 
procedures test the 
purchases made around 
year end to ensure they 
are appropriately recorded 
in the current period and 
review subsequent 
payments to ensure that 
there are no additional 
expenses relating to 
December 31, 2016 that 
should be accrued in the 
current period. 


 


All audit testing in this area 
was executed as planned and 
no errors were noted. 
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Management Override of Controls 
 


Risk  Approach  Results 


Management is in a unique 
position to perpetrate fraud 
because of management’s 
ability to directly or 
indirectly manipulate 
accounting records prepare 
fraudulent financial 
statements by overriding 
controls that otherwise 
appear to be operating 
effectively. 


 
We tested the 
appropriateness of journal 
entries recorded in the 
general ledger and other 
adjustments made in the 
preparation of the financial 
statements. 
 


We also obtained an 
understanding of the 
business rationale for 
significant transactions 
that we became aware of 
that were outside the 
normal course of 
operations for the 
organization, or that 
otherwise appear to be 
unusual given our 
understanding of the 
organization and its 
environment.   


 


We reviewed accounting 
estimates for biases and 
evaluated whether the 
circumstances producing 
the bias, if any, 
represented a risk of 
material misstatement due 
to fraud. 


All audit testing in this area 
was executed as planned and 
no errors were noted. 


 
 
 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 
 
Management is responsible for determining the organization’s significant accounting policies. 
The choice between accounting policy alternatives can have a significant effect on the 
financial position and results of the organization. The application of those policies often 
involves significant estimates and judgments by management.  Based on the audit work that we 
have performed, it is our opinion that the estimates in the financial statements are reasonable 
and the disclosures relating to accounting estimates are in accordance with the requirements 
of Canadian public sector accounting standards. Significant estimates include: 
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Due (to) from the Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care – ($227,939) (2015 – $146,102) 
 
The amount due (to) from the Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care is management’s best 
estimate of this amount.  This amount is subject to change upon the Ministry’s final review of 
the Annual Reconciliation Report. 
 
Capital asset amortization - $531,119 (2015 - $543,381) 
 
Tangible capital assets are amortized based on their estimated useful lives, as described in the 
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.   
 
Post-Employment Benefits and Compensated Absences - $1,641,847 (2015 - $1,623,642) 
 
This liability includes sick leave that accumulates and does not vest and other post-
employment benefits. This liability is quantified by the organization’s actuary.  
 
 
UNADJUSTED DIFFERENCES 
 
We have disclosed all significant unadjusted differences and disclosure omissions identified 
through the course of our audit engagement.  Each of these items has been discussed with 
management. 


Management has determined that the unadjusted differences are immaterial both individually 
and in aggregate to the financial statements taken as a whole.  Should the Board of Directors 
agree with this assessment, we do not propose further adjustments. 


For purposes of our discussion, a summary of unadjusted differences and disclosure omissions 
has been presented in Appendix B. 
 
 
AUDIT ADJUSTMENTS 
 
Year-end audit adjustments were discussed with management and approved before the release 
of the draft financial statements.   
 
 
PLANNED AUDIT PROCEDURES 
 
Our overall audit strategy, including risks identified relating to the organization and our 
planned procedures to address those risks, were outlined in our planning report dated 
November 16, 2016.  There were no changes to our planned audit procedures, and there were 
no additional procedures added to our audit plan. 
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MANAGEMENT REPRESENTATIONS 
 
During the course of our audit, management made certain representations to us.  These 
representations were verbal or written and therefore explicit, or they were implied through 
the financial statements.  Management provided representations in response to specific queries 
from us, as well as unsolicited representations.  Such representations were part of the 
evidence gathered by us to be able to draw reasonable conclusions on which to base our audit 
opinion.  These representations were documented in our audit working papers through 
memoranda of discussions with management, as well as by written representations received 
from management.  We will provide you a copy of the management representation letter which 
summarizes the representations we have requested from management. 


 
FRAUD DISCUSSION 
 
Canadian auditing standards require us to discuss fraud risk with the Board of Directors on an 
annual basis.  We have prepared the following comments: 
  


 
Required Discussion 


 
 


BDO Response 
 Question to the 


Board of Directors 


Details of existing 
oversight processes 
with regards to fraud. 


 Based on prior years’ audits, the Board 
of Directors’ oversight processes 
include: 


• Discussions at meetings; and 
 


• Consideration of tone at the top. 


 Are there any new 
processes or changes 
in existing processes 
relating to fraud 
since the date of our 
previous discussions, 
that we should be 
aware of? 


Knowledge of actual, 
suspected or alleged 
fraud. 


 Currently, we are not aware of any 
actual, suspected or alleged fraud. 


 Are you aware of any 
instances of actual, 
suspected or alleged 
fraud affecting the 
organization? 


 
 
AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR DETECTING FRAUD 
 
We are responsible for planning and performing the audit to obtain reasonable assurance that 
the financial statements are free of material misstatements, whether caused by error or fraud.  
 
The likelihood of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than the 
likelihood of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from error, because fraud may 
involve collusion as well as sophisticated and carefully organized schedules designed to conceal 
it. 
 
During our audit, we performed the following procedures in order to fulfill our responsibilities: 
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• Inquire of management, the Board of Directors, and others related to any knowledge of 
fraud, suspected fraud or alleged fraud; 


• Perform analytical procedures and consider unusual or unexpected relationships indentified 
in the planning of our audit; 


• Incorporate an element of unpredictability in the selection of the nature, timing and 
extent of our audit procedures; and 


• Perform additional required procedures to address the risk of management’s override of 
controls including; 


o Testing internal controls designed to prevent and detect fraud; 
o Examine a sample of journal entries and other adjustments for evidence of the 


possibility of material misstatement due to fraud; 
o Review accounting estimates for biases that could result in material misstatements 


due to fraud, including a retrospective review of significant prior years’ estimates; 
and 


o Evaluate the business rationale for significant unusual transactions. 
 


 


INTERNAL CONTROL MATTERS 
During the course of our audit, we performed the following procedures with respect to the 
organization’s internal control environment: 


• Documented operating systems to assess the design and implementation of control 
activities that were relevant to the audit. 


• Discussed and considered potential audit risks. 


The results of these procedures were considered in determining the extent and nature of 
substantive audit testing required. 
 
We are required to report to you in writing, significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
have identified during the audit.  A significant deficiency is defined as a deficiency or 
combination of deficiencies in internal control that, in the auditor's professional judgment, is 
of sufficient importance to merit the attention of those charged with governance.  
 
As the purpose of the audit is for us to express an opinion on the organization’s financial 
statements, our audit cannot be expected to disclose all matters that may be of interest to you 
and, as a result, the matters reported may not be exclusive.  As part of our work, we 
considered internal control relevant to the preparation of the financial statements such that 
we were able to design appropriate audit procedures.  This work was not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control. 
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OTHER REQUIRED COMMUNICATIONS 
Professional standards require independent auditors to communicate with those charged with 
governance certain matters in relation to an audit.  In addition to the points communicated 
within this letter, the table below summarizes these additional required communications. 
 


Pay Equity Liability  Auditors’ Response 


Liability relating to the notification by the Ontario 
Nurses Association (ONA) to bargain maintenance of pay 
equity.  Management has recorded a liability in the 
audited financial statements as an estimate of this 
potential liability. 


 


 CPA Handbook PS 3200 - 
Liabilities, indicates that a 
liability should be recognized in 
the financial statements when 
there is an appropriate basis of 
measurement AND the amount 
can be reasonably estimated. 


Since this issue is in the early 
stages the amount cannot be 
reasonably estimated and 
therefore no amount is required 
to be accrued in the financial 
statements at December 31, 
2016. 


Pay equity liability note added 
to financial statements 
disclosing the occurrence of this 
event. 
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APPENDIX A – Other Communication
 
  
 
 
 
Required Communication 


Audit 
Planning 


Presentation 


Audit 
Results 


Presentation 
Auditor 


Comments 
1. Our responsibilities under 


Canadian Auditing Standards 
(CAS) 


       Included in our 
engagement 
letter dated 
October 31, 
2016.    


2. Our audit strategy and audit scope   Included on 
page 11 of our 
audit planning 
report which 
was presented 
to the Board of 
Directors on 
November 16, 
2016. 


3. Fraud risk factors   Included on 
page 15 of our 
audit planning 
report which 
was presented 
to the Board of 
Directors on 
November 16, 
2016. 


4. Going concern matters   None. 
5. Significant estimates or judgments   See page 8.
6. Audit adjustments   Reviewed with 


management. 
7. Unadjusted differences   See Appendix B.
8. Omitted disclosures   None. 
9. Disagreements with management   There were no


disagreements 
with 
management. 


10. Consultations with other 
accountants or experts 


  No external 
experts were 
consulted 
during this 
engagement. 


11. Major issues discussed with 
management in regards to 
retention 


  None. 
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12. Significant difficulties encountered 
during the audit 


  No significant 
difficulties were 
encountered 
during our 
audit. 


13. Significant deficiencies in internal 
control 


  No significant 
deficiencies 
were noted. 


14. Material written communication 
between BDO and management 


  No material 
written 
communications 
were noted. 


15. Any relationships which may affect 
our independence 


  No 
independence 
issues noted, 
see letter in 
Appendix C. 


16. Any illegal acts identified during 
the audit 


  No illegal 
activities 
identified 
through the 
audit process. 


17. Any fraud or possible fraudulent 
acts identified during the audit 


  No fraud 
identified 
through the 
audit process. 


18. Significant transactions with 
related parties not consistent with 
ordinary business operations 


  None noted.


19. Non-compliance with laws or 
regulations identified during  the 
audit 


  No legal or
regulatory non-
compliance 
matters were 
noted as part of 
our audit. 


20. Limitations of scope over our audit, 
if any 


  None. 


21. Written representations made by 
management 


  Letter to be 
sent. 


22. Any modifications to our opinion, if 
required 


  None. 
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APPENDIX B 
Unadjusted Differences 
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SUMMARY OF UNADJUSTED DIFFERENCES 
 
The following is a summary of uncorrected misstatements noted during the course of our audit engagement: 
 


 Increase (Decrease) 


Assets Liabilities Equity Net Income 


Overstated accrued liability $ - $ 582,203 $ (446,218) $ (135,985) 


Understated payable    (386,494)  227,477  159,017 


Overstated accrued liabilities    76,038    (76,038) 


Total  -  271,747  (218,741)  (53,006) 


Effect of Prior Year’s Reversing Errors  -  -  -  - 


Total Unadjusted Differences  $ - $ 271,747 $ (218,741) $ (53,006) 


 
  
 


 







` 
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April 19, 2017 
 
Board of Directors      
Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit 
15 Sperling Drive 
Barrie, Ontario  
L4M 6K9 
 
Dear Members of the Board: 
 
We have been engaged to audit the financial statements of Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit 
(the “organization”) for the year ended December 31, 2016. 
 


Canadian generally accepted auditing standards require that we communicate at least annually 
with you regarding all relationships between the organization and our Firm that, in our 
professional judgment, may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence. 
 
In determining which relationships to report, these standards require us to consider relevant rules 
and related interpretations prescribed by the appropriate provincial institute and applicable 
legislation, covering such matters as: 
 


• Holding a financial interest, either directly or indirectly in a client; 
• Holding a position, either directly or indirectly, that gives the right or responsibility to exert 


significant influence over the financial or accounting policies of a client; 
• Personal or business relationships of immediate family, close relatives, partners or retired 


partners, either directly or indirectly, with a client; 
• Economic dependence on a client; and 
• Provision of services in addition to the audit engagement. 


 
We have prepared the following comments to facilitate our discussion with you regarding 
independence matters arising since November 16, 2016, the date of our last letter. 
 
We are aware of the following relationships between the organization and our Firm that, in our 
professional judgment may reasonably be thought to have influenced our independence. The 
following relationships represent matters that have occurred from November 16, 2016 to April 19, 
2017. 
 
• We have provided assistance in the preparation of the financial statements, including 


adjusting journal entries. These services created a self-review threat to our independence 
since we subsequently expressed an opinion on whether the financial statements presented 
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of 
the organization in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







 


 


 


 


 


 
• We, therefore, required that the following safeguards be put in place related to the above: 


 
• Management created the source data for all the accounting entries. 
• Management developed any underlying assumptions required with respect to the 


accounting treatment and measurement of the entries. 
• Management reviewed and approved all journal entries prepared by us, as well as 


changes to financial statement presentation and disclosure. 
• Someone other than the preparer reviewed the proposed journal entries and financial 


statements. 
 
Threats to our Independence Safeguards in Place
 
A familiarity threat exists due to the long-term 
relationship between BDO Canada LLP and the 
organization. 


 
Any significant or contentious issues will be 
consulted on as part of the Firm’s consultation 
policy and procedures. 
 
Rotation of BDO staff on the audit engagement 
team. 
 
Board of Directors’ oversight of the audit 
process. 


 
 
We hereby confirm that we are independent with respect to the organization within the meaning 
of the Rules of Professional Conduct of the Chartered Professional Accountants of Ontario as of 
April 19, 2017. 
 
This letter is intended solely for the use of the Board of Directors, management and others within 
the organization and should not be used for any other purposes. 
 
Yours truly, 
 
 
 
 
Kerri Graham, CPA, CA   
Partner   
BDO Canada LLP    
Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 
 





				2017-04-11T16:02:55-0400

		Graham, Kerri





				2017-04-11T16:03:25-0400

		Graham, Kerri
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Management Report


Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 


The accompanying financial statements of the Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit are the responsibility
of the Health Unit's management and have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting standards.  A summary of significant accounting policies is attached to the financial
statements.


The preparation of financial statements necessarily involves the use of estimates based on management's
judgment, particularly when transactions affecting the current accounting period cannot be finalized
with certainty until future periods.


The Health Unit's management maintains a system of internal control designed to provide reasonable
assurance that assets are safeguarded, transactions are properly authorized and recorded in compliance
with legislative and regulatory requirements, and reliable financial information is available on a timely
basis for preparation of the financial statements.  These systems are monitored and evaluated by
management.


The Board of Directors meets with management and the external auditors to review the financial
statements and discuss any significant financial reporting or internal control matters prior to their
approval of the financial statements.


The financial statements have been audited by BDO Canada LLP, independent external auditors
appointed by the Board of Directors.  The accompanying Independent Auditor's Report outlines their
responsibilities, the scope of their examination and their opinion on the Health Unit's financial
statements.


                                                                                                              
Chair, Board of Directors Sandra Horney 


Director of Program Foundations and Finance
April 19, 2017
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Independent Auditor's Report


To the Chair and Members of the Board of Directors
Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit


We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit,
which comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2016, and the statement of
operations, statement of change in net financial assets (debt) and statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.  


Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements


Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.


Auditor's Responsibility


Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  We
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.


An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation  and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity's internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.


We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.


Opinion


In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
the Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit as at December 31, 2016 and the results of its operations and its
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards.


Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants


Barrie, Ontario
April 19, 2017
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Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit
 Statement of Financial Position


December 31 2016 2015


Financial Assets
Cash and short-term deposits (note 1) $ 6,030,093 $ 4,329,925
Accounts receivable (note 2) 668,184 636,353
Due from Province of Ontario - Other (note 3) 2,751 2,751
Due from Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care (note 12) - 146,102


6,701,028 5,115,131


Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 4) 3,756,208 3,204,557
Due to Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care (note 12)  227,939 -
Post-employment benefits and compensated absences (note 18) 1,641,847 1,623,642
Deferred revenue (note 6) 645,090 542,917


6,271,084 5,371,116


Net Financial Assets (Debt) 429,944 (255,985)


Non-Financial Assets
Tangible capital assets (note 5) 1,689,556 1,830,661
Prepaid expenses 370,959 335,415


2,060,515 2,166,076


Accumulated Surplus (note 7) $ 2,490,459 $ 1,910,091


Contingencies (note 12)


Commitments (note 14)


On behalf of the Board:


    Director


    Director


The accompanying summary of significant accounting policies and notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit
 Statement of Operations


For the year ended December 31 2016  Budget 2016 2015


(note 21)


Revenues
Operating grants


Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care
 - Mandatory Programs (note 15) $ 28,596,554 $ 26,424,861 $ 27,059,315


Ministry of Children and Youth Services 2,573,133 2,573,133 2,502,375
County of Simcoe (note 10) 4,396,126 5,059,539 5,541,375
City of Barrie 1,652,221 1,652,220 1,632,370
City of Orillia 373,218 373,218 371,104
District of Muskoka (note 10) 1,424,393 1,431,879 1,419,423
District of Parry Sound - 5,639 8,629


     


39,015,645 37,520,489 38,534,591
Interest earned 40,000 35,658 40,847
Other 363,126 357,158 464,325


39,418,771 37,913,305 39,039,763


Expenses (note 20)
Public Health Program 30,115,951 27,501,647 29,018,083
Healthy Babies, Healthy Children Program 2,573,133 2,573,133 2,485,275
Healthy Smiles Ontario Program 2,184,000 2,180,588 1,447,043
Smoke Free Ontario Programs 1,406,300 1,414,233 1,344,456
One Time 796,000 13,142 20,478
Ontario Dental Works Program - 826,568 1,427,963
Infectious Diseases Control Initiative 777,900 777,900 777,900
Small Drinking Water Systems 208,667 208,667 208,667
Children in Need of Dental Treatment Expansion Program - - 233,301
Enhanced Food Safety Haines Initiative Program 90,300 90,300 90,300
Medical Officers of Health Compensation 142,000 128,430 125,682
Other 2,500 8,733 73,704
Vector Borne Diseases Program 156,800 154,440 145,515
Public Health Nurses Initiative 180,500 180,500 180,500
Infection Prevention and Control Nurses Initiative 90,100 90,100 90,100
Healthy Communities Partnership - - 123,686
Enhanced Safe Water Initiative 40,200 40,200 40,200
Immunization of School Pupils Act 41,500 41,500 59,100
Anonymous HIV Testing Program 48,976 48,976 48,976
Needle Exchange Program Initiative 40,700 40,700 40,700
Public Health Ontario Secondment - - 20,277
Chief Nursing Officer Initiative 121,500 121,500 121,500
Panorama 134,900 155,300 210,681
Public Health Inspector Practicum Program 10,000 10,000 10,000
Pharmacists Integration into the UIIP Program 68,000 68,000 -
RNAO - - 16,341
Library Hub 131,126 133,465 123,916


39,361,053 36,808,022 38,484,344


Annual surplus before adjustments  57,718 1,105,283 555,419


Amortization expense 531,119 531,119 543,381
Change in accrued vacation pay - (24,409) (91,160)
Change in post-employment benefits and compensated


absences - 18,205 6,254
531,119 524,915 458,475


Annual surplus (deficit) for the year (473,401) 580,368 96,944
Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 1,910,091 1,910,091 1,813,147
Accumulated surplus, end of year (note 7) $ 1,436,690 $ 2,490,459 $ 1,910,091


The accompanying summary of significant accounting policies and notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit
 Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets (Debt)


For the year ended December 31 2016  Budget 2016 2015


(note 21)


Annual surplus (deficit) $ (473,401) $ 580,368 $ 96,944


Acquisition of tangible capital assets - (390,014) (350,693)
Amortization of tangible capital assets 531,119 531,119 543,381


531,119 141,105 192,688


Acquisition of prepaid expenses - (370,959) (335,415)
Use of prepaids - 335,415 308,625


- (35,544) (26,790)


Change in net financial assets 57,718 685,929 262,842


Net financial debt, beginning of year (255,985) (255,985) (518,827)


Net financial assets (debt), end of year $ (198,267) $ 429,944 $ (255,985)


The accompanying summary of significant accounting policies and notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit
 Statement of Cash Flows


December 31 2016 2015


Cash provided by (used in)


Operating transactions
Annual surplus $ 580,368 $ 96,944
Items not involving cash


Amortization 531,119 543,381


1,111,487 640,325


Changes in non-cash working capital balances 
Accounts receivable (31,831) 89,392
Amount due from Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care 374,041 77,458
Prepaid expenses (35,544) (26,791)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 551,651 58,554
Deferred revenue 102,173 (180,652)
Post-employment benefits and compensated absences 18,205 6,254


2,090,182 664,540


Capital transactions
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (390,014) (350,693)


Increase in cash and short-term deposits during the year 1,700,168 313,847


Cash and short-term deposits, beginning of year 4,329,925 4,016,078


Cash and short-term deposits, end of year $ 6,030,093 $ 4,329,925


Represented by:
Unrestricted cash $ 4,567,882 $ 2,882,355
Term deposits (note 1) 1,462,211 1,447,570


$ 6,030,093 $ 4,329,925


The accompanying summary of significant accounting policies and notes are an integral part of these financial statements


7


D


R


A


F


T


 


-


 


S


U


B


J


E


C


T


 


T


O


 


C


H


A


N


G


E







                                     Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies


For the year ended December 31, 2016


Management's 
 Responsibility for the
 Financial Statements The financial statements of the Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit are


the responsibility of management. They have been prepared in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards
established by the Public Sector Accounting Board of the Chartered
Professional Accountants of Canada.


Nature and Purpose
  of Organization The Health Unit is responsible for providing public health services to the


residents of Muskoka and the County of Simcoe as set out under the
provisions of the Health Protection and Promotion Act.  The Health Unit
is a non-profit organization and is a registered charity exempt from
income taxes under the Income Tax Act.


Basis of Accounting These financial statements have been prepared using Canadian public
sector accounting standards.


Revenue Recognition Provincial funding revenues are recognized in the year to which the
program relates.  Municipal revenues are recognized in the year they are
levied to member municipalities.  Other revenues are recognized when
services are provided and collection is reasonably assured. Investment
revenue is recognized in the period earned.


Deferred Revenue Funds received for specific purposes which are for future services are
accounted for as deferred revenue in the statement of financial position.
The revenue is recognized in the statement of operations in the year
which services are provided and grant conditions are met.


Tangible Capital Assets Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost, which includes all amounts
that are directly attributable to acquisition, construction, development
or betterment of the asset.  Contributed tangible capital assets are
recorded at their fair market value at the date of receipt.  The cost of
the tangible capital assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives as follows:


Equipment and furniture 5 to 20 years straight-line
Computer equipment 3 to 5 years straight-line
Leasehold improvements 5 to 20 years straight-line
Dental van 7 years straight-line
Vehicles 5 years straight-line


Assets under construction are not amortized until the asset is available
for productive use.
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                                     Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies


For the year ended December 31, 2016


Use of Estimates The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian
public sector accounting standards requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  The
principal estimates used in the preparation of these financial statements
are the estimated useful life of capital assets, the amounts due to and
from the Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care and the post-
employment and compensated absences liability.  Actual results could
differ from management's best estimates as additional information
becomes available in the future.


Retirement and Post-Employment
  Benefits and Compensated
  Absences The Health Unit provides defined retirement and post-employment


benefits and compensated absences to certain employee groups.  These
benefits include pension, health, dental and insurance and non-vesting
sick leave.  The Health Unit has adopted the following policies with
respect to accounting for these employee benefits:


(i)  The costs of post-employment future benefits are actuarially
determined using management's best estimate of health care costs,
expected salary escalation, retirement ages of employees and discount
rates.  Adjustments to these costs arising from changes in estimates and
experience gains and losses are amortized to income over the estimated
average remaining service life of the employee groups on a straight line
basis;


(ii)  The cost of the multi-employer defined benefit pension plan is the
Health Unit's contributions due to the plan in the period;


(iii)  The cost of non-vesting sick leave benefits are actuarially
determined using management's best estimate of salary escalation,
employees' use of entitlement and discount rates.  Adjustments to these
costs arising from changes in actuarial assumption and/or experience are
recognized over the estimated average remaining service life of the
employees;


(iv)  The discount rate used in the determination of the above mentioned
liabilities is equal to the Health Unit's hypothetical cost of borrowing.
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Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit
Notes to the Financial Statements


For the year ended December 31, 2016


1. Cash and Short-Term Deposits


The Health Unit's bank account is held at a chartered bank.  The bank account earns interest at a
variable rate dependent on the monthly minimum balance.


In addition, the Health Unit has an operating line of credit facility available in the amount of
$200,000.  Outstanding amounts bear interest at the bank's prime rate plus 0.25% and are secured
by a general security agreement.  There is no balance outstanding at December 31, 2016.


Cash and short-term deposits, consists of three guaranteed investment certificates with a total face
value of $1,462,211, interest at 1.00% and maturity dates ranging from March 29, 2017 to April 4,
2017 (2015 - $1,447,570, interest rates ranging from 0.96% to 1.00% and maturity dates ranging from
March 3, 2016 to June 27, 2016).


2. Accounts Receivable


2016 2015


HST recoverable $ 477,653 $ 480,797
County of Simcoe 130,856 101,052
Other 59,675 54,504


$ 668,184 $ 636,353


3. Due from Province of Ontario - Other


2016 2015


Provincial share of sick leave benefits to be recovered when
certain non-union employees terminate employment with
the Health Unit $ 2,751 $ 2,751


4. Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities


2016 2015


Trade and other $ 694,686 $ 593,076
Salaries and benefits 2,530,961 2,056,511
Accrued vacation pay liability 530,561 554,970


$ 3,756,208 $ 3,204,557
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Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit
Notes to the Financial Statements


For the year ended December 31, 2016


5. Tangible Capital Assets


2016


Equipment and Computer Leasehold
Furniture Equipment Improvements Dental Van Vehicles Total


Cost, beginning of year $ 424,834 $ 1,205,117 $ 2,503,483 $ 483,915 $ 58,416 $ 4,675,765
Additions - 169,150 164,993 - 55,871 390,014


Cost, end of year 424,834 1,374,267 2,668,476 483,915 114,287 5,065,779


Accumulated amortization,
beginning of year 257,034 984,005 1,252,492 345,653 5,920 2,845,104


Amortization 28,208 166,832 255,265 69,131 11,683 531,119


Accumulated amortization, end of year 285,242 1,150,837 1,507,757 414,784 17,603 3,376,223


Net carrying amount, end of year $ 139,592 $ 223,430 $ 1,160,719 $ 69,131 $ 96,684 $ 1,689,556
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Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit
Notes to the Financial Statements


For the year ended December 31, 2016


5. Tangible Capital Assets (continued)


2015


Equipment and Computer Leasehold
Furniture Equipment Improvements Dental Van Vehicles Total


Cost, beginning of year $ 391,820 $1,026,937 $2,392,798 $ 483,915 $ 29,602 $4,325,072
Additions 33,014 178,180 110,685 - 28,814 350,693


Cost, end of year 424,834 1,205,117 2,503,483 483,915 58,416 4,675,765


Accumulated amortization, beginning of year 216,517 803,539 1,005,144 276,523 - 2,301,723
Amortization 40,517 180,466 247,348 69,130 5,920 543,381


Accumulated amortization, end of year 257,034 984,005 1,252,492 345,653 5,920 2,845,104


Net carrying amount, end of year $ 167,800 $ 221,112 $1,250,991 $ 138,262 $ 52,496 $1,830,661


12


D


R


A


F


T


 


-


 


S


U


B


J


E


C


T


 


T


O


 


C


H


A


N


G


E







Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit
Notes to the Financial Statements


For the year ended December 31, 2016


6. Deferred Revenue


The Health Unit operates a number of programs in which funding is received for the period April 1
to March 31.  Therefore any funding received for these programs where the expenses have not been
incurred at December 31, 2016, is recorded as deferred revenue.


In addition, the Health Unit has received fiscal 2017 municipal operating grants which have also
been included in deferred revenue.


7. Accumulated Surplus


2016  2015


Surplus (note 8) $ 678,456 $ 98,784
Internally restricted reserves (note 9) 1,812,003 1,811,307


$ 2,490,459 $ 1,910,091


8.    Surplus 


2016 2015


Balance, beginning of year $ 98,784 $ 436,737
Annual surplus 580,368 96,944
Transfer from (to) Sick Leave Reserve (696) 1,840
Transfer to Contingency Reserve (note 9) - (436,737)


Balance, end of year $ 678,456 $ 98,784


The allocation of the surplus balance at the end of the year is as follows:
2016 2015


County of Simcoe $ 373,960 $ 54,134
City of Barrie 145,820 21,372
City of Orillia 32,970 4,859
District of Muskoka 125,706 18,419


$ 678,456 $ 98,784
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Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit
Notes to the Financial Statements


For the year ended December 31, 2016


9. Internally Restricted Reserve Funds


Sick Leave Reserve Fund


A reserve fund is maintained to cover the municipal share of sick leave benefits as described in note
17. 


2016 2015


Balance, beginning of the year $ 46,604 $ 48,444
Transfer from (to) surplus 696 (1,840)


Balance, end of the year $ 47,300 $ 46,604


Contingency Reserve


The purpose of the contingency reserve is to cover unforeseen public health emergencies including,
but not limited to, communicable disease outbreaks and localized or mass immunization
requirements as determined by the Board of Health.  The total value of the contingency reserve
fund at the end of any one year is to be no more than five percent of the Health Unit's annual
approved public health budget. 


During 2015, the Board of the Health approved the transfer of the accumulated municipal surplus
balance as at December 31, 2014 of $436,737 to the contingency reserve fund.


2016 2015


Balance, beginning of the year $ 1,019,609 $ 582,872
Transfer from surplus - 436,737


Balance, end of the year $ 1,019,609 $ 1,019,609


Capital Fund Reserve


The purpose of the capital reserve fund is to cover expenses related to the five year infrastructure
plan. 


2016 2015


Balance, beginning and end of the year $ 745,094 $ 745,094


Total Internally Restricted Reserve Funds $ 1,812,003 $ 1,811,307
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Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit
Notes to the Financial Statements


For the year ended December 31, 2016


10. Operating Grants


County of Simcoe
2016 2015


Cost Shared Program
Public Health Program $ 4,246,128 $ 4,134,768


100% Funded Programs
Ontario Works Dental Program - Administration Fee 161,369 200,254
Ontario Works Dental Program - Dental Claims 652,042 1,206,353


813,411 1,406,607


$ 5,059,539 $ 5,541,375


District of Muskoka
2016 2015


Cost Shared Program
Public Health Program $ 1,424,388 $ 1,406,820


100% Funded Programs
Ontario Works Dental Program - Administration Fee 7,491 12,603


$ 1,431,879 $ 1,419,423
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Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit
Notes to the Financial Statements


For the year ended December 31, 2016


11. Segmented Reporting


The Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada Accounting Handbook Section PS 2700, Segment
Disclosures, establishes standards on defining and disclosing segments in a government's financial
statements.  Government organizations that apply these standards are encouraged to provide
disclosures established by this section when their operations are diverse enough to warrant such
disclosures.  The Health Unit has only one identifiable segment, considered to be public health, as
presented in these financial statements.


12. Contingencies


The Health Unit receives annual funding from the Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care and the
amount of funding provided is subject to final review and approval by the Ministry.  As at the date
of these financial statements, funding for the year ended December 31, 2016 has not been subject
to this review process. Any future adjustments required as a result of this review will be accounted
for at the time the adjustments are determined.     


13. Pay Equity


The Health Unit has been notified that the Ontario Nurses Association (ONA) has served notice to
bargain maintenance of pay equity.  The ultimate resolution, including the amount of award, if any,
is undeterminable at this time.


14. Commitments


(a) Office space


The Health Unit leases office space at its main office in Barrie and for its branch offices in
Collingwood, Barrie, Midland, Cookstown, Huntsville, Gravenhurst and Orillia.  These operating
leases have varying expiry dates ranging from 2017 to the year 2027.


The minimum annual lease payments required over the next five years are as follows:


2017 - $ 897,879 2020 - $ 771,882
2018 - $ 891,128 2021 - $ 566,549
2019 - $ 829,629


(b) Office equipment and vehicles


The Health Unit rents office equipment and leases vehicles under long-term operating leases
which extend to the year 2020.  The minimum annual payments over the next four years under
the terms of these leases are as follows:


 2017 - $ 39,283  2020 - $ 12,420
 2018 - $ 37,251
 2019 - $ 14,904
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Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit
Notes to the Financial Statements


For the year ended December 31, 2016


15. Operating Grants - Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care
2016 2015


Cost Shared Programs
Public Health Program $20,701,000 $ 21,796,400
Vector Borne Diseases Program (formerly West Nile Virus) 129,325 121,376
Universal Influenza Immunization Program 1,355 3,055
Meningococcal Program 46,691 35,573
HPV Program 70,839 48,314
Children in Need of Treatment Expansion Program - 203,871
Small Drinking Water Systems 156,500 156,500
One Time 12,453 94,337


21,118,163 22,459,426


100% Funded Programs
Healthy Smiles Ontario Program 2,097,606 1,202,904
Smoke Free Ontario Programs


-Enforcement and Protection                                              518,900 518,900
-Youth Tobacco Use Prevention 80,000 80,000
-Tobacco Control Area Network Prevention 300,800 300,800
-Tobacco Control Area Network Coordination 285,800 285,800
-Tobacco Control Coordination 100,000 100,000
-Prosecution 4,876 4,978
-Electronic Cigarettes Act 108,800 36,085
-Expanded Smoking Cessation Programming 11,457 7,165
-One Time Enforcement Tablet Upgrade 3,600 -
-One Time SFO: Not to Kids Coalition - 10,570


Infectious Diseases Control Initiative 777,900 777,900
Enhanced Food Safety Haines Initiative Program 90,300 90,300
Medical Officers of Health Compensation 128,430 125,682
Other miscellaneous programs 1,453 133,362
Public Health Nurses Initiative 180,500 180,500
Infection Prevention and Control Nurses Initiative Program 90,100 90,100
Healthy Communities Partnership - 123,686
Enhanced Safe Water Initiative 40,200 40,200
Anonymous HIV Testing Program 48,976 48,976
Needle Exchange Program Initiative 40,700 40,700
Immunization of School Pupils Act 41,500 59,100
Chief Nursing Officer Initiative 121,500 121,500
Panorama 155,300 210,681
Pharmacists Integration into the UIIP 68,000 -
Public Health Inspector Practicum Program 10,000 10,000


5,306,698 4,599,889


$26,424,861 $ 27,059,315
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Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit
Notes to the Financial Statements


For the year ended December 31, 2016


16. Pension Agreement


The Health Unit makes contributions to the Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement Fund
("OMERS"), which is a multi-employer pension plan, on behalf of full-time members of staff.  The
plan is a defined benefit plan, which specifies the amount of the retirement benefit to be received
by the employees based on the length of service and rates of pay. The Board of Trustees,
representing plan members and employers, is responsible for overseeing the management of the
pension plan, including investment of the assets and administration of the benefits. The Health Unit
has adopted defined contribution plan accounting principles for this plan because insufficient
information is available to apply defined benefit plan accounting principles. OMERS provides pension
services to more than 470,000 active and retired members and approximately 1,000 employers. 


Each year an independent actuary determines the funding status of OMERS Primary Pension Plan
(the Plan) by comparing the actuarial value of invested assets to the estimated present value of all
pension benefits that members have earned to date. The most recent actuarial valuation of the Plan
was conducted at December 31, 2016. The results of this valuation disclosed total actuarial
liabilities of $87,554 million (2015 - $82,369 million) in respect of benefits accrued for service with
actuarial assets at that date of $81,834 million (2015 - $75,392 million) indicating an actuarial
deficit of $5,720 million (2015 - $6,977 million). Because OMERS is a multi-employer plan, any
pension plan surpluses or deficits are a joint responsibility of Ontario municipal organizations and
their employees. As a result, the Health Unit does not recognize any share of the OMERS pension
surplus or deficit.  


The amount contributed to OMERS for 2016 was $2,382,352 (2015 - $2,360,163) and is included as an
expense in the statement of operations.


17. Liability for Vested Sick Leave Benefits


(a) Union employees


In 1988, the sick leave benefit plan covered by a union agreement was amended, removing the
employees' entitlement to a cash payment for unused sick leave credits upon termination of
employment.  The amount accumulated up to the date of this amendment will be paid to those
employees upon termination of employment with the Health Unit.


As at December 31, 2016, this unpaid balance amounted to $1,246 (2015 - $1,222) and no provision
has been made for this liability in these financial statements. Payments made under this plan during
the year amounted to $NIL (2015 - $NIL).


(b) Non-union employees


In 1981, the Health Unit discontinued its sick leave benefit plan under which non-union employees
were entitled to a cash payment for unused sick leave credits upon termination of employment.
Upon discontinuation of the plan, these employees were entitled to 50% of their unused sick leave
credit, one-half of which was paid in 1981.  The balance is due when the employee terminates
employment with the Health Unit.
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Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit
Notes to the Financial Statements


For the year ended December 31, 2016


17. Liability for Vested Sick Leave Benefits (continued)


As at December 31, 2016, this unpaid balance amounted to $11,781 (2015 - $11,942) and no
provision has been made for this liability in these financial statements.  Payments made under this
plan during the year amounted to $NIL (2015 - $12,133).


No provision has been made in these financial statements to cover these unpaid balances.  The
provincial share of the unpaid balances are recoverable only after the actual disbursement of funds.
A reserve fund has been established to provide for the municipal share of these unpaid balances and
is reported on the statement of financial position (see note 9).  


Anticipated payments over the next year approximate $9,000.


18. Post-Employment Benefits and Compensated Absences Liability


The following tables outline the components of the Health Unit's post-employment benefits and
compensated absences liabilities and related expenses.


Post-employment) Non-vesting Total     Total
Benefits Sick Leave 2016 2015


Accrued benefit liability,
   beginning of year $ 806,639 $ 817,003 $ 1,623,642 $ 1,617,388
Expense for the year (below) 107,400 212,460 319,860 222,321
Actuarial loss 237,348 283,741 521,089 566,663
Benefits paid (110,044) (191,611) (301,655) (216,067)


Accrued benefit obligation, 
   end of year 1,041,343 1,121,593 2,162,936 2,190,305
Unamortized actuarial loss (237,348) (283,741) (521,089) (566,663)


Accrued benefit liability, 
   end of year $ 803,995 $ 837,852 $ 1,641,847 $ 1,623,642


Post-employment) Non-vesting Total     Total
Benefits Sick Leave 2016 2015


Current year benefit cost $ 41,299 $ 137,195 $ 178,494 $ 154,883
Interest on accrued benefit obligation 46,322 49,470 95,792 67,438
Amortized actuarial losses 19,779 25,795 45,574 -


Total expense $ 107,400 $ 212,460 $ 319,860 $ 222,321
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Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit
Notes to the Financial Statements


For the year ended December 31, 2016


18. Post-Employment Benefits and Compensated Absences Liability (continued)


Post-Employment Benefits


The Health Units offers post-employment life insurance, health and dental benefits to eligible
employee groups subsequent to their retirement.  The Health Unit contributes 50% towards the
premiums for these benefits.  The Health Unit recognizes these benefits as they are earned during
the employees' tenure of service.  The related benefit liability was determined by an actuarial
valuation completed as at December 31, 2015.  The actuarial loss of $257,127 will be amortized
over 13 years beginning in fiscal 2016, which is the estimated average remaining service life.


Non-Vesting Sick Leave


The Health Unit allocates to certain employee groups a specified number of days each year for use
as paid absences in the event of illness or injury.  These days do not vest and are available
immediately.  Employees are permitted to accumulate their unused allocation each year, up to the
allowable maximum provided in their employment agreements.  Accumulated days may be used in
future years to the extent that the employees' illness or injury exceeds the current year's allocation
of days.  Sick days are paid out at the salary in effect at the time of usage.  The related benefit
liability was determined by an actuarial valuation completed as at December 31, 2015.  The
actuarial loss of $309,536 will be amortized over 12 years beginning in fiscal 2016, which is the
estimated average remaining service life.


The assumptions used in the valuation of post-employment benefits and compensated absences are
the Health Unit's best estimates of expected rates of:


2016 2015


Future cost of long term debt 4.50% 4.50%
Future inflation rates 2.00% 2.00%
Salaries escalation 3.00% 3.00%
Dental costs escalation 4.00% 4.00%


19. Economic Dependence


Substantially all of the Health Unit's revenue is received from the Ministry of Health and Long-Term
Care and municipalities in its district.  The continuation of the Health Unit is dependent on this
funding.
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Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit
Notes to the Financial Statements


For the year ended December 31, 2016


20. Expenses by Object
2016 2015


Salaries, wages $24,612,386 $ 24,628,141
Employee benefits 7,114,643 6,746,715
Occupancy 1,632,237 1,619,791
Medical and dental services 669,613 2,310,295
Information technology 541,797 600,328
Amortization 531,119 543,382
Program materials and supplies 513,897 458,048
Travel 477,318 569,501
Purchased services 272,556 389,033
Professional fees 232,616 191,317
Telecommunications 217,966 267,559
Postage and courier 136,769 116,424
Professional development 129,760 145,743
Office supplies 76,394 123,698
Advertising 43,128 62,462
Insurance 42,327 41,333
Equipment and maintenance 40,706 71,892
Board 28,779 36,645
Payroll and bank charges 18,926 20,512


$37,332,937 $ 38,942,819


21. Budget


The budget adopted by the Health Unit was not prepared on a basis consistent with that used to
report actual results (Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards).  The budget was prepared on a
modified accrual basis while Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards require a full accrual
basis.  The budget expensed all tangible capital expenditures rather than including amortization
expense.  As a result, the budget figures presented in the statement of operations and change in net
financial debt represent the budget adopted by the Health Unit with adjustments as follows:


Budgeted surplus for the year, as approved $ 57,718
Add budgeted capital expenditures -
Less amortization (531,119)


Budgeted deficit per statement of operations $ (473,401)
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Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit
Schedule 1


Public Health Cost Shared Mandatory Program


Budget Actual Actual
For the year ended December 31 2016 2016 2015


Salaries, wages and benefits


Salaries $19,736,681 $18,690,816 $ 19,459,718
Benefits 5,714,937 5,415,156 5,235,876


Total salaries, wages and benefits 25,451,618 24,105,972 24,695,594


Occupancy 1,580,379 1,574,321 1,589,009


Operating
Advertising 91,000 42,665 52,377
Equipment and maintenance 64,500 40,706 66,515
Information technology 616,000 468,508 557,122
Medical and dental services 750,736 - 641,050
Office supplies 159,818 54,458 86,290
Postage and courier 135,000 136,769 116,423
Professional development 147,400 110,288 117,974
Program materials and supplies 174,000 173,380 160,959
Telecommunications 300,000 211,762 266,232
Travel 409,500 266,382 387,448


2,847,954 1,504,918 2,452,390


Administration
Board 30,000 28,779 36,645
Insurance 40,000 42,327 41,333
Payroll and bank charges 17,000 18,925 20,512
Professional services 149,000 226,405 182,600


236,000 316,436 281,090


Total mandatory program expenses $30,115,951 $27,501,647 $ 29,018,083
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Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit
Schedule 2


Other Public Health Programs


For the year ended December 31 2016 2015


Healthy Babies, Healthy Children Program
Salaries, wages and benefits


Program staff and support staff $ 1,913,880 $ 1,832,652
Benefits 554,958 531,614


Total salaries, wages and benefits 2,468,838 2,364,266
Computer leasing 10,400 10,400
Equipment 4,534 8,623
Professional development 5,498 6,697
Professional services 1,336 8,716
Program materials and supplies 7,400 5,567
Travel 75,127 81,006


$ 2,573,133 $ 2,485,275


Enhanced Safe Water Initiative
Salaries $ 31,163 $ 31,174
Benefits 9,037 9,026


$ 40,200 $ 40,200
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Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit
Schedule 2


Other Public Health Programs


For the year ended December 31 2016 2015


Healthy Communities Partnership
Purchases services $ - $ 92,442
Program materials and supplies - 19,497
Travel - 11,747


$ - $ 123,686


Vector Borne Diseases Program (formerly West Nile Virus)
Salaries, wages and benefits


Program staff and support staff $ 64,020 $ 58,673
Benefits 14,087 12,999


Total salaries, wages and benefits 78,107 71,672
Equipment and furnishings - 1,243
Professional development 225 478
Program materials and supplies 4,691 2,687
Purchased services 11,050 22,030
Travel 6,384 7,405


100,457 105,515


Payments to municipalities for expenses incurred 53,983 40,000


$ 154,440 $ 145,515


Enhanced Food Safety Haines Initiative Program
Salaries $ 70,000 $ 70,000
Benefits 20,300 20,300


$ 90,300 $ 90,300
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Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit
Schedule 2


Other Public Health Programs


For the year ended December 31 2016 2015


Public Health Nurses Initiative
Salaries $ 139,922 $ 139,922
Benefits 40,578 40,578


$ 180,500 $ 180,500


Needle Exchange Program Initiative
Program materials and supplies $ 40,700 $ 40,700


Small Drinking Water Systems
Salaries $ 154,062 $ 153,966
Benefits 44,678 44,650
Purchased services 604 604
Travel 9,323 9,447


$ 208,667 $ 208,667


Infectious Diseases Control Initiative
Salaries $ 570,056 $ 569,916
Benefits 165,316 165,276
Equipment - 3,200
Professional development 699 75
Program materials and supplies 30,529 31,087
Purchased services 2,314 2,804
Travel 8,986 5,542


$ 777,900 $ 777,900


Children in Need of Dental Treatment Expansion Program
Dental services $ - $ 233,301


Ontario Dental Works Program
Salaries $ 132,785 $ 168,863
Benefits 39,969 50,264
Dental fees 652,042 1,206,476
Other 1,772 2,360


$ 826,568 $ 1,427,963
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Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit
Schedule 2


Other Public Health Programs


For the year ended December 31 2016 2015


Anonymous HIV Testing Program
Salaries, wages and benefits $ 48,976 $ 48,976


Medical Officers of Health Compensation
Salaries, wages and benefits $ 128,430 $ 125,682


Healthy Smiles Ontario Program
Salaries, wages and benefits


Salaries $ 1,429,683 $ 878,542
Benefits 412,318 252,598


Total salaries, wages and benefits 1,842,001 1,131,140
Purchased services 42,744 184,332
Equipment 43,066 4,641
Professional development 4,600 5,899
Program materials and supplies 110,175 62,299
Occupancy 57,917 30,782
Telephone 6,074 1,083
Travel 74,011 26,867


$ 2,180,588 $ 1,447,043


Infection Prevention and Control Nurses Initiative Program
Salaries $ 69,842 $ 69,845
Benefits 20,258 20,255


$ 90,100 90,100


One Time
Equipment $ 13,142 $ 20,478


Registered Nurses Association of Ontario Provincial Coordinator (RNAO)
Salaries and wages $ - $ 12,817
Benefits - 3,324
Program materials and supplies - 200


$ - $ 16,341
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Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit
Schedule 2


Other Public Health Programs


For the year ended December 31 2016 2015


Immunization of School Pupils Act
Salaries and wages $ 31,462 $ 12,225
Benefits 4,097 3,545
Program materials and supplies 5,478 33,246
Purchased services 463 10,084


$ 41,500 $ 59,100


Chief Nursing Officer Initiative
Salaries and wages $ 94,186 $ 94,186
Benefits 27,314 27,314


$ 121,500 $ 121,500


Library Hub
Salaries and wages $ 81,180 $ 73,267
Benefits 23,542 21,247
Professional development 938 -
Program materials and supplies 27,153 28,908
Travel 652 494


$ 133,465 $ 123,916


Panorama
Salaries and wages $ 120,388 $ 168,597
Benefits 34,912 42,084


$ 155,300 $ 210,681


Public Health Inspector Practicum Program
Salaries, wages and benefits $ 10,000 $ 10,000


Public Health Ontario Secondment
Salaries, wages and benefits $ - $ 20,277


Pharmacists Integration into the UIIP Program
Salaries and wages $ 51,163 $ -
Benefits 14,837 -
Travel 2,000 -


$ 68,000 $ -
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Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit
Schedule 2


Other Public Health Programs


For the year ended December 31 2016 2015


Smoke Free Ontario


Enforcement and Protection
Salaries $ 372,286 $ 377,202
Benefits 107,494 109,394
Program materials and supplies 1,678 1,021
Professional development 2,569 -
Purchased services 6,858 5,084
Travel 28,015 26,199


$ 518,900 $ 518,900


Tobacco Control Area Network Coordination
Salaries $ 221,187 $ 221,550
Benefits 64,613 64,250


$ 285,800 $ 285,800


Tobacco Control Coordination
Salaries $ 77,519 $ 77,519
Benefits 22,481 22,481


$ 100,000 $ 100,000


Youth Tobacco Use Prevention Program
Salaries $ 57,941 $ 55,966
Benefits 16,803 15,676
Program materials and supplies 2,496 1,541
Purchased services 2,081 3,525
Professional development - 891
Travel 679 2,401


$ 80,000 $ 80,000
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Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit
Schedule 2


Other Public Health Programs


For the year ended December 31 2016 2015


Smoke Free Ontario  (continued)


Tobacco Control Area Network Prevention
Salaries $ 51,412 $ 28,112
Benefits 10,607 4,494
Program materials and supplies 119,326 33,426
Professional development 4,944 13,789
Purchased services 109,888 210,393
Travel 4,623 10,586


$ 300,800 $ 300,800


One Time SFO: Not To Kids Coalition
Purchased Services $ - $ 10,728


Prosecution
Prosecution $ 4,876 $ 4,978


Electronic Cigarettes Act
Salaries and wages $ 58,208 $ 27,670
Benefits 16,880 8,024
Services 32,577 31
Travel 1,135 360


$ 108,800 $ 36,085


Expanded Smoking Cessation Programming for Priority Populations
Program materials and supplies $ 11,457 $ 7,165


Enforcement Tablet Upgrade


Program materials and supplies $ 3,600 $ -
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Item 6.2 Briefing Note


BRIEFING NOTE 
 


Page: 1 


Item #6.2 
Development of 2019-2021 Strategic Plan 


 
 
Update: #2 Date: April 19, 2017 
 
Issue 
 
Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit (SMDHU) will commence the development of a 
new Strategic Plan that will move the organization forward from 2019 – 2021.  
Engagement in a deliberate, evidence-informed strategic planning process will enable 
SMDHU to set priorities, focus energy and resources, and strengthen operations while 
ensuring employees and other stakeholders are working toward common goals.  
Strategic planning processes offer the opportunity for an organization to assess and 
adjust the organization's direction in response to changing environments. 
 
Recommendations 
 
THAT the Board of Health extend the SMDHU 2016-2017 Strategic Plan to December 
2018; 
 
AND FURTHER THAT the Board of Health engage in a strategic planning process that 
will result in the development of the SMDHU 2019-2021 Strategic Plan;  
 
AND FURTHER THAT, the Board of Health select a representative for the Strategic 
Planning Committee.  
 
Current Facts 
 
Although it was previously suggested that a new Strategic Plan would be developed by 
November 2017, a longer strategic planning process is recommended which would end 
September 2018.  The elongated process will allow the organization time to more fully 
assess the impact of the changing environment which will inform fundamental decisions 
and actions that shape and guide the organization including who it serves, what it does, 
and why it does it, with a focus on the future. Multiple large changes are expected in 
public health over the next year including completion of the consultation process and 
implementation of the Standards for Public Health Programs and Services. 
Simultaneously the 2011 Ontario Public Health Organizational Standards along with the 
Accountability Agreements are undergoing modernization with expected implementation 
January 2018. Slowing the strategic planning process enables SMDHU to avoid directly 
impacting or colliding with other large public health change initiatives as illustrated in 
Appendix A.  Effective strategic planning articulates not only where an organization is 
going and the actions needed to make progress, but also how it will know if it is 
successful met the expected outcomes. 
 
A two-year transitional SMDHU Strategic Plan was approved by the Board of Health 
December 16, 2015 which covered the years of 2016 - 2017. The Transitional 2016-17 
Strategic Plan included no changes to the SMDHU vision, mission, values and strategic 
directions which were established 2012.  
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Executive Committee has endorsed the Terms of Reference for the 2019-2021 Strategic 
Planning Committee (Appendix B).  The timeline for development of the new Strategic 
Plan is listed in Appendix C. 
 
June 5th (9:00 – 12:00) has been set for a Board of Health Retreat in which part of the 
half day will be utilized to garner input from BOH members for a new SMDHU Mission, 
Vision and Values. 
 
The Ontario Public Health Organizational Standards (2011) establishes the governance 
requirements for all public health units. Section 3.2 states that boards of health shall 
have a strategic plan and ensures the plan addresses local context and priorities and 
covers a three to five year timeframe.   
 
Background 
 
The first strategic plan of SMDHU (as a merged organization) was established 2007-
2010.  A revised Strategic Plan including updated mission, vision and values was 
established 2012-2016. 
 
Contact 
 
Karen Ellis-Scharfenberg, Chief Nursing Officer Ext. 7820 
Charles Gardner, Medical Officer of Health and CEO Ext. 7219 
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Multiple Changes in Public Health
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SIMCOE MUSKOKA DISTRICT  
HEALTH UNIT 


 
TERMS OF REFERENCE – Strategic Planning Committee 


 
Purpose 
The Strategic Planning Committee will develop a Strategic Plan that when approved by 
the Board of Health will guide health unit activities for 2019 through to 2021. The 
strategic plan will capture and address the organizational mission, vision, values and 
expected organizational outcomes.  The Strategic Plan will be a good fit between the 
health unit, its environment and requirements within the Standards for Public Health 
Programs and Services. The Strategic Plan will capitalize on the strengths and 
opportunities presented to SMDHU while addressing the weaknesses and threats. The 
plan will be actionable and reasonable.  


 


Objectives 


1. To inform the development of the 2019-2021 Strategic Plan by providing and 
facilitating the collection of relevant data from stakeholders (staff and external).  


2. To establish Strategic Directions for the SMDHU covering 2019- 2021.   


3. To define specific, measurable, attainable, realistic, time limited outcomes that align 
with the Strategic Directions and that reflect the current political, economic and 
social environment that also take into consideration, provincial and municipal 
expectations and standards.   


 


Composition  
Chair and Executive Lead; Karen Ellis-Scharfenberg – Chief Nursing Officer 
1 Board Member - TBD 
5 managers (5 departments) – TBD 
Evaluation Specialist 
Recorder – Marlene Klanert - Administrative Assistant  
Ad hoc – Strategic Plan Consultant 
 
Term of Service  
April 2017 – December 2018 


 
Role of Members 
It is anticipated that one day per month of work, variable over time, will be required of 
the committee members. 


• Participates in all committee discussions and in the work of the committee.  
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• Brings forward thoughts or suggestions regarding staff and community 
engagement in the strategic planning process. 


• Participates in activities designed to gather input from stakeholders into the 
strategic planning process. 


• Communicates the completed plan to staff, the public and partners. 


 
Role of Chair 
Responsibilities of the Chair which include: 


• conducts the meetings.  


• ensures appropriate access to committee files for committee members and the 
creation of communication channels to enable effective committee functionality.  


• defines a record steward for the committee materials and ensures meeting 
materials including minutes, briefing notes, reports, presentations etc. are 
maintained.  


 
Role of Secretary 
Responsibilities of the Recorder include: 


• prepares and maintains meeting schedules & books rooms accordingly  


• documents minutes of meetings  


• manages the records of the committee   


 
Reporting To  
Executive committee through the Executive Lead. 
 
Minutes Distribution 
Draft minutes and attachments are distributed electronically to the membership, as soon 
as possible after each meeting. 
 
Approved minutes and attachments are posted on the intranet. 
 
Records Management 
The Chair is the steward of the records. 
Records will be retained electronically for a minimum of 2 years. 
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Date Committee Formed  
May 1, 2017 


 
Review of Terms of Reference  
Not required – Committee will be sunset upon completion of task December 2018.  
 
Authorization: Executive Committee Date: April 11, 2017 
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Appendix C 
 
Draft timeline for development of the new SMDHU 2019-2021 Strategic Plan: 
 
April - May 2017 
• Establish a Strategic Planning Committee and completion of a thorough 


environmental scan. 
 
June 5, 2017 
• Board of Health Retreat; focus on development of new SMDHU Mission, 


Vision and Values. 
 
June - August 2017 
• Engagement of staff and key stakeholders in the development of new 


SMDHU Mission, Vision and Values. 
 
July - October 2017  
• Engagement of staff and many stakeholders in the development of SMDHU 


Strategic Plan Outcomes.   
• October 11 & 12, Staff Education Days as opportunity for staff engagement in 


Strategic Plan development.  
 
November 2017 – January 2018 
• Collation of data from BOH, staff and stakeholders re: SMDHU Mission, 


Vision, Values and Strategic Directions.   
 
February – May 2018  
• Revisions of SMDHU Mission, Vision, Values and Strategic Directions based 


on frequent consultations with stakeholders. 
 
June 2018 
• First review of new SMDHU Strategic Plan by Board of Health. 
 
September 2018 
• Final approval of new SMDHU Strategic Plan by Board of Health.  
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BRIEFING NOTE 
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Item #6.3 


Environmental Surveillance for Lyme Disease 
 


Update: #1 Date: April 19, 2017 
 
 


Issue 
 
Incidence of Lyme disease is increasing in Ontario. In order to better understand local risk for 
Lyme disease, an active tick surveillance program will be implemented for 2017.    


Recommendation 
 
THAT the Board receive this briefing note for information. 


Current Facts 
 
Lyme disease is a reportable vector-borne disease spread by blacklegged ticks (Ixodes 
scapularis) infected with the bacteria, Borrelia burgdorferi.  To understand and assess the 
potential risk of Lyme disease, Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit (SMDHU) completes 
human surveillance through case investigations and environmental surveillance through passive 
tick surveillance.  
 
In Ontario, there has been an increase in reported cases of Lyme disease in recent years.  In 
Simcoe Muskoka, there have been between zero and six Lyme cases every year since 2000.  
Approximately, one-fifth (19%) of all identified exposure locations for these cases were within 
Simcoe Muskoka.  To assist in identifying whether blacklegged ticks (BLT) are becoming 
established in an area, ticks are submitted by the health unit and health care providers on behalf 
of the public, for identification and, if the tick is a BLT, for bacterial testing.   In 2015 and 2016, 
approximately 140 ticks were submitted annually to the health unit which represents a 
substantial annual increase in submissions over previous years.  Of these ticks, about one-fifth 
were locally acquired BLTs and five have tested positive for Borellia burgdorferi.  
 
Active tick surveillance consists of collecting ticks from their natural habitat by tick dragging.  
The objective of active tick surveillance is to track the expansion of BLTs and the prevalence of 
Borellia burgdorferi.  The human and environmental surveillance data is assessed to determine 
if there are areas where active tick surveillance is warranted.  Tick dragging occurs at one 
sampling event in the spring and again in the fall when adult BLTs are most active and easiest 
to detect.  Public Health Ontario (PHO) has developed a standard operating procedures to 
support health units in the field collection of BLTs.   
 
Based on the results of the active surveillance and assessment by PHO, locations within 
Simcoe Muskoka may be identified as being a risk area for Lyme disease.  This information will 
assist physicians in exposure assessment and diagnosis and be important for public education.  







BRIEFING NOTE 


Page: 2 


 
Contact with provincial parks have indicated a strong interest in partnering with the health unit 
for active surveillance.  The health units is also awaiting response from another local partner 
where positive BLTs have been identified. 
 
Background 
 
The Infectious Diseases Society of America (IDSA) produces guidelines that describe the 
symptoms, diagnosis and testing of Lyme disease.  An infected tick must feed on a human for 
24-36 hours before the bacteria can be transmitted.  The first sign of infection is often a ‘bulls-
eye” rash.  Initial symptoms are generally flu-like consisting of fatigue, fever, chills, headache, 
muscle and joint pain and swollen lymph nodes.  If left untreated, symptoms may progress to 
multiple skin rashes, heart palpitations, arthritic symptoms, extreme fatigue and nervous system 
disorders.  The third stage of the disease can last for months or years with recurring 
neurological problems and arthritis.  
 
Lyme disease is effectively treated with antibiotics, with a better outcome when treated early. 
However early diagnosis is challenging, given that laboratory testing is only accurate at later 
stages in the infection. Given the potential for long term impacts on health, Lyme disease is an 
issue of public, media and political concern.  
 
Based on tick submissions and results, passive data indicates locations of interest within 
Simcoe Muskoka.  According to PHO’s decision tree, the next step would be the initiation of 
active tick surveillance.   
 
Active tick surveillance itself requires limited human resources.  However, the planning, 
communication and collaboration related to conducting the surveillance is critical.  A 
communication plan and partnerships have been developed to support tick dragging and 
surveillance activities.  
 
Lyme disease has received a significant amount of federal and provincial attention. Federally, 
there has been a ‘Best Brain’ science exchange related to Lyme disease and a ‘Federal 
Framework on Lyme Disease’ (S.C. 2014 c.37) has been developed.  At the provincial level, the 
MOHLTC has released a report called ‘Combatting Lyme Disease through Collaborative Action’ 
which describes a 10 step education and awareness plan.  PHO has provided systematic 
reviews on human surveillance and BLT surveillance. 
 
Lyme disease cases are forecasted to continue to increase.  As a human health risk associated 
with climate change, the increased expansion of ticks is expected as annual degree days over 
0C increases.  Ticks are expected to spread along climate-determined geographic trajectories at 
a rate of 35-55 km per year.  
 
The health unit is committed to increasing awareness about Lyme disease.  This is completed 
through providing information on the health care professional’s portal, social media, media 
interviews, case investigations, tick submission follow-ups and health connection responses.  In 
addition, the health unit provides public outreach through presentations to a wide variety of 
audiences including: hospital grand rounds, cottager associations, hunters and anglers clubs, 
business associations and outdoor recreation enthusiasts. 
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Contacts 
 
Steven Rebellato, Director, Environmental Health Department Ext. 7487 
Marina Whelan, Manager, Health Hazards & Vector-borne Disease Ext. 7345  
Charles Gardner, Medical Officer of Health Ext. 7219 
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Item #7.1 
Healthy Babies Healthy Children  


2017 Budget Approval 
 


Update: #1 Date: April 19, 2017 


Issue 
 
The Board of Health has received confirmation that the Healthy Babies Healthy Children budget 
for 2017 is approved at $2,519,133.  A prerequisite to receiving the grant is acceptance of the 
Healthy Babies Healthy Children 2017 Request for Funding Schedule by the Board of Health. In 
addition, the One Time Grants application totaling $99,085 is being submitted. 


Recommendations 
 
THAT the Board of Health receive the 2017 Healthy Babies Healthy Children (HBHC) Budget 
Approval briefing note for information and authorize the Board of Health Chair to sign the HBHC 
2017 Request for Funding Schedule (Appendix A); and 
 
AND FURTHER THAT the Board of Health support the appended advocacy letter (Appendix B). 


Current Facts 
 
HBHC is an innovative and effective health promotion, early intervention home visiting program 
for prenatal and postpartum woman, infants, children and their families in Ontario. The vision of 
the program is to ensure opportunities to achieve the potential for health for women and their 
families in the prenatal period, and families with children from birth until their transition to school 
identified with risk. With this vision, every child and parent identified with risk in Ontario is to 
have access to evidence-informed programs and services that support healthy child 
development and effective parenting.  
 
Intervention is provided by Public Health Nurses and supported by Family Home Visitors on the 
following topics: optimal prenatal/parental health, optimal growth and development, 
breastfeeding, positive mental health, attachment, nutrition, relationships, parenting, 
addiction/dependency management, education/employment, self- care, settlement/cultural 
adaptation, financial stability, housing stability, life skills, food security.  
 
On March 10, 2017 a letter from the Ministry of Children and Youth Services (Appendix C) 
advised the health unit of a 0% funding change from 2016 funding levels. The Board of Health 
has received annual presentations which have highlighted the implications of the funding 
challenges and has advocated at a provincial level for increased resources regarding the 
chronic funding challenges for this critical program for prenatal women, vulnerable infants, 
young children and their families. 
 
In November 2013, the Board of Health received a report from management outlining key 
principles that continue to be considered in managing the HBHC program including: 


• Applying the remaining resources to achieve the greatest health benefit for infants at 
greatest risk 


• Seeking program efficiencies 
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• Managing staff with sensitivity 
• Communicating with key stakeholders 
• Advocating with province and stakeholders 
 


Given modifications required to service delivery, the fundamentals of the with-risk HBHC 
program released April 2012 are being eroded. The HBHC program cannot be delivered as it is 
intended to be delivered to families in challenging, high risk situations, and the fidelity of the 
program is being lost. This fact was clearly communicated to the Ministry of Children and Youth 
Services by the Board of Health in March 2016.  
 
In keeping with past practice, it is recommended that the Board include the advocacy letter in 
Appendix B when submitting the Funding Schedule, providing rationale regarding the health 
unit’s inability to fulfill ideal service delivery within the provincial funds provided, and 
summarizing the principles used to prioritize HBHC programming.  


Background 
 
• The HBHC program has experienced funding challenges over the past decade: 


o 2005: $2,244,890.  One Time Grant of; $36,368. 
o 2006: $2,345,800. (2.7% increase).  One Time $87,400. 
o 2007: $2,400,800. (2.5% increase). One Time Grant of $391,054. 
o 2008: $2,419,133. (0.8% increase) 
o 2009: $2,419,133. (0.0% increase) 
o 2010: $2,419,133. (0.0% increase) 
o 2011: $2,419,133. (0.0% increase) 
o 2012: $2,419,133. (0.0% increase). One Time Grant of $32,800. 
o 2013: $2,419,133. (0.0% increase). One Time Grant $100,000. 
o 2014: $2,419,133. (0.0% increase). One Time Grant $100,000; & $24,408. 
o 2015: $2,519,133.  This allocation included the base funding under the 9,000 Nurses 


Commitment of $100,000 for hospital screening liaison requirements. One Time 
Grants of $10,600 & $6500. 


o 2016: $2,519,133. (0.0% increase).  One Time Grants of $34,000. 
• The HBHC program was announced in 1997 as a province-wide, 100% provincially funded 


program within the Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care. Responsibility for HBHC was 
then transferred to the Ministry of Children and Youth Services. 


• In April, 2004 Simcoe County District Health Unit merged with the District of Muskoka.  
• In January 2011, HBHC program changes were introduced and in 2012 the revised HBHC   


Protocol and Guidance Documents were released. 
• On April 8, 2013, the modified HBHC Program was officially launched in Simcoe Muskoka 


District Health Unit. 
• The target population for the modified HBHC Program provided through the health unit are 


prenatal women and infants, children and families who are in at risk environments, rather 
than a universal approach. 


Contacts 
 
Carolyn Shoreman, Director Community and Family Health                         Ext. 7361 
Sandra Horney, Director Program Foundations and Finance Ext. 7256 
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Healthy Babies Healthy Children 


Early Child Development Branch 


Strategic Policy and Planning Division 


Ministry of Children and Youth Services 


2017 Request for Funding Schedule 


January 1, 2017 - December 31, 2017 


Public Health Unit: Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit 


Salaries & Wages: Staff 


Employee Benefits 


Employee Benefits as% of S&W Staff 


Contracted Services 


Operating Costs 


TOTAL REQUEST FROM MCYS 


Adjustments 


One-Time Grant Request 


GRAND TOTAL 


Previous Year 


Approved FTE 


25.4 


05 


25.9 


Previous Year Previous Year Previous Year 


Approved Budget Actual FTE Actual Costs 


1,864,054 


540.576 


114,503 


2,519,133 25.5 2,519,133 


54,000 05 54,000 


2,573,133 26.0 2,573,133 


Current Year Current Year 
Current Year 


Request FTE Request 
Approved Request 


Ministry Use 


1,864.186 


540,614 


290% 


114,333 


25.0 2,519,133 


0.9 99.085 


259 2,618.218 


Authorized by Chair Board of Health, CEO or Medical Officer of Health 


Signature: 


Name: 


Date: 


C:\Users\mktanert\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\S2KWLBUR\20170419_Copy of 20170327 SMDHU 2-2017 Request for Funding Schedule (incl 1 x 
funding) 4111/2017 
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Sent by Email at:  mcoteau.mpp@liberal.ola.org 
 
April 19, 2017 


 
Honourable Michael Coteau 
Minister of Children and Youth Services 
56 Wellesley Street West, 14th Floor 
Toronto, ON M5S 2S3 
 
Dear Minister Coteau: 
 
As a follow-up to receiving the Healthy Babies Healthy Children Program (HBHC) Grant letter dated 
March 10, 2017, I am writing on behalf of Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit’s (SMDHU) Board of 
Health to express our serious and ongoing concerns regarding the impact that inadequate funding 
has on the provision of service delivery to vulnerable families in Simcoe County and the District of 
Muskoka. 


 
SMDHU HBHC has consistently worked to enhance community partnerships and increase referrals 
and services despite the challenges of a large urban/rural geographical area of 8731 square 
kilometers. This concentrated effort has led to improved communication with partners and 
increased demand for services. Despite these efforts, our ability to provide service as described in 
the Protocol and the Guidance Document has been compromised by a base budget that has not 
kept pace with increased salaries, benefits and operating expenditures.     


 
Negligible increases to base budget allocations over the last ten years has resulted in continuous 
and significant impact on SMDHU’s HBHC Program, including terminations and permanent 
reductions in Public Health Nurse, Lay Home Visitor and administrative support positions. 
Community partners, clients and employees have all struggled with these difficult and sensitive 
transitions in particular when health units are supporting families struggling with issues regarding 
the determinants of health. The 2017 Grant continues to be insufficient to meet the current staff 
complement, therefore, requiring strategies to be considered to manage this shortfall including 
further position reductions.   


 
Inadequate funding has resulted in additional onerous and ongoing impacts to client service 
including the following:  difficulty responding in a timely manner to requests for service, reduced 
services to children and families, waitlists of six to 16 weeks for families in high risk situations (i.e.  
mental health and infant mental health concerns, intimate partner violence, isolation, 
financial/food shortages, parenting concerns/stressors, physical health challenges, young single 
parents in poverty),  increased staff workload to unsustainable levels, inadequate 
spending on resources, supplies and staff development and ongoing impact on the morale of  
  



mailto:mcoteau.mpp@liberal.ola.org
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employees as they fear the instability in the HBHC program. Strategies have been developed in 
order to mitigate these impacts including but not limited to: applying resources to achieve the 
greatest health benefit for infants at greatest risk, seeking program efficiencies, employing best 
practices in Human Resources regarding changes in staff resources, and communicating with key 
stakeholders. 


 
It is acknowledged that the additional $100,000 for a public health nurse position in 2014 through 
the 9,000 Nurse Commitment that was received required a further increase in the nursing 
complement instead of addressing current funding shortfalls. These ongoing funding shortfalls 
continue to undermine the capacity of the HBHC program to meet the goals of the program and 
deliver services adequately.  
 
As you are aware, HBHC Programs across the Province participated in a “Sustainability Review” in 
the fall of 2016.  Information pertaining to this review has not yet been communicated to health 
units, administration and HBHC program staff who are anxiously waiting for results.  
 
Healthy Babies Healthy Children is an innovative and effective health promotion, early intervention 
program for prenatal and postpartum woman, infants, children and their families in Ontario. 
Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit is proud to provide such an important service to enhance the 
healthy growth, development and infant mental health of all children at risk for developmental 
challenges and parenting support. Waitlists and delays in providing critical and timely assessment 
and intervention to women, children and families struggling with perinatal mood disorders and 
mental illness, children with developmental challenges and parenting issues as well as other critical 
risk factors should not occur with our youngest and most vulnerable citizens of Ontario.  
 
With this in mind, the Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit’s Board of Health urges the Ministry of 
Children and Youth Services to critically review and revise the funding allocation to adequately 
reflect the actual costs associated with delivering the Healthy Babies Healthy Children program. It is 
hoped that you will provide sufficient funds that will facilitate achievement of the goals and 
objectives outlined by the Ministry of Children in Youth Services for the Healthy Babies Healthy 
Children Program. 
 
Thank you for your consideration of this matter.   
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Scott Warnock 
Chair, Board of Health 
 
SW:CS:CM 


 
c Ms. Stacey Weber, A/Director, Early Child Development Branch Chief Public Health Officer 


of Canada 






image12.emf
Item 7.1 Appendix C


Item 7.1 Appendix C


Item 7.1 Appendix C






image13.emf
Item 7.2 Briefing  Note


Item 7.2 Briefing Note


BRIEFING NOTE 


Page: 1 


Item #7.2 
Addressing Opioid Use in Simcoe and Muskoka 


Update: #1 Date: April 19, 2017 
 
 


Issue 
 
Overdoses and deaths associated with opioid use, misuse, and addictions are on the rise 
across Ontario. Opioids - both prescription and illicit - are having a significant impact on 
individuals and families across Simcoe Muskoka.  Addressing the morbidity and mortality 
associated with opioid use, misuse, and addictions is an important public health priority. 


Recommendations 
 
THAT the Board of Health endorse the Sudbury District Health Unit’s motion on Opioid Use 
(Appendix A) and similarly write a letter to the Ontario Minister of Health and Long-Term Care 
and the Chief Medical Officer of Health, congratulating them on the provincial opioid strategy 
and requesting the further development and communication of the strategy;  
 
AND FURTHER THAT the Board of Health write a letter to urge the federal Minister of Health to 
similarly communicate and promptly implement Health Canada’s Opioid Action Plan;  
 
AND FURTHER THAT these letters be copied to the Association of Local Public Health 
Agencies, all Ontario Boards of Health, the North Simcoe Muskoka Local Health Integration 
Network (LHIN), the Central LHIN, local Members of Parliament, Members of Provincial 
Parliament, and the Simcoe Muskoka Alcohol and Other Drug Strategy. 
 
Current Facts 
 
In 2014, over 700 people died in Ontario from opioid-related causes, a 266% increase since 
2002.1  From 2013 to 2015, there were an average of 30 opioid deaths per year in Simcoe 
Muskoka, with 35 deaths occurring in 2015.2   


There were also nearly 1,000 emergency visits among residents of Simcoe Muskoka for opioid 
poisonings between 2011 and 2015. The age-standardized rate for opioid poisoning emergency 
visits in Simcoe Muskoka for all ages and sexes in 2015 was 43.4 (37.8, 48.9) per 100,000 
population, which was significantly higher than the Ontario rate of 28.5 (27.6, 29.3) per 100,000 
population. In fact, there was a significant upward trend in the opioid poisoning emergency visit 
rates in both Simcoe Muskoka and Ontario over the 13-year period from 2003 to 2015. The 
opioid poisoning emergency visit rates in Simcoe Muskoka have been significantly higher than 
the provincial rates since 2004. 12 


Over the past two decades there has been growing concern about opioid prescribing, 
particularly to treat chronic non-cancer pain. Studies conducted in Ontario and elsewhere have 
demonstrated that rates of opioid prescribing have been on the rise for much of that period.4   
Opioid prescribing rates in Simcoe County and Muskoka among Ontario Drug Benefit 
beneficiaries have increased at a faster pace than the province overall, particularly among those 
15-64 years – more than doubling in Muskoka.3 



https://news.ontario.ca/mohltc/en/2016/10/ontario-taking-action-to-prevent-opioid-abuse.html

http://www.healthycanadians.gc.ca/healthy-living-vie-saine/substance-abuse-toxicomanie/misuse-plan-abus-index-eng.php?_ga=1.76887314.627553208.1490881471

http://www.simcoemuskokahealthstats.org/Resources/Glossary.aspx#CI

http://www.simcoemuskokahealthstats.org/Resources/Glossary.aspx#CI
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The rising prevalence of use, misuse and addiction related both to prescription and illicit opioids 
has led to accidental opioid overdoses, resulting in hospitalizations for toxicity, and sometimes 
deaths. Most fatal overdose cases in Ontario had received an opioid prescription within the 
previous three weeks, and many, if not most, Canadian family physicians have opioid-
dependent patients in their practice.4 5 6  
 
The Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit (SMDHU) is mandated under the Ontario Public 
Health Standards (2008) to address the prevention of adverse health outcomes associated with 
substance use. Staff within the Injury and Substance Misuse Prevention Program (ISMP) work 
strategically with a variety of community partners across Simcoe Muskoka on issues related to 
opioid use on an ongoing, collaborative basis by integrating surveillance along with the pillars of 
a comprehensive drug strategy: prevention, harm reduction, treatment and enforcement. Some 
of the activities that ISMP staff have been involved with to date include: implementation of the 
fentanyl patch for patch initiative, promoting medicine cabinet clean out and coordination of drug 
strategy groups across our region. In addition, Sexual Health and ISMP staff have provided 
training and naloxone to over 100 people who use opiates or to their friends and family since 
2015. 
 
SMDHU along with the North Simcoe Muskoka LHIN, the Central LHIN and the Simcoe 
Muskoka Alcohol and Other Drug Strategy working group are jointly embarking on initiating a 
Simcoe Muskoka Opioid Strategy. An inaugural meeting of key stakeholders is being held on 
May 25, 2017.  


Background 
 
Canada is now the leading per capita user of prescription opioids in the world, and rates of 
addiction and overdose are correspondingly high.5  On April 15th 2016, due to the alarming rate 
of overdoses in British Columbia, a public health emergency was declared by Health Minister 
Terry Lake and Chief Public Health Officer Perry Kendal.9   


Ontario is one of the highest provinces in opioid prescribing and has experienced 13 years of 
increasing and record-setting opioid overdose fatalities, which now rank as the third leading 
cause of accidental death, and more than double the number of people killed in motor vehicle 
collisions. More than 5000 Ontarians have died of an opioid overdose since 2000, the vast 
majority unintentionally.10    
 
In response to the significant harms associated with both prescription and illicit opioid use, the 
Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care released a set of recommendations on October 24, 
2016 under Ontario's Strategy to Prevent Opioid Addiction and Overdose which includes:1 7 
• Designating Dr. David Williams, Ontario's Chief Medical Officer of Health, as 


Ontario's Provincial Overdose Coordinator to launch a new surveillance and 
reporting system,  


• Developing evidence-based standards for health care providers on appropriate 
opioid prescribing, which will be released by end of 2017-18 to help prevent over-
prescribing of opioids, 


• Delisting high-strength formulations of long-acting opioids from the Ontario Drug 
Benefit Formulary, which took place January 1, 2017 to help prevent addiction and 
support appropriate prescribing, 


• Investing $17 million annually in Ontario's Chronic Pain Network to create or 
enhance 17 chronic pain clinics across the province,  
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• Expanding access to naloxone overdose medication by providing it free of charge for 
patients and their families through pharmacies and eligible organizations, to prevent 
overdose deaths, and 


• Increasing access to Suboxone addiction treatment and integration of care for those 
using this treatment. 
 


Timely implementation of the above recommendations will provide much needed coordination 
and support and have a significant impact on mitigating harms associated with opioid use in 
Simcoe Muskoka. 
 
Contacts 
 
Claudia Swoboda-Green, Public Health Nurse Eext. 7706 
Janice Greco, Program Manager, Injury and Substance Misuse Prevention Ext. 7288  
Carolyn Shoreman, Director, Community and Family Health Department Ext. 7361 
Lisa Simon, Associate Medical Officer of Health Ext. 7244 
 
Reference List 
 
1. https://news.ontario.ca/mohltc/en/2016/10/ontario-taking-action-to-prevent-opioid-


abuse.html 
 


2. Office of the Chief Coroner for Ontario. Jan.17, 2017 
 


3. Ontario Drug Policy Research Network, Toronto, Ont. 2016 web.31 Aug.2016. 
 


4. https://www.camh.ca/en/hospital/about_camh/influencing_public_policy/Documents/CAMHo
pioidpolicyframework.pdf 
 


5. Primary care management of opioid use disorders: Anita Srivastava MD CCFP MSc Meldon 
Kahan MD CCFP FRCPC Maya Nader MD CCFP63: MARCH • March2017 | Canadian 
Family Physician 
 


6. http://nationalpaincentre.mcmaster.ca/opioid/ 
 


7. A STRATEGY TO PREVENT OPIOID ADDICTION AND OVERDOSE IN ONTARIO; 
MOHLTC 2017 ppt. slide deck. 
 


8. http://www.cpha.ca/uploads/policy/opioid-statement_e.pdf 
 


9. http://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/health/about-bc-s-health-care-system/office-of-the-
provincial-health-officer/overdose-response-progress-update-sept2016.pdf 
 


10. http://www.drugstrategy.ca/uploads/5/3/6/2/53627897/prescription_for_life_june_1_2015.pdf 
 


11. http://odprn.ca/rates-of-opioid-use-and-related-adverse-events-in-ontario-by-county/ 
 


12. Ambulatory Visits & Population Estimates (2003-2015).  Ontario Ministry of Health and 
Long-term Car, IntelliHEALTH, Ontario, Date Extracted: (Jan13, 2017.  ICD-10codes(Any 
Dx):T400-T404;T406:  Age standardized using the 20011 Canadian Standard Population.  



https://news.ontario.ca/mohltc/en/2016/10/ontario-taking-action-to-prevent-opioid-abuse.html

https://news.ontario.ca/mohltc/en/2016/10/ontario-taking-action-to-prevent-opioid-abuse.html

https://www.camh.ca/en/hospital/about_camh/influencing_public_policy/Documents/CAMHopioidpolicyframework.pdf

https://www.camh.ca/en/hospital/about_camh/influencing_public_policy/Documents/CAMHopioidpolicyframework.pdf

http://nationalpaincentre.mcmaster.ca/opioid/

http://www.cpha.ca/uploads/policy/opioid-statement_e.pdf

http://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/health/about-bc-s-health-care-system/office-of-the-provincial-health-officer/overdose-response-progress-update-sept2016.pdf

http://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/health/about-bc-s-health-care-system/office-of-the-provincial-health-officer/overdose-response-progress-update-sept2016.pdf

http://www.drugstrategy.ca/uploads/5/3/6/2/53627897/prescription_for_life_june_1_2015.pdf

http://odprn.ca/rates-of-opioid-use-and-related-adverse-events-in-ontario-by-county/
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February 28, 2017 


VIA ELECTRONIC MAIL 


The Honourable Eric Hoskins 


Minister – Minister’s Office  


Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care 


Hepburn Block, 10th Floor  


80 Grosvenor St  


Toronto, ON  M7A 2C4  


Dear Minister Hoskins: 


Re: Opioid Use in Sudbury & District 


At its meeting on February 16, 2017, the Sudbury & District Board of Health 


carried the following resolution #12-17: 


WHEREAS the Sudbury & District Board of Health is alarmed by the 


rise in opioid-related harms as evidenced by a tripling of the number 


of opioid prescriptions in Canada over the past decade and the 


growing number of opioid-related poisonings presenting to Ontario 


emergency departments; and 


WHEREAS within Greater Sudbury indicators of harmful opioid use 


exceed those for the province, including the rates of opioid users, 


opioid maintenance therapy use, high strength opioid use, opioid-


related emergency department visits, hospital visits and hospital 


deaths; and 


WHEREAS federal and provincial governments have signed a Joint 


Statement of Action committed to addressing the burden of opioid-


related harms in Canada and, recently, Ontario announced a 


provincial opioid strategy that includes modernizing opioid 


prescribing and monitoring, improving the treatment of pain and 


enhancing addiction supports and harm reduction; and 


WHEREAS the Community Drug Strategy for the City of Greater 


Sudbury, of which the Sudbury & District Health Unit is a leading 


member, supports Ontario’s opioid strategy and is committed to 


implementing the strategy within the local context; 


Item 7.2 Appendix A







Letter 


Re: Opioid Use in Sudbury & District 


February 28, 2017 


Page 2 
 


 


THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED the Sudbury & District Board of Health congratulate 


the Ontario Minister of Health and Long-Term Care and the Chief Medical Officer of 


Health, as the province’s first Provincial Overdose Coordinator, and request that the 


new provincial plan be further developed with targets, deliverables and timelines that 


are supported by regular communication to stakeholders and partners such as boards 


of health; and 


 


FURTHER THAT the Sudbury & District Board of Health urge the federal Minister of 


Health to similarly communicate and promptly implement the federal opioid strategy. 


 


Work is underway to address opioid use and opioid-related harms in Sudbury and District. 


This includes addressing gaps in naloxone supply and distribution, developing an early alerting 


network to increase awareness and response to opioid use and overdose, and developing a local 


opioid action plan. However, this is an issue that goes beyond the local context and requires a 


coordinated, comprehensive and timely provincial and federal response.  


 


Members of the Sudbury & District Board of Health commend the Minister on working with the 


federal government in calling for national and provincial opioid action plans to respond to the 


burgeoning issue of opioid use and opioid-related harms. The Board strongly urges that the 


province promptly implements its plan and encourages the same of the federal government. We 


look to your continued strong leadership to protect and promote the health of Ontarians. 


 


Sincerely, 
 


 
 


Penny Sutcliffe, MD, MHSc, FRCPC 


Medical Officer of Health and Chief Executive Officer 


 


cc: The Honourable Jane Philpott, Minister of Health, Health Canada 


 The Honourable Kathleen Wynne, Premier of Ontario 


Ms. Roselle Martino, Assistant Deputy Minister, Population and Public Health Division 


 Dr. David Williams, Chief Medical Officer of Health 


 Mr. Marc Serré, MP, Nickel Belt 


 Mr. Paul Lefebvre, MP, Sudbury 


 Ms. Carol Hughes, MP, Algoma-Manitoulin-Kapuskasing 


 Mr. Glenn Thibeault, MPP, Sudbury 


 Ms. France Gélinas, MPP, Nickel Belt 


 Mr. Michael Mantha, MPP, Algoma-Manitoulin 


 Ms. Linda Stewart, Executive Director, Association of Local Public Health Agencies 


 Ontario Boards of Health 
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April 12, 2017 
 
 
 
 
Dear Board Member: 
 
Re: Invitation to the Grand Opening of our new Gravenhurst Dental Clinic 
 
Please find attached an invitation to attend the grand opening of the new Simcoe Muskoka District 
Health Unit dental clinic, located in our office at 2-5 Pineridge Gate, Gravenhurst, on Wednesday 
May 17 at 12 noon. The grand opening will include tours of the new clinic and our Healthy Smiles 
Ontario mobile dental bus. 
 
For the last five years, the health unit has been offering full service dental care to clients on publicly 
funded programs in the District of Muskoka and in Simcoe County through our mobile dental bus. 
While the mobile clinic has been an asset in reaching out to rural communities, we have faced 
significant challenges with respect to inclement weather and the limitations of its size. The new 
clinic in Gravenhurst will help ensure the delivery of consistent service. We are thrilled that our 
dental program is now able to increase the number of clients served in Muskoka and northern 
Simcoe County at this new on-site clinic in addition to our mobile clinic.  
 
We look forward to seeing you on May 17. Please feel free to forward this invitation to any of your 
colleagues who may be interested in joining us.  
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
ORIGINAL SIGNED BY 
 
Scott Warnock, 
Chair, Board of Health 
Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit 
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Dental Clinic Ribbon Cutting Invitation


Grand OpeningJoin us in celebrating 
the grand opening of 
our new Gravenhurst 


Dental Clinic


Date:     Wednesday May 17th, 2017


Time:     12:00 – 1:00 p.m.


Where: 2-5 Pineridge Gate, Gravenhurst


Tours of the new dental clinic as well as 


the mobile dental bus will be available; 


light refreshments will be served.
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Item #9.1 


 Municipal Roles in Healthy Food Environments, 
Sustainable Food Systems and Household Food 


Insecurity 
 
 
Update: 1 Date: April 19, 2017 
 
 
Issue 
 
The Chronic Disease Prevention–Healthy Lifestyle Program (CDP-HL) is committed to reducing 
the risk of diet-related chronic diseases by promoting and supporting actions that improve 
healthy food environments*, support a sustainable local food system** and increase household 
economic and physical access to healthy food.  
 
Recommendation 
 
THAT the Board of Health receive this briefing note for information.  
 
Current Facts 
 
Healthy food environments and a sustainable food system are important to the health of the 
population.1, 2 Municipalities play an important role in ensuring that their residents have physical 
and economic access to healthy food and that their policies, programs and initiatives contribute 
to healthy food environments and a sustainable local food system.1,2  Municipalities can be 
intentional about integrating food-related policy statements into land use planning documents 
and food related programs and initiatives into day-to-day municipal operations.1, 2,3  
 
CDP-HL staff have been collaborating with Simcoe and Muskoka municipalities for a number of 
years on a comprehensive range of food initiatives. The initiatives chosen align with current 
expert opinion, promising practice and key directional documents for municipalities from a 
variety of sources as noted in the reference section below. 
 
Municipal Roles in Healthy Food Environments and Sustainable Food Systems 
 
Municipalities can: 


• Protect agricultural land for local food production by embedding food access and food 
system policy statements into land use planning documents such as strategic plans, 
official plans, relevant master plans (forestry plans, parks plans), secondary plans and 
zoning by-laws.1,2,3,5 


 


 


____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 


 


*Healthy food environments refer to the availability, accessibility and adequacy of food in a community or region.1 
** The food system refers to all the steps involved in getting food from farm to table - this includes food production, 
processing, distribution and marketing, retailing, consumption and waste management.4 
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• Support community food production/urban agriculture initiatives such as community 
gardens, community kitchens, good food box programs, fruit tree planting, fruit tree 
gleaning, rooftop gardens, edible landscapes and food skills education opportunities by 
providing tangible supports such as land, facilities, staff time, tools and materials.2, 3 


• Pass zoning bylaws and licensing requirements that restrict access to unhealthy food by 
placing limits on the number and locations of fast food outlets or convenience stores, 
particularly in low income or underserved areas.1, 2 


• Incentivize the development of healthy food retail options by creating criteria that 
allocate development rights, reduce parking restrictions, or offer other financial 
incentives aimed at grocery store retention or to encourage grocery stores to locate in 
low income or underserved areas.1 


• Demonstrate leadership and commitment to healthy food environments by working with 
key stakeholders to establish or actively support a municipal food policy council.2,3 


• Work with the food policy council to develop or support a local food charter and develop 
a local food strategy for the municipality.2,3 


• Support processing and preparing of locally grown foods by conducting market studies, 
incentivizing small to medium-sized processing facilities, offering planning advice and 
providing infrastructure and other resources.2,3 


• Support the distribution of local foods by developing a “buy local” procurement policy 
that establishes local food procurement targets for the municipality. Municipalities can 
also embed “buy local” requirements into Request For Proposals for food service 
contracts.2,3  


• Reduce food waste by providing tools and equipment for gleaning programs that support 
collecting excess crops from gardens and fruit trees for local consumption. In addition, 
municipalities can support the effective management of food waste and through 
composting programs that allows plant waste to be turned into compost.2,3 


• Support retailing of local food by supporting the establishment of farmers markets, 
mobile vending trucks, mobile grocery stores and produce carts that sell local farm 
products to consumers.1,2,3 


• Increase public awareness about the benefits of buying local by running awareness 
campaigns to educate the public about where they can purchase local foods and by 
supporting local culinary tourism.1,2,3 


 
Municipal Roles in Household Food Insecurity 
 


Household food insecurity is inadequate or insecure access to healthy food due to financial 
contraints.6 Results from national and local surveys confirm that food insecurity is a concern in 
Simcoe Muskoka. Twelve per cent (1 in 8) of local households say that lack of money is 
affecting their food intake in some way, from worry about running out of food or limiting food 
choices, to changing what and how much they eat—even skipping meals or going without food 
altogether.9 


 
In addition to municipal roles that help to support healthy food environments, there are 
evidence-informed practices municipalities can engage in to improve economic access to safe, 
healthy and personally-acceptable food for individuals and families.1,3,6,8,  


 
Municipalities can: 


• Support economic access to healthy food by advocating to federal and provincial 
governments for income support programs that provide residents with enough income to 
purchase the food required for a healthy diet.  Income-based solutions include such 
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thing as social assistance reform, living wage, basic income guarantee, affordable 
housing, and affordable childcare. 6,8 


 
Background 
 
Ongoing access to safe and healthy food is essential to support growth and development; 
optimal physical, mental and social health throughout life; and to reduce the risk of debilitating 
chronic diseases such as heart disease, stroke, diabetes, some cancers and depression.6 
 
To be food secure, individuals and families need ongoing economic and physical/geographic 
access to food that is healthy, safe, personally acceptable and that comes from a sustainable 
food system.7   Lack of economic access means not having an adequate and secure enough 
source of income to cover the cost of healthy food.6 This situation is known as household food 
insecurity. 6 Physical or geographic access means having easy access to grocery stores, 
farmers’ markets and other conventional food retailers that offer a variety of healthy safe foods. 
It also means having access to community gardens, vegetable and fruit box/basket programs, 
neighbourhood produce stands/carts, community food centres and other community food 
initiatives that make healthy foods available. Access to food retail and community food 
programs is of particular importance when considering the needs of vulnerable groups in 
underserved neighbourhoods or communities with limited access to healthy foods.5  


 
Municipal governments have many opportunities to demonstrate leadership and support 
activities that can have a lasting impact on healthy food environments, a sustainable local food 
system and food access.1, 2,5 Some of these opportunities involve municipal action that leads to 
policy change, supportive environments, community engagement and skill development at the 
local level.2,8 Other opportunities could involve municipal action to advocate for policy changes 
at higher levels, perhaps in partnership with the Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit and other 
community stakeholders.8  
 
CDP-HL staff welcome opportunities to continue working with municipalities on this important 
issue. This includes provision of evidence linking healthy eating and food access to chronic 
disease, knowledge of promising practices and policies for municipalities, access to local health 
surveillance data, tools/resources to facilitate municipal policy action and experience supporting 
the development and implementation of many community initiatives considered promising 
practices for municipalities.   
 
Contacts 
 
Christine Bushey, Manager, CDP-Healthy Lifestyle Program Ext. 7376      
Jane Shrestha, R.D., Public Health Nutritionist, CDP-Healthy Lifestyle Program Ext. 7249                           
Carolyn Shoreman, Director, Community and Family Health Department Ext. 7361 
Lisa Simon, Associate Medical Officer of Health Ext. 7244                      
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Sent by Email at:  ehoskins.mpp@liberal.ola.org 
 
March 15, 2017 
 
Dr. Eric Hoskins 
Minister of Health 
Government of Ontario 
Hepburn Block, 10th Flr. 
80 Grosvenor St. 
Toronto  ON  M7A 2C4 
 
Dear Minister Hoskins: 
 
On March 15th the Board of Health for the Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit passed the 
following motion: 
 


THAT the Board of Health write to the federal Minister of Health supporting the federal 
government’s proposal to commit to a target of less than 5% tobacco use by 2035;  
 
AND FURTHER THAT the Board of Health recommend that the federal government’s 
approaches include those identified at the 2016 summit, A Tobacco Endgame for 
Canada; 
 
AND FURTHER THAT the Board of Health write to the Ontario Minister of Health to 
recommend that the Smoke Free Ontario Strategy be aligned with the proposed tobacco 
endgame in Canada. 


 
This motion is in part in recognition of the fact that despite a substantial reduction of tobacco 
use in the Ontario population with the successes of the Smoke Free Ontario Strategy, smoking 
remains the most important cause of death. It is also in recognition that without fundamentally 
new approaches to tobacco control there will be an inadequate continued reduction in use, and 
an increase in tobacco-related mortality in the decades to come. Background on this motion, 
including a definition of the endgame concept can be found in the attached briefing note.    
 
In the attached letter to federal Minister of Health Dr. Jane Philpott, I have communicated the 
Board of Health’s commendation of the federal government for its stated commitment to the 
renewal of its Federal Tobacco Control Strategy, and to this end for its consultation paper, 
Seizing the Opportunity: the Future of Tobacco Control in Canada (attached) proposing a target 
of less than 5% tobacco use by 2035. This is a commendable goal, in keeping with a tobacco 
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endgame approach. My letter to Minister Philpott also cites the Board of Health’s support for a 
further strengthening of the Federal Tobacco Control Strategy with the inclusion of the 
approaches within the 2016 summit paper, A Tobacco Endgame for Canada (attached), and 
provides examples of the benefits of this.  
 
The tobacco endgame approach proposed in this document includes some of the concepts 
within the federal consultation paper; however its content goes beyond this, and includes a 
number of recommendations that are either very well supported by research or are promising 
new possibilities for action.  
 
Building capacity is one of the key elements in the federal consultation paper. Continued 
financial support for tobacco resource centres such as the Ontario Tobacco Research Unit and 
the Smoking and Health Action Foundation is crucial as their work has been essential over the 
decades, and will be needed to help inform and guide in a tobacco control endgame in Ontario.  
 
In order to achieve a tobacco endgame, the tobacco control strategies of the provinces would 
need to align with the Federal Tobacco Control Strategy. Given that the Smoke Free Ontario 
Strategy is presently under review, its alignment with a tobacco endgame approach presently 
emerging within the Federal Tobacco Control Strategy would be very timely. Such an approach 
would be consistent with the provincial government’s stated commitment to achieve the 
lowest smoking rate in the country.  
 
The federal government is to be commended for considering a bold but very necessary goal of 
less than 5% tobacco use by 2035. The Board of Health is entirely in support of this goal, and 
recommends the inclusion of the endgame strategies necessary to achieve it. Consistent with 
this, the Board of Health also recommends that the Smoke Free Ontario Strategy be aligned 
with the proposed tobacco endgame to achieve better health for Ontarians.  
 
Sincerely, 
 
ORIGINAL SIGNED BY 
 
Scott Warnock, 
Chair, Board of Health 
 
Att. (4) Briefing Note and attachments 
 Seizing the Opportunity: the Future of Tobacco Control in Canada Paper 
 A Tobacco Endgame for Canada 2016 Summit Paper 
 Letter to Minister Dr. Jane Philpott 
 
c. Minister of Health of Canada 


Chief Public Health Officer of Canada 
Chief Medical Officer of Health of Ontario 
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Association of Local Public Health Agencies 
Ontario Public Health Association 
Ontario Boards of Health 
Simcoe Muskoka local Members of Parliament 
Local Members of Provincial Parliament 
North Simcoe and Centre Health Integration Networks 
Association of Municipalities of Ontario 
Simcoe Muskoka Municipalities 
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Sent by Email at:  Jane.Philpott@parl.gc.ca 
 
March 15, 2017 
 
Dr. Jane Philpott 
Minister of Health 
Government of Canada 
House of Commons 
Ottawa, Ontario 
K1A 0A6 
 
Dear Minister Philpott, 
 
On March 15th the Board of Health for the Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit passed the 
following motion: 
 


THAT the Board of Health write to the federal Minister of Health supporting the federal 
government’s proposal to commit to a target of less than 5% tobacco use by 2035;  
 
AND FURTHER THAT the Board of Health recommend that the federal government’s 
approaches include those identified at the 2016 summit, A Tobacco Endgame for 
Canada; 
 
AND FURTHER THAT the Board of Health write to the Ontario Minister of Health to 
recommend that the Smoke Free Ontario Strategy be aligned with the proposed tobacco 
endgame in Canada. 


 
This motion is in recognition of the fact that despite a substantial reduction of tobacco use in 
the Canadian population in recent decades, smoking remains the most important cause of 
death. It is also in recognition that without fundamentally new approaches to tobacco control 
there will be an inadequate continued reduction in use, and an increase in tobacco-related 
mortality in the decades to come. Background on this motion, including a definition of the 
endgame concept can be found in the attached briefing note.    
 
The federal government is to be commended for its stated commitment to the renewal of its 
Federal Tobacco Control Strategy, and to this end for its consultation paper, Seizing the 
Opportunity: the Future of Tobacco Control in Canada proposing a target of less than 5% 
tobacco use by 2035. This is a commendable goal, in keeping with a tobacco endgame 
approach. The federal consultation paper also proposes six key elements that would help to 
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address population health inequities and to support tobacco control in priority populations, 
such as indigenous populations, tobacco users and youth. It also speaks to the importance of 
capacity building in the pursuit of enhanced tobacco control.  
 
This is commendable content, however the Board of Health supports a further strengthening of 
the Federal Tobacco Control Strategy with the inclusion of the approaches within the 2016 
summit paper, A Tobacco Endgame for Canada (attached).  
 
The tobacco endgame approach proposed in this document includes some of the concepts 
within the federal consultation paper; however its content goes beyond this, and includes a 
number of recommendations that are either very well supported by research or are promising 
new possibilities for action. These include the strong endorsement for increased tobacco 
taxation (and other price-enhancing strategies) as the most important means of smoking 
reduction, very well supported by research, with data provided in the endgame report on both 
the anticipated impact on tobacco use and on government revenues.  Others include increasing 
restrictions on marketing, including instituting plain packaging (which the federal government 
has already proposed) and implementing a 18A classification (adult accompaniment) for movies 
that depict smoking.  
 
Both the federal consultation paper and the endgame document speak to the importance of 
enhancing smoking cessation. The endgame document provides a range actions that are 
consistent with this goal and would augment those provided within the federal consultation 
paper. It also proposes strategies to reduce the production, supply and distribution of tobacco, 
including possible new structures to these ends. 
 
Both documents speak of holding the tobacco industry accountable for its impact on health. 
The endgame strategies include the importance of litigation and the resulting substantial 
financial impact on the industry. In addition it should be noted that the release of internal 
industry documentation would serve to enhance surveillance on tobacco industry strategies 
and actions.  
 
The endgame paper also cites the importance of new funding streams for tobacco control, and 
also proposes the creation of an endgame steering committee or “cabinet”. These 
recommendations would serve as important enhancements to building capacity, in keeping 
with one of the key elements in the federal consultation paper. In order to develop and 
maintain a sustained and successful tobacco endgame strategy over time, a clear model of 
leadership and accountability will be required.  
 
In order to achieve a tobacco endgame, the tobacco control strategies of the provinces would 
need to align with the Federal Tobacco Control Strategy. To this end the Federal Tobacco 
Control Strategy should specifically site such provincial alignment, and the policy instruments to 
achieve this. Consistent with this, attached you will find my letter on behalf of the Board of 
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Health to Ontario Minister of Health Dr. Eric Hoskins recommending that the Smoke Free 
Ontario Strategy be aligned with the proposed tobacco endgame in Canada.  
 
The federal government is to be commended for considering a bold but very necessary goal of 
less than 5% tobacco use by 2035. The Board of Health is entirely in support of this goal, and 
recommends the inclusion of the endgame strategies that will be necessary to achieve it for the 
health of Canadians.  
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
ORIGINAL SIGNED BY 
 
Scott Warnock, 
Chair, Board of Health 
 
Att. (3) Briefing Note and attachments 
 A Tobacco Endgame for Canada 2016 Summit Paper 
 Letter to Minister Dr. Eric Hoskins 
 
c. Ontario Minister of Health 


Chief Public Health Officer of Canada 
Chief Medical Officer of Health of Ontario 
Association of Local Public Health Agencies 
Ontario Public Health Association 
Ontario Boards of Health 
Simcoe Muskoka local Members of Parliament 
Local Members of Provincial Parliament 
North Simcoe and Centre Health Integration Networks 
Association of Municipalities of Ontario 
Simcoe Muskoka Municipalities 
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April 3, 2017    
 
 
Natalie Bubela 
Chief Executive Officer 
Muskoka Algonquin Healthcare 
100 Frank Miller Drive  
Huntsville, ON P1H 1H7 
 
Dear Ms. Bubela: 
 
On behalf of the Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit (SMDHU), I would like to commend the 
Muskoka Algonquin Healthcare (MAHC) for taking the initiative to support and implement the 
provincial Quit Card cessation program for patients being discharged from the hospital. 
 
Overcoming a tobacco addiction can be very challenging and often requires multiple quit attempts.  
Providing patients leaving the hospital with access to free nicotine replacement therapy ensures 
they have ongoing cessation support during their quit journey and this increases the chances for 
success.  
 
Smoking is the number one cause of preventable death and disease in this country and is a drain on 
our healthcare system. The proactive work of MAHC’s Tobacco Cessation Task Group combined 
with the vision and efforts of its chair, Noreen Chan, your implementation of the Ottawa Model, 
your early adoption of a smoke-free campus for MAHC facilities, your participation in the Quit Card 
cessation program, and your current planning to encourage patients’ quits pre-operatively for 
healthier surgical and post-operative outcomes are commendable initiatives.  In addition, MAHC’s 
ongoing readiness to partner with SMDHU to promote heathy lifestyle behaviours is evidence of 
your commitment to the wellbeing of all Muskoka residents. 
 
We look forward to our continuing partnership with MAHC to offer comprehensive programming to 
help residents quit smoking, stay smoke free, and protect individuals and families from secondhand 
smoke.  
 
Sincerely,  
  
ORIGINAL Signed By: 
 
Charles Gardner, MD, CCFP, MHSc, FRCPC  
Medical Officer of Health  
 
cc: Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit Board of Health 
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Indeed, a recurring theme that we have heard from our members during 
and following our February symposium is that it will be difficult to fully 


 
 
March 17, 2017        UPDATED 
 
 
 
 
Roselle Martino               
Assistant Deputy Minister  
Population and Public Health Division 
Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care 
10th Floor, 80 Grosvenor Street,  
Toronto, Ontario M7A 2C4 
 
Dear Roselle, 
 
Re:   Public Health Programs and Services Consultation 
 
On behalf of member Medical Officers of Health, Boards of Health and Affiliate 
organizations of the Association of Local Public Health Agencies (alPHa), I am writing 
today to provide our initial feedback on the Standards for Public Health Programs and 
Services Consultation Document that was released for comment on February 17.  
 
We recognize that a great deal of work went into this review, and appreciate the fact 
that many of our members were directly involved in the development of the revised 
Standards for Public Health. We are also pleased with the decision to hold regional 
consultations and hope that the feedback that you receive from our members as part of 
these will be carefully considered, as our members will be more likely to provide more 
detailed operational feedback not covered here. Finally, we are most appreciative of the 
extension to the original April 3 deadline to accommodate a more thorough 
consideration of the document.  
 
Our response as an Association is based primarily on what we heard at the 2017 alPHa 
Winter Symposium and follow-up discussions during meetings of our Council of Ontario 
Medical Officers of Health (COMOH) and Boards of Health Sections as well as the alPHa 
Executive Committee and Board of Directors since that time.  
 
We understand that the intent of the present consultation is to gather feedback on 
operational considerations and implementation requirements and supports. We expect 
that the most useful feedback on these will be heard as part of the regional consultations 
that will take place later this month, as staff and managers who are most familiar with 
the various programs and services are in the best position to provide the required 
analysis and advice.  
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Indeed, a recurring theme that we have heard from our members during and following our February 
symposium is that it will be difficult to fully assess the operational implications of the revised standards 
before more clarity on the more specific expectations are available. We are given to understand that 
these will emerge with the development of protocols, guidance documents and annual service plan 
template, and we would appreciate assurances that the field will be fully involved in this process so that 
we can answer the operational and implementation questions as they arise.  
 
Similarly, the importance of examining the existing and potential capacity, resource and funding issues 
cannot be overstated. These have been at the forefront of our discussions of the revised standards so 
far, and the expectations will need to be more clearly understood before an assessment of the capacity 
to meet them can be properly carried out.  
 
The above uncertainties notwithstanding, we already have significant concerns about capacity in light of 
our escalating struggles to meet our existing mandate and respond to local needs with constrained 
budgets. These struggles will only intensify with the new program and process obligations that are laid 
out in the revised standards and the continued implementation of the public health funding formula. 
 
We have, for example, communicated on several occasions as part of our feedback on the Patients First 
initiative that increasing engagement with the health care sector carries with it significant resource 
implications. Assisting with the planning of health care delivery services is a new application of public 
health’s expertise in population health assessment, which requires different analytical approaches and is 
in addition to the applications that we will be expected to continue.  
 
Even if this and the various other added requirements are offset by the subtraction or consolidation of 
others, there will be resource implications related to adapting our service delivery processes to the 
shifts in expectations, including retraining staff for new obligations, re-allocating resources and 
developing outreach and negotiation strategies for programs that we are no longer expected to provide 
directly but are still expected to ensure are available. New administrative requirements such as 
developing annual public health service plans and individualized programs of public health interventions 
will also entail significant additional consideration. 
 
We also have some concerns about the much less prescriptive approach to the health promotion 
standards. Although we are very receptive to the greater latitude to tailor health promotion / chronic 
disease prevention programs via local public health “intervention plans”, we see a potential risk to their 
effectiveness and sustainability in the current fiscal climate. If available resources remain static (as they 
have now for two years in most cases), meeting the more explicit health protection requirements on an 
ongoing basis will almost certainly erode the resources left over for the delivery of effective tailored 
health promotion programs and services over time. We recommend that there be mechanisms 
developed to mitigate this risk and protect our critical work in the more flexible areas of the standards. 
 
As we observed above, there is still much that has not yet been defined within the new standards, and 
there are additional uncertainties about the outcomes of the correlated health system transformation 
processes. We do see this as an important opportunity to answer questions and address concerns, and it 
will be exceedingly important that these processes (including but not limited to the Expert Panel on 
Public Health, the Public Health-Local Health Integration Network Work Stream, the new Accountability 
Framework) are appropriately bridged to ensure that we have the information we need to guide us 
through the transformation process. We would appreciate assurances that we will be full participants in 
ensuring that these processes and their products serve the best interests for effective health protection 
and promotion throughout the province.  
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It is important to note that the above points are reflective of the collective discussions that our 
members have had in the short time since the release of the consultation document. The emergence of 
other questions and concerns as the revised Standards are more closely examined are a near-certainty, 
and we hope that you will remain open to discussing them – including feedback on content - in the 
months leading to the January 2018 implementation.  
 
In closing, we recognize that having such explicit and comprehensive public health standards is unusual 
in Canada and we are grateful to have a strong foundation for the practice of public health in Ontario. 
We thank you for the opportunity to assist in further strengthening Ontario’s public health system to 
most effectively protect and promote the health of all Ontarians. 
 
Yours sincerely, 
 


 
 
Carmen McGregor 
alPHa Vice-President 
 
 
COPY: Dr. David Williams, Chief Medical Officer of Health 


Sharon Lee Smith, Associate Deputy Minister, Policy and Transformation, Ministry of Health and 
Long-Term Care 
Dr. Bob Bell, Deputy Minister of Health and Long-Term Care, Ministry of Health and Long-Term 
Care 
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Subject: 


Attachments: 


FW: [allhealthunits] Public Health Standards Consultation - alPHaWeb 


A TTOOOOl.txt 
Page 


From: allhealthunits-bounces@lists.alphaweb.org [mailto:allhealthunits-bounces@lists.alphaweb.org] On Behalf Of 


Gordon Fleming 


Sent: Thursday, March 23, 2017 10:48 AM 


To: allhealthunits@lists.alphaweb.org 


Subject: [allhealthunits] Public Health Standards Consultation - alPHaWeb Page 


ATIENTION 


CHAIRS, BOARDS OF HEALTH 


SENIOR MANAGERS, ALL PROGRAMS 


******************************** 


Hi All, 


This is to inform you that there is now a page on the alPHa web site that serves as a one-stop shop for materials 


related to the present consultation on the revised Public Health Standards for Ontario. Included on this page are the 


following: 
• The Standards for Public Health Programs and Services Consultation Document
• The slide deck that was presented to alPHa members by Roselle Martino at the February 23 Symposium
• The proceedings of the alPHa Winter Symposium (which focused on the revised PHS)
• alPHa's initial response to the consultation document and related communications to members
• The schedule of regional consultations


With the regional consultations underway and many Boards scheduled to meet in the coming weeks, we are now 


especially interested in collecting materials related to the co:,sultation from individual Boards of Health. These will be 


uploaded to a file library at the bottom of our page so that all of our members can see each others' responses. Please 


send any reports, correspondence and motions/ resolutions you would like to share to gordon@alphaweb.org for 


posting. 


Please note that you must have a profile in our database, a user name and a password to access this page. The sign-in 


page includes options to create a profile if you don't think you have one or reset your password if you don't remember it. 


Please contact info@alphaweb. orq if you have any trouble with this. 


Page URL: https://alphaweb.site-ym.com/page/OPHS 2017 


Gordon Fleming, B.A., BASc, CPHl(C) 


Manager, Public Health Issues 
Association of Local Public Health Agencies (alPHa) 
2 Carlton Street, Suite 1306 


Toronto, Ontario M5B 1J3 


(416) 595-0006, ext 23 
(416) 595-0030 Fax


_._ ..
...... 
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Tuesday March 28, 2017 


 


RE: Support for Stop Marketing to Kids Coalition’s Ottawa Principles and Further Action on Sugary 


Drinks 


 


Dear Ontario Boards of Health, 


 


Sugar consumption has progressively become a major public health concern. Excessive intake of sugar has 


been linked to obesity, type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular disease, dental caries, metabolic syndrome and a 


lower intake of nutrient-dense beverages. Two priority areas for reducing sugar consumption and supporting 


healthy eating behaviours among children, youth and families, include restricting food and beverage 


marketing to children and improving the food environment in municipal and family-focused centres. 


 


At its February 16th, 2017 meeting, the Middlesex-London Board of Health received Report No. 006-17, 


“City of London Beverage Vending Review and Opportunity for Further Action on Sugary Drinks”, 


where it was recommended that the Board of Health: 


• Direct staff to complete the online endorsement of the Stop Marketing to Kids Coalition’s (Stop 


M2K) Ottawa Principles to communicate its support to restrict food and beverage marketing to 


children and youth 16 years of age and younger; and, 


• Communicate support for STOP M2K’s Ottawa Principles by sending Report No. 006-17 re: City of 


London Beverage Vending Review and Opportunity for Further Action on Sugary Drinks, and its 


appendices to other Boards of Health in Ontario. 


 


There is greater understanding today about how commercial food and beverage marketing negatively 


impacts the development of healthy habits, particularly for children and youth. According to the World 


Health Organization 2016 report, Report of the Commission to End Childhood Obesity, “the evidence base 


shows that unhealthy food marketing is an important and independent causal factor in the childhood obesity 


epidemic”. Children and youth are targeted by companies and highly exposed to the marketing of less 


healthy food and beverage through many channels including online, on television and through social media. 


Stop M2K’s Ottawa Principles outline definitions, scope and principles to guide policy-making in Canada to 


help protect children and youth from the influence of commercial food and beverage marketing. 


 


Restricting marketing to children and youth is one part of a comprehensive strategy to improve children’s 


nutrition and long-term health outcomes. Changes to the food environment are also needed.  Public health 


units are in a unique position to work with their local municipalities to implement healthy changes within the 


local food environment, as well as to communicate support for restricting food and beverage marketing to 


children at a federal level by endorsing Stop M2K’s Ottawa Principles.  


 


Sincerely,  


 
Jesse Helmer, Chair 


Middlesex-London Board of Health 
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                MIDDLESEX-LONDON HEALTH UNIT 


 


                                    REPORT NO. 006-17 


 


 


TO:  Chair and Members of the Board of Health 


 


FROM: Dr. Gayane Hovhannisyan, Acting Medical Officer of Health 
  Laura Di Cesare, Acting Chief Executive Officer  


 


DATE:  2017 February 16 


____________________________________________________________________________ 


 


CITY OF LONDON BEVERAGE VENDING REVIEW AND OPPORTUNITY FOR 
FURTHER ACTION ON SUGARY DRINKS 


 


Recommendation 
 


It is recommended that the Board of Health: 
 


1. Receive Report No. 006-17 re: City of London Beverage Vending Review and Opportunity for 


Further Action on Sugary Drinks; 


2. Support the receipt of $15,000 from the Healthy Kids Community Challenge fund from the City of 


London’s Child and Youth Network to implement a community education campaign on the health 


risks associated with sugary drinks and the benefits of water; 


3. Direct staff to complete the online endorsement of the Stop Marketing to Kids Coalition’s (Stop 


M2K) Ottawa Principles to communicate its support to restrict food and beverage marketing to 


children and youth 16 years of age and younger; and  


4. Communicate support for STOP M2K’s Ottawa Principles by sending Report No. 006-17 re: City 


of London Beverage Vending Review and Opportunity for Further Action on Sugary Drinks, and 


its appendices to other Boards of Health in Ontario. 


 


Key Points  


 Sugary drinks are the single-largest source of sugar in our diets. 


 Public education about the health risks associated with sugary drinks is required, as are policies at the 


municipal, provincial and federal levels that help to restrict access to unhealthy choices. 


 A comprehensive strategy that includes federal legislation to restrict commercial food and beverage 


marketing to children and youth 16 years and under is necessary.  


 
Update on the City of London Beverage Vending Review  
 


In September 2016, staff from both the City of London and the Health Unit began working together to: 


assess current beverage vending machine offerings; conduct a survey to seek input from facility users and 


City of London residents on what changes could be made to the beverage vending machine environment in 


city-run facilities; review the literature and conduct an environmental scan to inform proposed changes; and 


propose five policy options for consideration. The survey methodology, research findings and policy options 


can be found in the Health Unit’s report (Appendix A). 


 


The Health Unit’s recommendation to remove beverage vending machines was not adopted by the City of 


London; however, the Health Unit remains committed to working with city staff to determine how best to 


improve vending machine offerings. The Health Unit’s survey results and the community dialogue around 


sugary drinks have highlighted the need for greater public awareness regarding the public health concerns 


associated with consumption and marketing of sugary drinks. The Health Unit has the opportunity to receive 


$15,000 from the Healthy Kids Community Challenge fund, from the City of London’s Child and Youth 


Network, to implement a public education campaign to reinforce the fact that sugary drinks should only be 


consumed sparingly and that water is the best choice for hydration and health. The Health Unit will also 


  



http://stopmarketingtokids.ca/

http://stopmarketingtokids.ca/the-ottawa-principles-2/

http://www.healthunit.com/uploads/2017-02-16-report-006-17-appendix-a.pdf
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continue to work closely with Middlesex County’s Healthy Kids Community Challenge partners to improve 


the food and beverage environments in community centres, schools and childcare settings. 


 


Reducing the Availability of Sugary Drinks 
 


Municipal and family-focused centres are priority settings for supporting healthy eating behaviours among 


children, youth and families. The removal of beverage vending machines makes the healthy choice (plain tap 


water) the easy choice, and reduces consumer confusion around sugary drinks, which are marketed by the 


beverage industry as “healthier” (“health-washed”), because such drinks would no longer be available for 


sale. From a health perspective, sports drinks, vitamin waters and juices also contribute to the negative 


health effects of too much sugar in the diet. Appendix B provides considerations for consumers when 


selecting drinks often found for sale in vending machines. 


 
Rationale for a Ban on Marketing and Advertising 
 


Brand logos and product advertisements are positively associated with consumers’ purchasing decisions, 


specifically of unhealthy foods (e.g., salty snacks, candy and sugar-sweetened beverages). Vending 


machines not only act as mini-billboards, but provide quick, easy access to energy-dense, nutrient-poor 


sugary drinks. The Heart and Stroke Foundation of Canada’s 2017 Report on the Health of Canadians takes 


aim at the food and beverage industry for marketing directly to children and youth, and shows how industry 


marketing reaches them in the home, at school, on the street and in recreational centres. The most accessible 


and heavily marketed choices are often energy-dense, nutrient-poor processed foods and sugary drinks, like 


those found in vending machines. According to the report, “parents are doing the best job they can but our 


environment makes it hard.” The report recommends legislation restricting food and beverage marketing 


aimed at children and youth, and calls for a comprehensive strategy that includes public awareness and 


policies that support reduced sugar consumption and access, especially in “liquid form.” Policies at the 


municipal, provincial and federal levels, which increase access to healthy food and beverage choices and 


restrict access to unhealthy choices, are required. 


  


Opportunity to Take Action on Food and Beverage Marketing 
  
There is greater understanding today about how commercial food and beverage marketing prevents children 


and youth from developing healthy habits that would extend into adulthood. The Stop Marketing to Kids 


Coalition (Stop M2K), founded by the Heart and Stroke Foundation in collaboration with the Childhood 


Obesity Foundation, is working to restrict all food and beverage marketing to children and youth 16 years 


and under. The Coalition has developed the Ottawa Principles, which provide definitions, scope and 


requirements that should be used to guide development of federal legislation to restrict commercial 


marketing to children and youth. There is an opportunity for all Ontario Boards of Health to continue to 


work with local municipal governments to implement healthy changes within the food environment at the 


local level, while at the same time communicating Board of Health support for the Stop M2K Coalition’s 


recommendations, by signing the online endorsement. It is recommended that the Middlesex-London Board 


of Health direct Health Unit staff to complete the online endorsement and communicate its support by 


sending this report and its appendices to the other Boards of Health.  
 


This report was prepared by Ellen Lakusiak, Kim Loupos and Heather Thomas, Health Unit Registered 


Dietitians, and Linda Stobo, Program Manager, Chronic Disease Prevention and Tobacco Control. 


 


 


 


 


 Dr. Gayane Hovhannisyan, MD, MHSc, CCFP, FRCPC 


Acting Medical Officer of Health 


 


Laura Di Cesare, CHRE 


Acting Chief Executive Office


 


This report addresses the following requirements of the Ontario Public Health Standards (revised May 2016): 


Foundational Standard 1, 3, 4, 5, 8; Chronic Disease Prevention 1, 3, 4, 5, 6, 11; Child Health 1, 4. 
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For information, please contact: 


Linda Stobo 
Middlesex-London Health Unit 
50 King St. 
London, Ontario 
N6A 5L7 
phone: 519-663-5317, ext. 2388 
e-mail: health@mlhu.on.ca 
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Executive Summary  


On the recommendation of the Managing Director of Parks and Recreation, the Community and 


Protective Services Committee of London City Council approved an extension not to exceed six months 


to the current beverage vending contract with PepsiCo Beverages Canada to allow Civic Administration 


additional time to review beverage vending options. In September 2016, staff from both the City and the 


Middlesex-London Health Unit (Health Unit) began working together on the City of London Beverage 


Vending Review Project. A research team comprised of representatives from the Health Unit and the City 


of London was created to: 


• assess current beverage vending machine offerings; 
• conduct a survey to seek input from facility users and City of London residents on what 


changes could be made to the beverage vending machine environment in city-run facilities; 
• review the literature and conduct an environmental scan to inform proposed changes; and 
• propose policy options for consideration based on the survey results, recommendations 


documented in the literature on how to improve the food environment and lessons learned 


from other municipalities. 


A cross-sectional questionnaire of patrons of city-run facilities, including arenas, aquatic centres, 


community centres, Storybook Gardens and the cafeteria in City Hall, was used to seek public input. In-


person and online surveys were collected over a three-week period, from October 6 to 26, 2016. The 


survey results indicate that the majority (82.5%) of facility users are bringing beverages from home into 


city-run facilities: water in a refillable bottle (75%); coffee and/or tea (58%); water in a single-use bottle 


(23%); and sports drinks (21%). The survey results highlight that facility users are ready for some 


changes to be made to drink options available within beverage vending machines, including the removal 


of pop and soft drinks (48.3% agreed/strongly agreed) and the removal of energy drinks (63.5% 


agreed/strongly agreed). The results in support of the continuation of the sale of certain sugar-sweetened 


beverages (SSBs), including sports drinks, vitamin waters and juices indicate a misconception that some 


SSBs are needed for hydration during physical activity, or that these are “healthier” choices. Further, the 


results highlight that the majority of facility users (60.8%) support the sale of single-use bottled water in 


beverage vending machines, because water is a healthy drink and should be made available as a choice 


(67%) and in the event that facility users forget their own water or are unaware of the water stations 


(75%) within city-run facilities. 
 
While the scope of the review was limited to beverage vending, public support for changes to snack and 


bulk candy vending machines in city facilities was also gauged. The majority of facility users (58.1%) 


support the removal of bulk candy vending machines from city-run facilities; however, there was clear 


disagreement (66.3% disagreed/strongly disagreed) regarding the removal of snack vending machines. 


The Health Unit recommends that the bulk candy vending machines be removed. The removal of these 


machines will reduce the distribution of bulk candy—candy which is nutrient-poor and very high in sugar 


(e.g., gumballs, hard candies, chocolate snacks, etc.). The Health Unit recommends that the City conduct 


a review of the snack food environment, specifically addressing snack food options within vending 


machines and concession stands, to see what improvements could be made. 
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After careful consideration of five different policy options for beverage vending, the Middlesex-London 


Health Unit recommends that the City of London implement policy option #1, the removal of all beverage 


vending machines in city-run facilities. 


 


Rationale for Policy Option #1 – Remove All Beverage Vending Machines  
Arenas, aquatic centres and community centres are priority settings for supporting healthy eating 


behaviours among children, youth and families (Naylor, Olstad & Themen, 2015). The complete removal 


of vending machines containing SSBs and the installation and promotion of water fountains, versus the 


addition of “healthier” beverages, is recommended because children are more likely to purchase SSBs 


regardless of the availability of healthier drink choices (Chen & Wang, 2016; Jones, Gonzalez & 


Frongillo, 2009).  


 


• SSBs are the single largest source of sugar in the diet. A single 355 mL can of sugar-sweetened 


soda contains approximately 40 grams (about 10 teaspoons) of sugar with no health benefits 


(World Health Organization (WHO), 2015). 


• The elimination of the sale of all sugary beverages from vending machines, including sports 


drinks, vitamin water and juices sends a consistent health message that all sugary drinks contribute 


to the negative health effects of too much sugar in the diet. This approach avoids “health 


washing,” which labels some SSBs as “healthier” compared to others. 


• Water is the best choice to satisfy thirst, to stay hydrated and to feel energetic and alert (Centers 


for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), 2010). 


• Plain tap water is safe and easily accessible to children and adults both at home and in city-run 


facilities from water fountains and bottle-filling stations. 


• When children are encouraged to drink water at a young age, they are more likely to drink water 


later in life (Birch, Savage & Ventura, 2007). 


• Children with high intakes of SSBs are more likely to be overweight or obese. Each additional 


SSB consumed per day increases a child’s risk of becoming obese by 60% (Ludwig, Peterson & 


Gortmaker, 2001). 


• The sugar in SSBs promotes bacterial growth and the acid in carbonated drinks weakens teeth, 


which can lead to cavities. 


• The majority of London facility users (82.5%) bring beverages, of their choice, from home. 


• The removal of beverage vending machines will reduce the number of plastic bottles that find their 


way into recycling and waste systems. This approach supports the City’s current ban on the sale of 


bottled water. 


• Decreased distribution of SSBs by the City of London demonstrates leadership in promoting 


health and creating healthy environments for those families who access programs and services. 


 


This change in support of healthy environments for children has already started in the City of London 


with the removal of beverage vending machines from most, if not all, local elementary schools. All 


single-use bottles require fossil fuels for their production and transport, and contribute to plastic bottle 
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waste regardless of the type of beverage they contain; therefore, the removal of beverage vending 


machines would have a positive impact from both a health and an environmental perspective. Municipally 


run facilities serve as community hubs and have the ability to reach and impact a broad cross-section of 


the population, including higher-need individuals and families. These facilities have the opportunity to 


help set a foundation for lifelong healthy lifestyles, and are ideal settings for the promotion of a healthy 


food environment. 


 


Changes to the distribution of SSBs in vending machines at city-run facilities will have a positive health 


impact on our community. Given the survey results, the promotion of water consumption through the 


Healthy Kids Community Challenge community initiatives, and this beverage vending machine review, 


this is an opportune time for the Health Unit and the City of London to engage in public education 


activities: to promote municipal water as the beverage of choice; to address the “health washing” of 


various SSBs; and to increase public awareness regarding the health risks associated with the 


consumption of all SSBs. 


 
The City of London is a leader in public service collaboration and innovation, and has identified health 


promotion and protection as a strategic priority. This report clearly outlines potential long-term health 


benefits that could be achieved by making improvements to the food environment within city facilities. 


This report and its recommendations highlight the unique role that municipal governments and health 


units can play in working together to improve our food environment and to make the healthy choice the 


easy choice. 
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Introduction 
 


Sugar consumption has progressively become a major public health concern. Data reveals that one in 


every five calories consumed by Canadians originates from sugar (Langlois & Garriguet, 2011). 


Excessive intake of “free” sugar (both added sugar and sugar naturally found in food) has been linked to 


obesity, type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular disease, dental caries, metabolic syndrome and a lower intake of 


nutrient-dense beverages such as milk (Standing Senate Committee, 2016; WHO, 2015). 


 


Sugar-sweetened beverages (SSBs) are any beverage to which sugar has been added, including soft 


drinks, fruit drinks, sports drinks, sweetened tea and coffee drinks, energy drinks and sweetened milk or 


milk alternatives (CDC, 2010). In recent guidelines, the WHO (2015) included sugar naturally present in 


fruit juices as “free” sugars, which increase individual risk of chronic diseases. In 2004, Statistics Canada 


reported that beverages including soft drinks, fruit drinks, juice and milk contributed to 44% of the 


average daily sugar intake of children and adolescents and 35% of adults’ average daily sugar intake 


(Langlois & Garriguet, 2011).  


 


The Institute of Medicine (2012) has concluded that the intake of SSBs is one of the dietary factors 


leading to the increase in obesity and overweight rates in the United States. In children, studies reveal that 


a higher intake of SSBs increases risk of overweight or obesity by 55% (Te Morenga, Mallard & Mann, 


2013).  


 


According to the most recent Ontario statistics, close to 60% of adults self-report being overweight or 


obese, and in Middlesex-London this rate is somewhat higher, at almost 64% (Canadian Community 


Health Survey (CCHS), 2014). In Ontario, 25.5% of youth aged 12–17 self-report being overweight or 


obese (CCHS, 2014). 


 


In addition to physical health, dietary choices impact mental health, cognitive function, the ability to focus 


and sleep patterns. The evidence shows that healthy children perform better academically, have better 


attendance and behaviour at school, and have improved concentration, memory and mood (CDC, 2014). 


Properly nourished children are more likely to grow and develop into healthy, active adults (Ontario 


Ministry of Child and Youth Services, n.d.).  


 


Foods and drinks sold in recreation centers, schools, variety stores and workplaces have been recognized 


for having a significant influence on diet and health (National Collaborating Centre for Environmental 


Health (NCCEH), 2014). As such, considering improvements to the food environment is a priority for the 


Middlesex-London Health Unit (Health Unit). When choosing a beverage, water is the best choice for 


health and hydration, containing no sugar, calories, additives, preservatives or caffeine. When children 


and youth drink water instead of choosing an SSB, they are likely to consume fewer total calories per day 


(Han-Markey, Wang, Scholtterbeck, Jackson, Gurm, Leidal & Eagle, 2012). 


 


On the recommendation of the Managing Director of Parks and Recreation, the Community and 


Protective Services Committee of London City Council approved an extension not to exceed six months 


to the current beverage vending contract with PepsiCo Beverages Canada to allow Civic Administration 


additional time to review beverage vending options in arenas, community centres, aquatic centres, 


Storybook Gardens and the cafeteria in City Hall. In September 2016, City staff, in partnership with the 


Health Unit, initiated the City of London Beverage Vending Review Project. The alignment of this 
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vending review project with the City of London and Middlesex-London Health Unit strategic priorities 


and community initiatives is summarized in Table 1. 


 


Table 1 


Alignment of the Beverage Vending Review Project with City of London and Middlesex-London 


Health Unit Strategic Priorities and Community Initiatives 


 


London City Council Strategic Priorities 


1. Strengthening Our Community: Work with the Middlesex London Health Unit to promote and protect 


the health of the community. 


2. Leading in Public Service: Foster collaboration and innovation through a variety of mechanisms. 


Middlesex-London Health Unit Strategic Priorities 


1. Program Excellence: Foster strategic integration and collaboration; optimize evidence-informed planning 


and evaluation. 


2. Client and Community Confidence: Seek and respond to community input. 


Community Initiatives 


1. London’s Child and Youth Network Healthy Eating Healthy Physical Activity Priority: A community 


network composed of over 170 agencies and individuals. This priority is focused on improving healthy 


eating and physical activity through engagement and influencing habits. 


2. Healthy Kids Community Challenge: A province-wide initiative coordinated at the municipal level 


funded by the Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care. The focus of the 2016/2017 theme is on drinking 


more water and fewer sugary drinks. The 2017/2018 theme is on promoting the consumption of vegetables 


and fruit. 


 


A research team comprised of representatives from the Health Unit and the City of London was created 


to: 


• assess current beverage vending machine offerings; 


• conduct a survey to seek input from facility users and City of London residents on what changes 


could be made to the beverage vending machine environment in city-run facilities; 


• review the literature and conduct an environmental scan to inform proposed changes; and 


• propose policy options for consideration based on the survey results, recommendations 


documented in the literature on how to improve the food environment and lessons learned from 


other municipalities. 


 
This report documents the results of the survey, recommendations from the literature and the 


environmental scan, and policy options for consideration. The report makes a recommendation to the City 


of London on which policy option would have the greatest positive health and environmental impact and 


outlines some proposed steps if a policy change were to be implemented. 
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The recommendations contained within this report highlight the unique and significant role that municipal 


governments and health units can play in working together to influence our food environment to make the 


healthy choice the easy choice.  
 


Survey Methods 
 


A cross-sectional questionnaire of patrons and employees of city-run facilities, including arenas, aquatic 


centres, community centres, Storybook Gardens and the cafeteria in City Hall, was used to seek input 


from facility users and London residents. The self-administered, sixteen-item questionnaire (see Appendix 


A) was available to complete both in paper-and-pencil and online formats. Two different modes (paper-


and-pencil and online) of the questionnaire were developed to ensure broad representation of respondents 


from across the City of London. The questionnaire was developed by Health Unit staff and piloted by 


Health Unit administrative assistants not directly involved in this project. 


 


For the paper-and-pencil versions, sample size estimations calculated a minimum required sample of 384 


individuals, rounded up to 400. To determine an appropriate sample size of survey respondents from each 


facility, City staff provided the number of annual visits by patrons at each facility. Using representative 


proportions of attendees at city-run facilities, including the cafeteria at City Hall, quotas were established 


for peer research assistants (RAs) to collect data in paper-and-pencil format at every facility (see 


Appendix B). The RAs were casual staff from the City of London, Youth Leaders from the Health Unit’s 


One Life One You youth advocacy team, student volunteers, a Dietetic Intern from Brescia University 


College and two members of the research team. All RAs received in-person training and procedural 


instructions for survey administration. They worked in pairs and visited each facility where in-person data 


collection occurred. RAs attended facilities at peak times during week and weekend days and evenings to 


facilitate obtaining the quotas set for the in-person survey completion. Due to survey collection timing, in-


person data collection did not occur at Storybook Gardens. 


 


The research team used a supplementary method to collect surveys by distributing the link to the survey 


online via the Health Unit website. The online survey link was promoted to City of London employees on 


the City of London Intranet, and the online survey link was sent directly to 3,000 residents that subscribe 


to the City of London e-newsletter, to ensure broad representation. The online version of the questionnaire 


was delivered using SurveyMonkey® software. Paper-and-pencil surveys were entered into the 


SurveyMonkey® software to merge data. 


 


The survey took approximately five minutes to complete, and was conducted from October 6 to 26, 2016. 


Overall, 491 patrons at city facilities completed the paper-and-pencil survey. An additional 465 


participants completed the online survey. The total number of surveys completed, both in-person and 


online, was 956. 


 


Data from both paper-and pencil and online surveys were analyzed using Stata (version 14.1), available in 


SurveyMonkey®. The distinction between paper-and-pencil surveys and online surveys was captured in 


the survey’s introductory question, to facilitate separate analysis of specific sites, if warranted. Counts and 


frequencies were assessed and summarized, reviewed based on the combined sample, the survey 


completion type (online vs. physical venue) and the combined total of all respondents who had ever 


attended a city-run facility.  
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Survey Results 
 


A total of 956 surveys were completed, with 51.4% completing paper copies of the survey and 48.6% 


completing the survey online. The majority of all patrons surveyed were between the ages of 25 and 44 


years (45.5%). Patrons indicated they typically used arenas most frequently (30.0%) of all city facilities, 


and they did so a few or more times per week. As depicted in Figure 1, the majority of all respondents to 


both the online and in-person survey that accessed city facilities (82.5%) indicated they bring beverages 


from home for consumption when in city facilities. 


 
Figure 1. Proportion of city facility users that bring beverages from home into city facilities. 


 


Most patrons brought water in a refillable bottle (83.1%) and coffee and/or tea (64.7%). Figure 2 provides 


a summary of the types of drinks that facility users reported bringing from home. 


 
Figure 2. Proportion of types of drinks brought from home by city facility users. 
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A majority of all respondents who access city facilities (65.5%) have purchased drinks from vending 


machines in city facilities. Most frequently, they purchase one drink (81.2%) for either themselves 


(61.5%) or their children (50.6%). 


 


Sugar-Sweetened Beverages  
When asked about their opinions related to restricting the sale of specific beverages from beverage 


vending machines, depending on the method of answering the survey (online versus in-person) and the 


type of beverage to be restricted, the results vary. In general, all respondents indicated agreement on 


keeping the following beverages in the beverage vending machines: sports drinks, flavoured water, juice, 


iced tea, vitamin water and coffee beverages. All respondents shared stronger agreement in removing 


energy drinks with caffeine from the beverage vending machine. Of all respondents who completed the 


online survey and in-person survey who use city facilities, 48% indicated they agreed/strongly agreed to 


have pop and soft drinks removed. In comparison, 42% indicated they disagreed/strongly disagreed with 


the removal of pop and soft drinks from beverage vending machines. Figure 3 provides a summary of the 


responses for this question. 


 


 
 


Figure 3. Facility users’ opinions related to restricting the sale of specific beverages from beverage 


vending machines. 


 


Bottled Water 
In 2008, London City Council discontinued the sale of single-use bottled water in the City Hall cafeteria, 


from city-owned or city administered concessions and in vending machines in public facilities where easy 







MIDDLESEX-LONDON HEALTH UNIT – Beverage Vending Review 


9 


 


access to municipal tap water exists. Civic Administration consulted with many community stakeholders, 


including the Health Unit, to inform the development and implementation of the bottled-water ban. The 


Health Unit provided public health considerations both for and against bottled water. Namely, the Health 


Unit expressed concerns about discontinuing the sale of bottled water in city-run facilities where bottled 


SSBs remain to be offered for sale. If bottled water is not available, and access to or use of municipal 


drinking water fountains is limited, then the public may opt for drinks with high levels of sugar, limited 


nutrition value and a high acid content. The Health Unit highlighted that both the sugar content and the 


acidity of SSBs can have negative impacts on overall health. 


 


Therefore, public opinion was sought through this survey to determine whether or not the City should 


reconsider the single-use bottled water ban. Figures 4 and 5 outline facility users’ opinions related to 


single-use bottled water being made available for sale in city-run facilities within beverage vending 


machines and the reasons why respondents think single-use bottled water should be made available. 


 


 
 


Figure 4. Facility users’ opinions related to single-use bottled water being made available for sale in City 


of London facilities. 


 







MIDDLESEX-LONDON HEALTH UNIT – Beverage Vending Review 


10 


 


 
 


Figure 5. Facility users’ reasons provided to support the sale of single-use bottled water in City of 


London facilities. 


 


Of all respondents who access city facilities, 60.8% indicate they agreed/strongly agreed that single-use 


bottled water should be made available for sale in city facilities. In fact, of the respondents who 


completed the survey in person at city facilities, 62.7% agreed/strongly agreed with making bottled water 


available for sale. Facility users indicated that single-use bottled water should be made available because 


water is a healthy drink (67.2%), and that it should be made available in vending machines in case people 


forget to bring their refillable bottles or are unaware of the availability of water bottle-filling stations 


(75.3%).  


 


Of the 30% of facility users that disagreed/strongly disagreed with the sale of bottled water in beverage 


vending machines in city facilities, the majority indicated that water is available for free from water 


fountains and bottle-filling stations (64.6%), and that all single-use bottles are an environmental waste 


issue (64.1%). Some of these facility users (35.1%) also indicated that since they bring their own water 


from home to the facility, they would not buy it from a beverage vending machine. 


  


Snack Vending and Candy Machines 
While the purpose of the survey was focused on the issue of beverage vending, City staff solicited public 


input regarding the removal of snack vending and bulk candy vending machines. Facility users clearly 


disagreed with having snacks removed from the snack vending machines (66.3%); however, 58.1% 


agreed/strongly agreed with the removal of bulk candy vending machines from city-run facilities. 
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Evidence-Informed Recommendations: Behaviour and Policy 
Considerations 
 


A healthy food environment in city-run facilities provides healthy options that can improve dietary 


behaviour while making it easier for consumers to make the healthier choice for themselves and their 


families. The following evidence was collected from a literature search focused on policies affecting 


beverage vending machines and influencers of beverage choice behaviour from vending machines. Three 


databases were searched—Medline, PsysInfo and ERIC—highlighting the issues, interventions, settings 


and outcomes. Full search strategies, including a full list of terms used, are available from the authors. 


 


Availability of Foods and Beverages in Vending Machines 


 


An individual’s food and beverage selections are directly related to hunger level, rather than health 


outcome (Olstad, Goonewardene, McCargar & Raine, 2015). The environment in which food is provided 


can make it challenging for people to make healthy choices, depending on what types of food are 


available for consumption at these sites. Individuals who are influenced by environmental factors to 


unintentionally make less healthy choices may have a higher risk for becoming overweight or obese 


(Harrington, 2008; James, Thomas, Cavan & Kerr, 2004; Johnson, Bruemmer, Lund, Evens & Mar, 2009; 


Minaker, 2011; Shi, 2010). Municipally run facilities are priority settings for supporting healthy dietary 


behaviours among children, youth and families (Naylor, Olstad & Themen, 2015). 


 


Public Settings 
Vending machines have become a vehicle to increase the availability and convenience of unhealthy foods 


in public settings. Research findings show the availability of vending machines is positively correlated to 


vending machine use (Lawrence, Boyle, Carypo & Samuels, 2009; Park & Papadaki, 2016). The majority 


of food and beverage options in public settings are located in vending machines or canteens, but the 


opportunity to use such settings to promote and provide healthier dietary choices is often forgotten (Irby, 


Drury-Brown & Skelton, 2014; Olstad et al., 2015; Thomas & Irwin, 2010). Studies show that parents 


who frequent municipally run facilities, such as recreation centres, use vending machines to purchase 


foods and beverages mainly for their children and themselves (Thomas & Irwin, 2010). The majority of 


foods and beverages purchased from such venues are SSBs and high-energy snack foods. Many parents 


visiting recreational centres with their children also rely on snacks and beverages purchased from vending 


machines to replace meals (Irby et al., 2014; Olstad et al., 2015; Thomas & Irwin, 2010). Ongoing 


exposure and easy access to vending machines containing unhealthy foods and beverages influences 


dietary choices and makes unhealthy eating options more prevalent in these environments (Kelly, 2010; 


Shimotsu, French, Gerlach & Hannan, 2007).  


 


School Environments 
Students in an educational environment can easily access unhealthy foods and beverages from vending 


machines. The majority of snacks sold in vending machines are high in sugar, fat and saturated fats, and 


vended beverages are high in sugar (Ermetici et al., 2016). Findings from Park and Papadaki (2016) 


confirm that the accessibility and use of vending machines were positively associated with snacks and soft 


drinks consumed by students in school settings. Minaker (2011) explains that the presence of vending 


machines encourages children to adopt the habit of snacking and consuming SSBs. Furthermore, 


accessibility of vending machines also encourages students to bring similar unhealthy snacks and 







MIDDLESEX-LONDON HEALTH UNIT – Beverage Vending Review 


12 


 


beverages from home (Minaker, 2011). Fostering an unhealthy food environment in one location 


encourages equally unhealthy food environments elsewhere. 


 


A systematic review conducted by Matthews and Horacek (2015) reported that inaccessibility of vending 


machines to children, adolescents and adults reduced their purchasing of vended snacks and beverages. 


The food environment has a strong influence on individuals’ dietary habits; therefore, if healthy snacks 


and beverage choices are offered, individuals will improve their dietary choices. As shown in studies at 


public transportation sites and workplaces, it is difficult for individuals to make healthy choices when 


healthy products are not accessible in vending machines (Escoto et al., 2010; French et al., 2010; Kelly et 


al., 2010; Matthews & Horacek, 2015). It is clear that increasing the availability of healthier choices in 


vending machines can strongly influence individuals’ food and beverage purchasing in recreational 


settings (Irby et al., 2014; Olstad et al., 2015; Thomas & Irwin, 2010), and, by extension, other 


municipally run facilities. 


 


Nutrition Information (Food Labels) and Promotions (Advertisements and Logos) 
 


Food is often categorized in the literature as healthy or unhealthy based on the type of food (e.g., milk, 


vegetables/fruit), its nutritional content (e.g., sugar, sodium), or eating behaviours (e.g., moderation, 


balanced, variety) (Matthews & Horacek, 2015). Providing children, youth and families with information 


about healthy eating, along with the rationale for changes to the food environment in municipally run 


facilities, is necessary to modify their beliefs about the consumption of a healthy diet. For instance, 


Kocken (2015) demonstrated that factors in the school food environment, such as food labelling or 


product advertisements, influenced students’ consumption of SSBs, energy-dense foods, fruits and 


vegetables. A similar study by Wouters (2010) revealed that lower nutrition education was directly 


associated with higher consumption of soft drinks found in school vending machines. A systematic review 


reported that brand logos and product advertisements are positively associated with consumers’ 


purchasing decisions, specifically of unhealthy foods (e.g., salty snacks, candy and sugar-sweetened 


beverages) (Matthews & Horacek, 2015). Furthermore, nutrition labels and content claims had a direct 


impact on product knowledge and consumption (Matthews & Horacek, 2015). Current research confirmed 


that the use of educational posters was successful in promoting healthy, nutrient-dense products in 


vending machines (Ermetici et al., 2016). 


 


A major contributor to excessive energy intake is the increased consumption of SSBs commonly 


purchased from vending machines (Bergen & Yeh, 2006). In addition to the poor nutritional content of 


beverages sold in vending machines, the new mega-sizing of beverages is a phenomenon that has 


increased the amount of SSBs consumed. A study by Bergen and Yeh (2006) indicated the addition of 


energy-content labelling and motivational posters on vending machines was an effective strategy to 


influence beverage selections purchased from vending machines. As nutrition recommendations and 


guidelines are constantly evolving, it is difficult for individuals to remain informed about the most current 


information. Therefore, studies suggest that it is more worthwhile for policy makers to investigate the 


healthfulness of vended products, such as nutritional content and portion sizes, before offering them to the 


public (Mathews & Horacek, 2015). 
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Prices of Healthy versus Unhealthy Foods and Beverages  
 


Food environments and the growing accessibility of lower-priced, calorie-dense foods and beverages are 


key contributors to the obesity epidemic (Bergen & Yeh, 2006). Studies show that nutrition-dense 


products are usually perceived as more expensive than calorie-dense products, which seem to have a 


strong influence on individuals’ dietary choices (Matthews & Horacek, 2015). A study by French and 


colleagues (2010) showed lowering prices of healthy snacks in vending machines increased the sales 


volumes of healthy vended products at bus garages, similar to other studies conducted at schools and 


worksite settings. Schultz (2010) reports that multiple studies across the United States demonstrated 


continued revenue generation after imposing changes to the price of healthy vended products, and in some 


cases increased profit was seen with increased accessibility of healthy foods and beverages in vending 


machines. Kocken and colleagues (2012) found that a 25 to 50% price reduction of healthy vended 


products is the most effective strategy to increase the consumption of healthy foods and beverages, such 


as bottled water. Similarly, in a systematic review conducted by Grech and Iman-Farinelli (2015), price 


reductions on healthier options were successful in changing the purchases of adults and children, and 


produced a significant positive change in the purchase of the discounted items when the incentive was 


greater than 10%. Alternatively, Block and colleagues (2010) found increasing the price of soft drinks 


resulted in decreased sales of these products. Grech and Iman-Farinelli (2015) concluded that price 


incentives are an effective method for changing the buying practices of vending machine consumers. 


 


Pouring Rights Contracts, Sponsorship Agreements and Revenue  
 


Pouring rights contracts are common between schools, municipalities or other agencies, and soft drink 


companies, where funding is provided to these institutions in return for beverage companies being granted 


permission to sell and promote their beverage products. Most of the evidence focuses on pouring rights 


within the school setting. 


 


Pouring rights, and being exposed to unhealthy options and beverage industry marketing, are most 


contentious in schools, because this is a learning environment where children and youth spend the 


majority of their day. In Ontario, approximately all secondary schools and almost half of all elementary 


schools have vending machines (Minaker et al., 2011). The food and beverage industry provides 


incentives for schools to use highly accessible vending machines in promoting unhealthy beverage 


products, such as soft drinks, sports drinks and vitamin water. The food and beverage industry takes 


advantage of less fortunate schools where funding is needed, and schools in neighbourhoods where 


families have a lower socioeconomic status are more likely to permit sponsorship and promotion 


(Johnston, Delva & O’Malley, 2007). The result of pouring rights in these neighbourhood schools is the 


consumption of low-nutrient, energy-dense foods and beverages during children’s developmental years. 


Additionally, with greater exposure in a school environment to food industry logos, colours and other 


marketing efforts, children are more likely to develop “brand” and “taste” preferences, which may lead to 


the development of poor dietary habits and impact their health during adulthood (Johnston et al., 2007; 


Shi, 2010). 


 


Increasing the availability of healthier choices in vending machines can strongly influence individuals’ 


food and beverage purchasing in recreational settings (Irby et al., 2014; Olstad et al., 2015; Thomas & 


Irwin, 2010). Operators in these settings are often resistant to increasing healthy food and beverage 


options due to the preconceived notion that healthy foods are not revenue-generating (Olstad et al., 2015). 
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A recent study by Olstad and colleagues (2015) revealed the number of sales and revenue generated per 


customer was maintained when healthier vending machine products were introduced. This demonstrates 


the potential for mutual agreement and partnership benefits between public health and community settings 


to increase the accessibility of healthier vending machine products (Olstad et al., 2015). Research 


recommends public health officials review the strategies used by the food and beverage industry to make 


unhealthy food consumption the normative action in most environments. These strategies may assist 


operators at municipal facilities to increase sales of healthy products in vending machines (Olstad et al., 


2015). 


 


While pouring rights increase access to SSBs, the negative health impact of SSB consumption can be 


mitigated with wellness policies and nutrition guidelines to influence healthier choices, and is associated 


with lower SSB availability (Terry-McElrath, O’Malley & Johnston, 2011). The development of targeted 


nutrition guidelines for municipally run venues results in reduced SSB supplier involvement in choices 


offered (Terry-McElrath et al., 2011). 


 


Increased Availability of Water 
 


Childhood obesity prevention strategies require environmental changes that support children in making 


healthy choices. Whether at schools or in recreational/sports settings, children and youth engage in 


physical activities throughout their day. Physical activity triggers thirst and may increase children’s risk 


of dehydration (Chen & Wang, 2016). Studies have proven that the best rehydration choice in any sports 


venue is water, and schools are excellent at increasing the accessibility of water fountains to prevent 


adverse dehydration (Chen & Wang, 2016). However, the high availability of beverage vending machines 


containing SSBs may increase competition for water consumption and offset energy expenditure from 


physical activity (Chen & Wang, 2016).  


 


A recent study by Chen and Wang (2016) recommended the complete removal of vending machines 


containing SSBs from schools and the installation of more water fountains. Jones, Gonzalez and Frongillo 


(2009) found similar results. These researchers noted that children are three times more likely to purchase 


SSBs if they are available, regardless of whether healthy drink choices are available. If the availability of 


SSBs was eliminated, students would purchase and consume fewer SSBs. Providing alternatives to SSBs 


is not as effective as completely eliminating their availability (Jones, Gonzalez & Frongillo, 2009). 


 


Aside from the availability of SSBs, children’s decisions to use water fountains were dependent on water-


quality factors, such as taste, temperature and colour. The concern with water quality found in water 


fountains was later addressed by suggesting the substitution of SSBs in vending machines with single-use 


bottled water. A number of studies indicate that allowing bottled water and other healthy beverages in 


vending machines in schools and recreation facilities encourages patrons to purchase healthier options, 


with preference for water (Ermetici et al., 2016; Irby et al., 2014; Johnston, Delva & O’Malley, 2007; 


Olstad et al., 2015; Park & Papadaki, 2016; Wiecha, Finkelstein, Troped, Fagala & Peterson, 2006; 


Wordell, 2012).  


 


A summary of key considerations contained within the evidence is available as Appendix C. 
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Selected Lessons from the Field: What have other municipalities 
done? 
 


Recommendations for comprehensive, district-wide policy in coordination with professional education, 


community-identified tools and technical assistance can translate into sustained, healthy food 


environments (Mozaffarian et al., 2016). Cradock and colleagues recommend policies that promote 


community-wide changes to make healthier beverage options more accessible on city-owned properties. 


 


The Ontario Society of Nutrition Professionals in Public Health (OSNPPH) has developed a list of 


essential elements of a healthy recreation food environment (OSNPPH, 2016), which has been adapted 


and utilized at a number of municipally run facilities in Ontario and possibly beyond. Below are some 


examples of municipalities that have implemented changes to the food environment in their municipally 


run facilities. 
 


Blandford-Blenheim (Oxford County), Ontario 
This collaborative project with the Blandford-Blenheim arena in rural Oxford County (Oxford County 


Public Health, 2016) demonstrated that a healthier food environment is financially feasible and can be 


achieved by implementing a number of different actions, such as: strategic product purchasing and menu 


planning to increase availability of healthy foods and beverages; decreasing availability of unhealthy 


foods and beverages; ensuring competitive pricing of healthier foods and beverages; and effectively using 


product placement and promotional strategies. 


 


The Blandford-Blenheim recreation facility experienced an increase in revenue and success in 


implementing the recommendations of the healthier recreation concession project. 


 
Kingston, Frontenac and Lennox & Addington (KFL&A) Public Health 
The KFL&A Recreation Centre Food and Beverage Survey Report (KFL&A, n.d.) provided staff at that 


agency with information pertaining to: recreation centre patrons’ food and beverage purchasing 


behaviours; patrons’ perceptions of food and beverages available in recreation facilities; and patron 


acceptance of healthier alternatives that could be sold in recreation centres. This information helped 


KFL&A staff to understand user opinions, anticipate barriers and identify opportunities to change the 


food environment. 
 
The results of their survey indicate public support for increasing the availability of healthy food and 


beverages in public recreation centres. The results also identify many opportunities to improve the food 


environment to meet patron demands along with the potential to influence the health of recreation centre 


patrons. 
 
KFL&A Public Health identify five recommendations that support recreation centres in improving their 


food environments: engagement with key stakeholders, including municipal recreation departments, 


recreation centre management, food service providers and vending operators; employment of a phased 


approach to increase the availability of healthy choices in recreation facilities; addressing identified 


patron preferences; providing promotional tools to promote healthy choices; and advocating for policies 


that support healthy food and nutrition environments in recreation centres. 
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City of Toronto: Parks, Forestry and Recreation 
In 2011, Toronto’s City Council started a process to change the food environment in Toronto recreation 


settings, which was supported by political leadership and collaboration between the health department and 


the city. Their process included voluntary participation in a project to offer and promote healthier food 


and beverage choices at concessions: a request for proposal (RFP) process for cold beverage vending 


machine contracts that included a requirement for 50% healthier beverage choices; an RFP for a new 


snack vending machine contract that included a requirement for 20% healthier snack choices across the 


city (with a progression to 50% healthier snack choices); and a 100% healthy vending choices pilot 


project in twenty recreation settings in Toronto. 
 
Though a number of barriers to achieving healthy food environments in recreation settings were cited, the 


Toronto City Council adopted the RFP for the operation of beverage services for cold drink vending 


machines and pouring within Parks and Recreation facility locations. For more information about the City 


of Toronto’s cold beverage vending report, please review their staff report (City of Toronto, 2011). 
 
Lucan Biddulph (Middlesex County), Ontario 
Changes to the food environment at a recreation facility in Lucan Biddulph, Ontario, occurred over three 


years through a process of change that focused on: gaining greater control over municipally run facilities; 


education of council, staff and citizens; taking specific action to affect the food environment within this 


setting; and working with suppliers to provide improved and competitive pricing. 
 
Results in this municipality included: elimination of advertising of non-nutritional foods; removal of 


candy machines, a slushy machine and a nacho machine; reduction in the number of beverage vending 


machines from three to one; reduction in the size of selected snack and beverage portions available; 


increases in the price of pop to offset the lower price of single-use bottled water; implementation of a 


water bottle-filling station in a common location in recreation facilities; and the addition of milk, 


chocolate milk, fruits and eggs to the concession stand menu. For additional information about this 


project, please contact the author of this report. 
 
King County, Washington, USA 
In King County, one local board of health developed a policy approach for healthy food access through 


vending machine guidelines, and reviewed its impact and approach. They found that the guidelines and 


recommendations provided “policy guidance” in settings where the board of health does not have any 


regulatory authority, and facilitated the opportunity to create a healthy beverage environment within 


municipally run settings frequented by children, youth and families. For more information about this 


approach, please review the work by Quinn and colleagues (2015). 
 
Boston, Massachusetts, USA 
This project implemented and evaluated the impact of the Healthy Beverage Executive Order for all city 


agencies. The project provided policies to support access to healthy beverages on city-owned properties to 


make the healthier choice the easier one. For more information about this approach, please review the 


work by Cradock and colleagues (2015). 
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Additional examples from other municipalities can be found in Appendix D. 
 


Policy Options for Municipally Run Facilities 
 
In Australia, Miller and colleagues (2014) implemented a policy approach called Better Choice, with the 


goal of improving the food and drink supply in public sector health facilities. This program increased 


supply and promotion of healthy foods and drinks and decreased supply and promotion of energy-dense, 


nutrient-poor choices in all food supply areas of municipally run facilities. Better Choice is one example 


of the implementation of a public policy approach to improving the food and drink supply in complex, 


real-world settings. This is also an effective way to support healthy dietary behaviours and body weights 


among children (Naylor et al., 2015). 


 


Policy Options for the City of London 
Targeting the food environment in schools, workplaces, recreation facilities, community centres and other 


locations where children, youth and families live, work, play and learn is an important strategy that has 


gained considerable appeal in the public health community over the past several years (Garner et al., 


2014). Health promotion activities are central to the mission of the Health Unit. Consequently, this report 


outlines policy options which have an opportunity to enhance the food environment to improve health 


outcomes. The following policy options are informed by the survey results, the review of the evidence and 


lessons learned from other municipalities. Whichever policy option is selected and implemented, the 


Health Unit recommends that it be supported with a comprehensive implementation plan, including a 


communication campaign to maximize reach and impact. 


 


Snack Vending, Bulk Candy Vending and Concession Stands 
While the scope of the review was limited to beverage vending, there was an opportunity to gauge public 


support for changes to snack and bulk candy vending machines that are available in most city-run 


facilities. Given the level of public support (58.1% agree/strongly agree), the Health Unit recommends 


that the bulk candy vending machines be removed. The removal of these machines will reduce the 


distribution of bulk candy—candy that is nutrient-poor and very high in sugar (e.g., gumballs, hard 


candies, chocolate snacks, etc.). 


 


The results of the survey related to snacks (e.g., gum, chips, chocolate bars, peanuts, etc.) indicate that the 


snack food environment requires further review and discussion prior to making changes to snack vending 


machines. There was clear disagreement (66.3% of respondents who access city facilities) to remove 


snack vending machines from city facilities. However, a healthy food environment in city-run facilities 


would have a significant, positive impact on the health and behaviour of children, youth and families in 


our community. A review of the food environment within city facilities, specifically addressing snack 


food options within vending machines and concession stands, could be of benefit. The report highlights 


the unique role that municipal governments and health units can play in influencing the food environment 


to make the healthy choice the easy choice; therefore, the Health Unit recommends continued 


collaboration with City staff. 


 


Beverage Vending Options 
Policy Option #1: Remove all beverage vending machines 


This option meets Health Unit recommendations to eliminate the distribution of SSBs in city-run facilities 


and encourages facility users to drink tap water from fountains and at bottle-filling stations. The removal 
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of beverage vending machines will help to reduce consumer confusion around those SSBs that are 


marketed by the beverage industry as “healthier” beverages (“health washed”), because they will no 


longer be available for sale. From a health perspective, sports drinks, vitamin water and juices also 


contribute to the negative health effects of too much sugar in the diet, and should not be labelled 


“healthy” or “healthier” compared to soft drinks and energy drinks. The drink of choice for hydration and 


health is plain water. Since all single-use bottles generate waste, the removal of vending would have a 


positive impact on reducing the City’s generation of plastic bottle waste. 


 


The key challenge with this policy option relates to public perception about consumer choice. Removing 


all vending machines may be interpreted by some facility users as removing choices from parents, and 


leaves no drink options available except for water fountains, water bottle filling stations and concession 


stands (when available). However, 82.5% of facility users are already bringing beverages of their choice 


from home to city facilities. The removal of beverage vending machines would send a clear message that 


all sugary drinks are known negatively to impact the health of its facility users and that facility users are 


encouraged to choose water from water fountains and bottle filling stations to satisfy thirst. 


 


Removing all beverage vending machines also results in a small loss of revenue. However, if the City of 


London stops receiving funds from the sale of beverages that increase the risk of unhealthy weights and 


other chronic diseases, this aligns with the City of London’s strategic plan to work with the Health Unit to 


promote and protect the health of the community. This also aligns with other City-supported community 


initiatives that are currently promoting the health benefits of drinking water and reducing the consumption 


of SSBs, such as the Healthy Kids Community Challenge. Decreased distribution of SSBs by the City of 


London would demonstrate leadership in promoting health and creating healthy environments for families 


from London and surrounding communities who are accessing programs and services.  


 
Policy Option #2: Beverage vending machines with single-use and reusable bottled water only 


This option enables the City of London to continue to generate revenue through beverage vending sales, 


while promoting the consumption of water—the healthiest beverage option. The majority of facility users 


(60.8%) would like single-use bottled water to be made available for sale in city facilities, both because it 


is a healthy choice and for those instances when people forget their own water or are unaware of the 


availability of water fountains/water bottle filling stations. 


 


The environmental impact of adding single-use bottled water to beverage vending machines needs to be 


considered. The purchase of bottled water may increase, generating additional plastic bottle waste, 


contrary to the intent behind the bottled-water ban instituted in 2008. However, it is important to note that 


all bottled beverages for sale in beverage vending machines generate waste, and many facility users 


reported bringing their own water from home in a refillable bottle (83.1%). Therefore, even with the sale 


of bottled water in beverage vending machines, the net volume of plastic bottle waste may in fact decrease 


because of the removal of all other SSBs. The concern about waste could further be mitigated with 


increased availability of reusable water bottles at city facilities, and by exploring whether or not water in 


reusable water bottles could be sold from the vending machines. 
 
Last, the increased availability of bottled water may call into question the safety of the municipal water 


supply by the public. It would be necessary to mitigate this potential misperception with a strong 


educational campaign that promotes water fountains and bottle-filling stations within city facilities. 
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Overall, there are long-term positive health impacts by including only single-use and reusable bottled 


water in the vending machines, and it is supported strongly by the evidence as a means to increase 


awareness about the health risks associated with consumption of SSBs and the health benefits of drinking 


water. While the bottled-water issue is complex, this policy option should be considered.  
 


Policy Option #3a: Remove all pop and energy drinks from beverage vending machines and add single-


use and reusable bottled water at discounted prices. Decrease serving sizes of remaining SSBs and 


increase the price of SSBs 


This policy option calls for the removal of pop and energy drinks from beverage vending machines. The 


removal of pop and soft drinks is supported by facility users, with 48% indicating that they 


agreed/strongly agreed to have them removed, versus only 42% who disagreed/strongly disagreed. 


Respondents shared even stronger agreement in removing energy drinks with caffeine (63.5%). The 


removal of these particular SSBs sends a clear message to children, youth and families that these drinks 


are unhealthy and should not be distributed at city facilities. At the same time, the addition of low-cost, 


single-use and reusable bottled water to vending machines will help to reinforce the fact that water is the 


healthiest drink choice. The sale of SSBs in smaller-sized bottles at higher cost would help to decrease 


sugar consumption and reinforces healthy-eating messaging that SSBs should be consumed sparingly. 


 


The literature recommends providing water at a lower cost compared to SSBs in the beverage vending 


machine (French et al., 2010; Grech & Iman-Farinelli, 2015; Kocken et al., 2010; Schultz, 2012). Water 


should be at most half the price of SSBs. Not only would a less expensive option be appealing to the 


public, but returning water to the beverage vending machine is supported by the survey results. 


 


This policy option, however, is not without its own challenges. Because there is no agreed-upon definition 


by health experts of the term “healthy” as it relates to vending machine options, it will be difficult to 


decide and consistently implement changes to this food environment. For example, if vitamin water and 


sports drinks are kept in the beverage vending machines, SSBs will still be readily available for 


consumption. The removal of some SSBs and leaving others for sale is sending an incorrect message 


about the health benefits of sports drinks, vitamin water and other SSBs. This approach encourages 


“health washing” of so-called “healthier” beverage vending machine choices. 


  


This policy option has some identified challenges from a health perspective and has been identified in the 


evidence as potentially problematic; however, there are benefits as it relates to facility users’ freedom of 


choice, portion control and public education around the health risks associated with pop and energy 


drinks. In addition, it may be more appealing from a business perspective, and is in line with the results 


from the survey. Further exploration of the unintended consequences of “health washing” and how this 


policy option would be monitored would be required if this direction were chosen. 


 


Policy Option #3b: Remove all pop and energy drinks from beverage vending machines and decrease 


serving sizes of remaining beverages 


The sale of single-use and reusable bottled water within vending machines is complex, as outlined in 


Policy Option #2; therefore, this policy option may yield some potential positive health impacts, while 


eliminating both the benefits and challenges related to the sale of bottled water. Overall, the potential 


positive health impact of this policy option is lower than Option #3a, because water, as the healthiest 


choice, is not being added; however, it may be worth consideration as an intermediate action that could be 
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taken by Civic Administration. This policy option allows for a more robust review of the bottled water 


ban, while implementing some changes that will improve the food environment at city facilities. 


 


Policy Option #4: Add single-use bottled water to beverage vending machines, keep all other SSBs 


available for sale and price SSBs higher than water  


In reality, water is the healthiest beverage option in beverage vending machines (that do not also sell 


lower-fat white milk) and should be made available to those who do not have a refillable water bottle 


available or who choose to refrain from drinking directly out of fountains. Adding water back into the 


beverage vending machines provides choice to the consumer while generating additional revenue for the 


City of London. 
 
As recommended in the literature, water should be available at most half the price of SSBs in beverage 


vending machines (French et al., 2010; Grech & Iman-Farinelli, 2015; Kocken et al., 2010; Schultz, 


2012). A less expensive option is appealing to the public and the availability of water in beverage vending 


machines is supported by the survey results. 
 
The environmental impact of adding single-use bottled water to beverage vending machines needs to be 


considered. The purchase of bottled water may increase, generating additional plastic bottle waste; 


however, it is important to note that all bottled beverages for sale in beverage vending machines generate 


waste, and many facility users reported bringing their own water from home in a refillable bottle (83.1%). 


Therefore, even with the addition of bottled water to beverage vending machines, the net volume of 


plastic bottle waste may in fact balance, as those who had previously purchased SSBs switch to the 


purchase of bottled water. This potential consequence could further be mitigated by increased availability 


of reusable water bottles at city facilities, and the exploration of whether or not water in reusable water 


bottles could be sold from the vending machines. 
 
Last, the increased availability of bottled water may call into question the safety of the municipal water 


supply by the public. It would be necessary to mitigate this potential misperception with a strong 


educational campaign that promotes water fountains and bottle-filling stations within city facilities. 


Overall, long-term positive health impacts can be achieved by adding single-use bottled water into the 


vending options, which would aid in shifting the culture and perception of healthy drinks in this food 


environment. This policy option is worth consideration given the results of the survey and the potential 


health benefits.  
 


Policy Option #5: Status quo—beverage options remain the same 


While this policy option is the easiest to implement and would yield no loss in revenue and no increase in 


cost to the City of London, it does nothing to create a healthier food environment within city-run 


facilities. Further, the survey results indicate that facility users are ready for some changes to be made to 


drink options available within beverage vending machines. Failure to implement any changes would be 


ill-advised, especially when steps were taken to solicit public input and the documented benefits 


associated with municipal policy change are significant.  
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Recommended Policy Option: Remove All Beverage Vending 
Machines 
 


After careful consideration of the survey results, the review of the evidence, lessons learned from other 


municipalities and the five policy options, the Middlesex-London Health Unit recommends that the City 


of London remove all beverage vending machines from city-run facilities (i.e., Policy Option #1). A 


summary of the rationale for why this policy option is the preferred approach for the City of London is 


provided in Table 2. 


 


Table 2. Summary Rationale for the Removal of All Beverage Vending Machines within City of London 


Facilities 


 


Rationale for the Removal of Beverage Vending Machines 


• The majority of London facility users (82.5%) bring beverages of their choice from home. 


• SSBs are the single largest source of sugar in the diet. 


• Eliminating the sale of all sugary drinks from vending machines, including sports drinks, vitamin water and 


juices, sends a consistent message that all sugary drinks contribute to the negative health effects of too much 


sugar in the diet. This approach avoids “health washing,” which labels some SSBs as “healthier” than others. 


• Water is the best choice to satisfy thirst, to stay hydrated and to feel energetic and alert. 


• Plain tap water is safe and easily accessible to children and adults, both at home and in city-run facilities from 


water fountains and bottle-filling stations. 


• When children are encouraged to drink water at a young age, they are more likely to drink water later in life. 


• Children with high intakes of SSBs are more likely to be overweight or obese. Each additional SSB consumed 


per day increases a child’s risk of becoming obese by 60%. 


• The sugar in SSBs promotes bacterial growth and the acid in carbonated drinks weakens teeth, which can lead 


to cavities. 


• The removal of beverage vending machines will reduce the number of plastic bottles that find their way into 


recycling and waste systems. This approach supports the City’s current ban on the sale of bottled water. 


• Decreased distribution of SSBs by the City of London demonstrates leadership in promoting health and 


creating healthy environments for those families who access programs and services. 


 


Sugar consumption is a major public health concern, with SSBs being the single largest contributor of 


sugar to children’s diets (Langlois & Garriguet, 2011). Excessive intake of sugar has been linked to 


obesity, type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular disease, dental caries, metabolic syndrome and a lower intake of 


nutrient dense beverages, such as milk (Standing Senate Committee, 2016; WHO, 2015). In children, a 


higher intake of SSBs increases the risk of overweight or obesity by 55% (Te Morenga, Mallard & Mann, 


2013). Just over 25% of Ontario youth aged 12–17 and almost 64% of Middlesex-London adults self-


report being overweight or obese (CCHS, 2014). 


 


In addition to physical health, dietary choices impact mental health, cognitive function, the ability to focus 


and sleep patterns. The evidence shows that healthy children perform better academically, have better 
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attendance and behaviour at school, and enjoy improved concentration, memory and mood (CDC, 2014). 


Properly nourished children are more likely to grow and develop into healthy, active adults (Ontario 


Ministry of Child and Youth Services, n.d.). 


 


Food and drinks sold in recreation centres, schools, variety stores and workplaces have a significant 


influence on diet and health (National Collaborating Centre for Environmental Health (NCCEH), 2014). 


Individuals who are influenced by environmental factors to make less healthy choices may have a higher 


risk for becoming overweight or obese (Harrington, 2008; James, Thomas, Cavan & Kerr, 2004; Johnson, 


Bruemmer, Lund, Evens & Mar, 2009; Minaker, 2011; Shi, 2010). Improvements to the food environment 


are a priority for reducing the prevalence of unhealthy weights and improving health. Municipally run 


facilities, specifically, are priority settings for supporting healthy dietary behaviours among children, 


youth and families (Naylor, Olstad & Themen, 2015). Municipally run facilities often serve as community 


hubs and have the ability to reach and impact a broad cross-section of the population, including higher-


need individuals and families. These facilities have the opportunity to help set the foundation for lifelong 


healthy lifestyles. 


 


In school environments, accessibility of vending machines encourages students to bring similar unhealthy 


snacks and beverages from home (Minaker, 2011). Fostering an unhealthy food environment in one 


location encourages equally unhealthy food environments elsewhere. This relationship likely translates to 


municipally run-facilities, whereby accessibility of vending machines in city facilities also promotes 


unhealthy food choices in other settings.  


 


Removing all beverage vending machines is recommended from a health perspective, rather than 


increasing the proportion of “healthier” beverages, the approach taken by other select municipalities. 


Children are more likely to report purchasing SSBs if they are available, regardless of whether healthy 


drink choices are available or not (Chen & Wang, 2016; Jones, Gonzalez & Frongillo, 2009). Providing 


alternatives to SSBs, including water, is not as effective as completely eliminating their availability (Chen 


& Wang, 2016; Jones, Gonzalez & Frongillo, 2009). As such, researchers recommend the complete 


removal of vending machines containing SSBs and the installation of water fountains (Chen & Wang, 


2016; Jones, Gonzalez & Frongillo, 2009). This change in support of healthy environments for children 


has already begun in the City of London, with the removal of beverage vending machines from most, if 


not all, local elementary schools. 


 


There are concerns with increasing the proportion of “healthier” beverages in vending machines, instead 


of removing all beverage vending machines. Classifying certain beverages as healthier because they 


contain less sugar than beverages with the highest sugar content, typically soft drinks, is misleading. This 


practice, often used in beverage marketing by the beverage industry, encourages “health washing” of 


certain beverages, leading to the consumer misconception that these beverages are healthy. From a health 


perspective, sports drinks, vitamin water and juices are still SSBs, and, like all SSBs, contribute to the 


negative health effects of too much sugar in the diet. The beverage of choice for hydration and health is 


plain water. 


 


Over 60% of City of London facility users surveyed supported the sale of single-use bottled water in city 


facilities. When facility users decide to purchase a beverage from a vending machine, they want the 


choice to purchase a healthy option (i.e., plain water) instead of an SSB. From a health perspective, water 


is the ideal beverage choice. However, from an environmental perspective, single-use water bottles 
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contribute to environmental concerns, which previously led the City of London to discontinue the sale of 


single-use water bottles from public facility vending machines, replacing it with easy access to municipal 


tap water (e.g., water fountains). All single-use bottles, however, require fossil fuels for their production 


and transport, and contribute to plastic bottle waste, regardless of the type of beverage they contain. The 


total removal of beverage vending machines would have a positive impact from both a health and an 


environmental perspective. 


 


Removing all beverage vending machines may be interpreted by some facility users as removing choices 


from parents and leaving no beverage options available except for municipal water sources (e.g., water 


fountains) and concession stands (when available). However, 82.5% of facility users are already bringing 


beverages of their choice from home to city facilities. The beverages most often reported to be taken to 


these facilities included water in a refillable bottle, coffee, or tea. This common practice of facility users 


bringing beverages from home offers families the opportunity to make their own beverage choices, 


supports the health of their families and is more cost-effective than paying premium vending machine 


prices. 


 


As stated in the current Strategic Plan, the City of London is committed to working with the Health Unit 


to promote and protect the health of the community. Decreased distribution and sale of SSBs by the City 


of London would demonstrate leadership in promoting health and creating healthy environments for 


families from London and the surrounding communities who are accessing programs and services. This 


also aligns with other City-supported community initiatives that are currently promoting the health 


benefits of drinking water and reducing the consumption of SSBs, such as the Healthy Kids Community 


Challenge.  


 


Next Steps and Conclusions 
 
This report outlined the results of the public input survey, summarized a review of the literature and an 


environmental scan, and provided policy options for consideration by Civic Administration on how best 


to make improvements to the food environment in city-run facilities. After careful consideration of the 


policy options, the Health Unit recommends that the City of London remove all beverage vending 


machines and bulk candy vending machines from city-run facilities. It is recommended that a more 


comprehensive review of the snack food environment be initiated to explore snack food vending and 


concessions to identify opportunities to further improve the food environment in these important 


community hubs. 
 
The City of London prides itself on being a leader in public service collaboration and innovation, and has 


identified health promotion and protection as a strategic priority. This report clearly outlines the potential 


long-term health benefits that could be achieved by eliminating the distribution of SSBs through beverage 


vending machines. Appendix E provides additional information, in a question-and-answer format, about 


the health risks associated with the consumption of SSBs and the benefits of reducing the availability of 


SSBs in publicly funded settings. 


 
The survey results show the majority of patrons of city facilities are already bringing their own beverages 


from home, most often water in a refillable container. However, the results also show that there is support 
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for the continuation of the sale of certain sugary drinks, including sports drinks, vitamin waters and juices. 


This indicates the misconception that some sugary drinks are needed for hydration during physical 


activity, or that these are “healthier” choices. This is an opportune time for the Health Unit to work 


collaboratively with the Healthy Kids Community Challenge initiative and the City of London to engage 


in public education activities that: promote municipal water as the beverage of choice; address the “health 


washing” of various SSBs; and make known the health risks of excessive sugar consumption. There is a 


lack of awareness regarding the health risks associated with the consumption of all SSBs, and a lack of 


consumer awareness regarding beverage industry marketing practices. Providing children, youth and 


families with information about healthy eating, along with the rationale for changes to the food 


environment in city-run facilities, is necessary to modify beliefs about what constitutes a healthy diet. 


 


When implementing health promotion policies, like making changes to the food environment in 


community hubs such as city-run facilities, the impact of policy changes is significantly enhanced when 


supported by a comprehensive communication strategy. In 2017, the Health Unit will work 


collaboratively with the City of London’s Healthy Kids Community Challenge initiative and the City’s 


Parks and Recreation Department to implement an education campaign in and around arenas, aquatic 


centres and community centres to make known the health risks associated with the consumption of SSBs 


and the benefits of water. The Health Unit is also committed to working with the Healthy Kids 


Community Challenge partners to support the upcoming 2017 theme of increasing vegetable and fruit 


intake because of the importance of the food environment as a whole. 


 


City facilities, like arenas, recreation centres and City Hall, are vital hubs within our community and they 


can positively impact the health and wellness of children, youth and families. These settings are ideal for 


the promotion of a healthy food environment, and since food and beverages sold in recreation centres and 


workplaces have been recognized as having a significant influence on diet and health (NCCEH, 2014), 


improvements to the food environment remain a priority for the Health Unit. The Health Unit is 


committed to continuing its work in collaboration with the City of London, now and into the future.
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Appendix A – Survey Tool 
 


City of London Beverage Vending Machine Review – SURVEY 
 


www.surveymonkey.com/r/city-of-london-beverage-vending-machine-review 
 


What is the purpose of the survey?   


• The City of London is reviewing what drinks are available for purchase from their vending machines and 


would like to seek input from city residents who use these facilities. 


How will the results be used?   


 


• We want to know what you think about the types of drinks that are available for sale from vending 


machines at city facilities, including arenas, aquatic centres, Storybook Gardens, community centres and 


the City Hall cafeteria to help us make the best decision for our city. 


• The results will be made available in a report that will be posted on the Middlesex-London Health Unit’s 


website and presented to the City of London’s Community and Protective Services Committee in 


December. 


What will I be asked to do?   


 


• The survey will take approximately 5 minutes to complete.   


• You may decline to answer any question.   


• This survey is voluntary and responses will be kept confidential.   


Data Storage and Questions about this Survey  


 


Survey responses are stored by Survey Monkey® and not by the Middlesex-London Health Unit or the City of 


London, and are governed by the Survey Monkey® Terms of Use.  Survey data may remain on Survey Monkey® 


servers for up to 12 months and are subject to the laws of a jurisdiction outside of Canada.  


 


Any questions about the survey can be directed to: 


 


Linda Stobo, Program Manager 


Chronic Disease Prevention and Tobacco Control Team 


Middlesex-London Health Unit 


Tel: (519) 663-5317 ext. 2388 


Email: linda.stobo@mlhu.on.ca  
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Please select where this survey is being completed. Please check (����) one only.  


 
���� Argyle Arena 


���� Canada Games Aquatic Centre 


���� Carling Arena 


���� Carling Heights Community Centre 


���� City Hall Cafeteria 


���� Farquharson Arena 


���� Glen Cairn Arena 


���� Kinsmen Arena and Community Centre 


���� Lambeth Arena and Community Centre 


���� Medway Community Centre/Ray Lanctin  


 


���� Nichols Arena 


���� North London Community Centre 


���� Oakridge Arena 


���� Silverwoods Arena 


���� Stronach Arena and Community Centre 


���� Storybook Gardens 


���� South London Community Centre 


���� I completed this survey online and not in a city 


facility. 


 


 


1a. During a typical year, how often do you go to any of the following city facilities? 


(Please check (����) in the appropriate box for each facility) 


 


 Never Once a 


year 


A few 


times a 


year 


Once a 


month 


A few times 


a month 


Once a 


week 


A few or 


more times 


a week  


Arenas        


Aquatic 


Centres 


       


Community 


Centres 


       


Storybook 


Gardens 


       


City Hall 


Cafeteria 


       


 
2. What is your age? 


� 17 years old or under 


� 18 to 24 years old 


� 25 to 44 years old 


� 45 to 64 years old 


� 65 years old or older 


� Prefer not to answer 


 


3a. Do you bring beverages from home into city facilities (e.g., arenas, aquatic centres, community 


centres, Storybook Gardens, City Hall cafeteria)?  


� Yes (if yes, proceed to 3b) 


� No (if no, skip to 4a) 
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3b. If yes, what do you bring with you? Please check (����) all that apply. 


� Water in a refillable bottle 


� Water in a single-use bottle (e.g., Aquafina, Dasani, Nestle, store-brands, etc.) 


� Coffee and/or tea 


� Fruit-flavoured Water 


� Energy Drinks 


� Hot chocolate 


� Iced Tea 


� Juice 


� Pop 


� Sports drink (e.g., Gatorade) 


� Vitamin Water 


� Other (please specify) _______________________________________ 


 


4a. Have you ever purchased drinks from vending machines at city facilities (e.g., arenas, aquatic 


centres, community centres, Storybook Gardens, City Hall cafeteria)? 


� Yes (if yes, proceed to 4b)  


� No (if no, skip to 5) 


 


4b. If yes, at your last visit to a city facility, how many drinks did you purchase from beverage 


vending machines? 


� One 


� Two 


� Three or more 


 


4c. For whom were these drinks purchased? Please check (����) all that apply. 


� Self 


� Children 


� Other family members (e.g., spouse, partner, extended family) 


� Friends 


� Other (please specify): ________________________________________ 
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5. Please indicate the level at which you agree or disagree with the following statements by 


placing a check mark (����) in the appropriate box: 


 


5a. The following drinks should not be available for sale from the vending machines at city 


facilities (e.g., arenas, aquatic centres, community centres, Storybook Gardens, City Hall 


cafeteria). 


 


 
Strongly 


Agree 
Agree Disagree 


Strongly 


Disagree 
Unsure 


Pop and soft drinks 


(e.g., Pepsi, Diet Pepsi, 


7UP, Mountain Dew, 


Ginger Ale, and Dr. 


Pepper) 


     


Sports drinks (e.g., 


Gatorade) 


     


Fruit flavoured water 


(e.g., Perrier Lime, 


Aquafina Plus) 


     


Juice (e.g., Dole, 


Ocean Spray, 


Tropicana Orange, 


Lemonade, Apple, or 


Cranberry) 


     


Iced tea (e.g., Lipton, 


Lipton Green, Lipton 


White) 


     


Vitamin Water 


     


Coffee beverages (e.g., 


Starbucks 


Frappuccino, 


Starbucks Ice Coffee, 


Starbucks Refreshers) 


     


Energy drinks with 


caffeine (e.g., AMP) 


     


 


  







 


34 


 


5b. Snacks (e.g. gum, chips, chocolate bars, peanuts, candy, etc.) should not be available for sale from 


snack vending machines at city facilities (e.g. arenas, aquatic centres, community centres, Storybook 


Gardens, City Hall Cafeteria).  


 


Strongly Agree Agree Disagree Strongly Disagree Unsure 


     


 


5c. Bulk candy (e.g. Jawbreakers, Gum Balls, Chews, Runts, etc.) should not be available for sale from 


candy vending machines at city facilities (e.g. arenas, aquatic centres, community centres, Storybook 


Gardens, City Hall Cafeteria). 


 


Strongly Agree Agree Disagree Strongly Disagree Unsure 


     


 


6. In 2008, a decision was made by the City of London to stop the sale of single-use bottled water from the 


City Hall cafeteria and from city-owned or city-operated concessions and vending machines in public 


facilities. Please indicate the level at which you agree or disagree with the following statements by 


placing a check mark (����) in the appropriate box: 


 


6a. Since city-owned or operated facilities have water fountains and water bottle filling stations,   


there should be no beverage vending machines in these facilities. 


 


Strongly Agree Agree Disagree Strongly Disagree Unsure 


     


 


6b. Single-use bottled water should be made available for sale in the City Hall cafeteria and in 


beverage vending machines in city facilities (e.g., arenas, aquatic centres, community centres, 


Storybook Gardens and City Hall). 


 


Strongly Agree 


(Proceed to 6c) 


Agree 


(Proceed to 6c) 


Disagree 


(Skip to 6d) 


Strongly Disagree 


(Skip to 6d) 


Unsure 


     


 


6c. If you agreed or strongly agreed with the above statement, why?  


(Please check (����) all that apply) 


� All bottled products contribute to waste, not just single-use bottled water. Water should not 


have been removed from the vending machine. 


� Water is a healthy drink so bottled water should be made available as a choice. 


� Bottled water should be available in case people forget to bring water with them or are 


unaware of the locations of water stations. 


� Other (please specify): _____________________________________ 


 


 (Skip to End) 
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6d. If you disagreed or strongly disagreed with the above statement, why? 


(Please check (����) all that apply) 


� I don’t buy anything from the beverage vending machine so it doesn’t matter to me. 


� There are water fountains and water bottle filling stations available for free so I would not pay 


to get water from the vending machine. 


� I always bring my own water to the facility with me so would not buy it. 


� All single-use bottles are an environmental waste issue. 


� Other (please specify): ____________________________________ 


 


  


Thank you for taking the time to complete the survey! 
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Appendix B – Data Collection Quotas per Location 
 


City Facility 
Annual Visits Proportion of Total 


Survey 


Quota 


Argyle Arena 215,000 6.79% 27 


Canada Games Aquatic Centre 300,000 9.47% 38 


Carling Arena 108,000 3.41% 14 


Carling Heights Community Centre 125,000 3.95% 16 


City Hall Cafeteria 146,500 4.62% 18 


Farquharson Arena 173,000 5.46% 22 


Glen Cairn Arena 99,000 3.12% 12 


Lambeth Arena and Community Centre 191,000 6.03% 24 


Medway Community Centre/Ray Lanctin 146,500 4.62% 18 


Nichols Arena 314,000 9.91% 40 


North London Community Centre 75,000 2.37% 9 


Oakridge Arena 150,000 4.73% 19 


Silverwoods Arena 124,000 3.91% 16 


Stronach Arena and Community Centre 447,500 14.12% 56 


Storybook Gardens 135,000 4.26% 17 


South London Community Centre 150,000 4.73% 19 
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Appendix C – Recommendations Summarized from the Evidence 


 


Vending Machine 


Options 
 


Offer healthy snacks and beverages in vending machines to enable consumers to make 


healthier choices when eating and drinking away from home. 


 


When revising options available for vending machines, evaluate the healthfulness of 


proposed products based on nutritional content, portion size and price before agreeing to 


make them available to the public. 


 


Work with food industry representatives to increase the availability and accessibility of 


healthier vending machine products, specifically reinstating single-use bottled water as a 


priority option in vending machines. 


 


Water 
 


Offer single-use bottled water at a discounted price compared to sugar-sweetened beverages 


and beverages that are nutrient-poor (e.g., pop, diet pop, sports drinks, vitamin water, fruit 


drinks, energy drinks, sweetened tea and coffee beverages, and energy drinks). The discount 


should be at 50% less than the unit cost for the other beverages to encourage a change in 


buying practices. 


 


Remove SSBs from the beverage vending machine and replace with single-use bottled 


water. 


 


Policy 


Development 
 


Review existing wellness policies and nutrition guidelines that have been successfully 


implemented, evaluated and monitored in municipally run facilities. 


 


When implementing a policy change, ensure that there is a comprehensive implementation, 


monitoring and communications plan to maximize reach and impact. 


 


Education 
 


Implement educational posters to promote healthy, nutrient-dense products available in 


vending machines, as well as municipally available water. 
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Appendix D – Lessons from the Field: What have other 
municipalities done? – Additional Examples 
 


Health Unit Purpose  Target 


Population 


Key Elements and  


Resources Developed  
 


Algoma 


Public 


Health 


To increase 


healthy 


choices in 


recreation 


settings 


Children, 


youth and 


adults 


Surveys evaluating the food environment and 


consumer preferences. 


 


Reports (2015): 


http://www.algomapublichealth.com/media/2009/healt


hy-eating-in-recreational-faciitlies-a-review-of-the-


food-environment-in-algoma-march-2015.pdf  


 


http://www.algomapublichealth.com/media/2008/cons


umer-preferences-for-food-and-beverages-in-algoma-


recreation-facilities-in-algoma-report-nov-2015.pdf  


Grey Bruce 


Health Unit 


To raise 


awareness and 


help change 


attitudes 


toward food 


choices offered 


in recreation 


centres 


Municipal 


councillors, 


recreation staff 


and patrons 


Environmental scan report and online survey. 


 


88% would like healthier food and drink options 


available at recreational spaces. 


 


Recommendation: Report is not enough; recreational 


departments want help with deputations to council to 


speak to survey results and help convince council to 


support changing the environment. 


 


Next Steps: Create key messages document and 


talking points to counter any opposition and a 


presentation for council deputation. 


 
Report and Infographic (2016): 


https://www.publichealthgreybruce.on.ca/About-


Us/News-Releases/ArticleID/380 


Halton 


Region 


Health 


Department 


 


To investigate 


the food 


environment in 


recreation 


centres 


Recreation 


centre food 


environment 


managers and 


supervisors 


Goal: To establish a baseline of how food is procured 


in recreation centres and to determine if there is 


interest from recreation centres in working with the 


Health Department to make improvements in the food 


environment. 


 


Policy: To assist the City, as part of the Healthy Kids 


Community Challenge, to implement a Healthy Eating 


Policy for municipal facility vending and concession 


kiosks (needs City Council approval to move forward). 
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Haliburton, 


Kawartha, 


Pine Ridge 


District 


Health Unit 


(HKPR) 


To increase the 


availability of 


healthy foods; 


To address the 


placement, 


promotion and 


pricing of 


healthy foods 


Municipalities 


(i.e., Healthy 


Environments 


and Policy) 


Goal: To continue advocacy efforts with Community 


Centre to identify types of healthy foods that could be 


offered, placement of foods, pricing and point-of-


purchase promotion 


 


To support staff at the Centre, recruit volunteers and 


develop partnerships (i.e., sourcing suppliers that 


could provide healthy foods at reasonable prices, or 


securing funding to assist with promotions) 


Kingston, 


Frontenac 


and Lennox 


& Addington 


(KFL&A) 


Public 


Health 


To improve 


healthy food 


environments 


in municipal 


recreation 


centres 


Children, 


youth and 


adults 


Completed patron survey and recreation facility 


assessments. 


 


Meeting with recreation managers to plan 


improvements to food offered in canteen, vending 


machines, etc.  


 


City released request for proposal for “25% Choose 


Most / 25% Choose Less / 50% Not Recommended” 


criteria for vending machines, with language for 


position and pricing of “Choose Most / Not 


Recommended” items 


 


Report, Infographic and Promotional Material: 


https://www.kflaph.ca/en/The-Super-Snackables.aspx 


Niagara 


Region 


Public 


Health 


(NRPH) 


To help 


improve the 


food 


environment in 


recreation 


facilities by 


offering 


healthier food 


choices 


Children, 


youth and 


adults 


Report (2015): Received comprehensive evaluation of 


the second phase of the Fuelling Healthy Bodies 


program, completed by external consultants. 


 


Report noted many recommendations beyond the 


scope and capacity of NRPH public health. Loss of 


Healthy Communities Fund, which funds this 


program. 


 


Next Steps: With support of health promoter and 


policy analyst, explore a municipal policy approach, 


while continuing to support local vendors on a 


consultative basis. 


 
Fuelling Healthy Bodies: Healthy Eating Policy for 


Sports Teams: 


http://niagararegion.ca/living/health_wellness/healthyl


ifestyles/fuelling-healthy-bodies.aspx 


North Bay 


Parry Sound 


District 


Health Unit 


To help 


improve the 


food 


environment in 


Youth and 


adults 


 


Overview:  


• Advocacy letters distributed to all municipal 


recreational staff and managers in Jan 2016. 


• Food charter endorsed by many municipalities in 
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recreation 


facilities by 


offering 


healthier food 


choices 


2016.  


• Plan to work with health promoter to leverage 


charter in 2017. 


 


Long-Term Goal: To have municipalities implement 


policy related to healthy food options and a healthy 


eating environment in local recreation settings 


 


Request for Proposal (2016): 


http://www.myhealthunit.ca/en/partnerandhealthprovid


erresources/resources/rfp-2016-01-general-insurance-


and-risk-management-services-program.pdf 


Oxford 


County 


Public 


Health 


Healthier 


Recreational 


Concession 


Pilot Project, 


sustainability 


and expansion 


plans 


Children, 


youth and 


adults 


Three pilot projects and evaluations for year one 


complete. 


Worked with city concession to introduce healthy 


menu for summer 2016 (sold > 1,300 units healthy 


product in two months). 


Next Steps: Share pilot project results and 


recommendations with recreational managers and 


municipalities to inform their plans and decision 


making for food provision and operational costs. 


Continue working on menu implementation with local 


Agricultural Society (local berry and dairy suppliers 


for smoothies). 


 


Evaluation Reports: 


http://www.oxfordcounty.ca/Partners-


professionals/Reports-and-publications 


Peel Public 


Health 


Healthy Food 


Policy and 


Environments 


Children, 


youth and 


adults 


The Peel Healthy Eating Recreation Organization 


(HERO) evolved into three municipality based 


projects: Brampton, Mississauga and Caledon. 


 


Common Elements: 


• Using Peel Nutrition Guidelines (“Healthy” food 


and drink and “Other” categories). 


• Developing Foods Offered and Used master list 


(packaged foods, ingredients and recipes). 


Nutrition Pitfalls: Vending Machines and Workplaces: 


http://www.peelregion.ca/health/workplace/employees


/eating/busy-vending.htm 


 


Healthy Vending Machine Choices: 


http://www.peelregion.ca/health/workplace/health/eati
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ng/vending.htm 


Peterborough 


Public 


Health 


(formerly 


Peterborough 


County City 


Health Unit) 


To explore 


opportunities 


to work with 


municipal 


recreational 


centres on 


healthy eating 


initiatives; 


To promote 


water in 


municipal 


recreation 


centres 


County arenas Goal: To improve vending with beverages that align 


with PPM 150 and encourage water consumption. 


 


Start with one pilot municipal recreation centre. 


 


Goal: To offer healthy beverage options and promote 


water consumption in recreation facilities. To develop 


a healthy food and beverage policy. 


 


Install water bottle filling stations at county centres 


and city arenas. 


 


Food Policy Report (2011): 


http://www.foodinpeterborough.ca/wp-


content/uploads/2014/07/844_Food+Policy+CFN+Rep


ort+March+2011.pdf 


Sudbury and 


District 


Health Unit 


(SDHU) 


 


To create 


supportive 


environments 


that make the 


healthy choice 


the easy choice 


Children, 


youth, adult 


influencers and 


key decision 


makers  


Annual Report (2015): 


https://www.sdhu.com/uncategorized/2015-annual-


report-community-first 


 


No Time to Wait: Healthy Kids in the Sudbury and 


Manitoulin Districts (Change the Food Environment: 


SDHU Grade = C+): 


https://www.sdhu.com/resources/research-


statistics/research-evaluation/reports-knowledge-


products/no-time-wait-healthy-kids-sudbury-


manitoulin-districts  
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Appendix E – Q&A: Sale of Sugar Sweetened Beverages on 
Municipal Property 
 


1) What are sugar-sweetened beverages? 
 


• Sugar-sweetened beverages (SSBs) are any beverages to which sugar has been added, including soft 


drinks, fruit drinks, sports drinks, sweetened tea and coffee drinks, energy drinks and sweetened milk 


or milk alternatives. 


 


2) What are the health concerns with drinking SSBs? 
 


• Excess sugar consumption is linked with poor health outcomes including heart disease, stroke, 


diabetes, high blood cholesterol, cancer and dental problems. 


• Beverages, including soft drinks, fruit drinks, juice and milk contributed to 44% of the average daily 


sugar intake of children and adolescents and 35% of adults’ average daily sugar intake.  


• Children with high intakes of SSBs are more likely to be overweight or obese. Each additional SSB 


consumed per day increases a child’s risk of becoming obese by 60%.  


• There is a clear link between drinking SSBs and risk of poor diets. When children drink more SSBs, 


they also drink less water and milk. 


 


3) What is the impact of SSBs on teeth? 
 


• The sugar in SSBs allows for bacteria growth that can lead to tooth decay. 


• The acid in carbonated SSBs can weaken teeth and lead to cavities.  


• When children drink soft drinks their risk of dental caries nearly doubles.  


 


4) Is there still a concern if people only have one SSB in a day or only once in a while? 
 


• To promote health, the World Health Organization (WHO), Canadian Diabetes Association and Heart 


and Stroke Association recommend limiting the intake of free sugars to less than 10% of daily calorie 


intake, which is about 10 teaspoons for a 1700 calorie diet. 


• One 355mL can of a typical SSB contains 10 to 12 teaspoons of sugar. 


• When children drink SSBs from a young age, they are more likely to prefer the taste of sugary drinks 


rather than enjoying plain water. 


 


5) Why is water the best choice for hydration? 


 


• Water contains no sugar, calories, additives, preservatives or caffeine.  


• In most cases, water is the best choice to replace water lost through physical activity. 


• When children drink water at a young age, they are more likely to drink water as they get older. 


• When children drink water instead of SSBs they are likely to take in fewer total calories per day. 


• Children who consume healthy diets learn better, perform better in school and socially and have more 


energy to be physically active. 


• Municipal tap water is a convenient and free source of hydration. 
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6) Why should the City of London remove beverage vending machines from their facilities? 


 


• Providing healthy environments fits with the City’s strategic plan to promote and protect the health of 


its residents. It positions the City as a role model for healthier food environments. 


• City facilities are often community hubs where families participate in recreation and should help 


promote lifelong healthy lifestyles. 


• Beverage vending machines contain mostly SSBs and contribute to an already high daily sugar intake, 


especially with local children and youth. 


• Consumers, particularly children, are more likely to buy and drink SSBs if they are available. 


• Most Londoners already bring their own drinks, mostly water in refillable containers, to City facilities. 


• Removing beverage vending machines encourages municipal water consumption.  


• This is a business decision to not profit from the sale of SSBs.  


• Removing beverage vending machines aligns with other City-supported community initiatives that are 


currently promoting the health benefits of drinking water and reducing the consumption of SSBs (e.g., 


the Healthy Kids Community Challenge).  


• By removing beverage vending machines, the City is supporting the health of Londoners and making 


the healthy choice the easy one for Londoners. Providing only municipal water at City facilities takes 


away the pressure to choose between water and less healthy, more expensive SSBs.  


 


7) Why can’t the City of London just add healthier choices into the vending machines? 


 


• Plain water and white milk are the only healthy drink choices for vending machines. All other vended 


beverages contain sugar, carbonation and/or artificial sweeteners. 


• For hydration and health, drinking water is most often the best choice before, during and after physical 


activity. 


• Consumers are more likely to choose a less healthy drink even when a healthier drink is available. 


• Selling SSBs with less sugar in the vending machines encourages the public to think these drinks are 


healthier or healthy, but they are still SSBs. 


• In 2008, the City of London was a leader by removing bottled water from City facilities and has the 


opportunity to continue to lead in reducing environmental waste from disposable plastic bottles. 


 


8) Why are you taking away my freedom to choose what I want to drink? 


 


• Most Londoners already bring drinks, of their own choice, to City facilities. 


• If they choose to do so, facility users may purchase drinks readily available for sale elsewhere. 


• The argument that facility users’ freedom to choose is being affected is similar to arguments used in 


the past against tobacco legislation. Selling SSBs is not in the best interest of the public, and therefore, 


it is appropriate for publicly-funded organizations to implement policies that create health promoting 


environments. 


  


9) What is the issue with 100% fruit juice? 


 


• The natural sugar in juice has a similar effect on teeth and overall health as sugar from other SSBs. 
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• It is recommended that children drink at most ½ cup (125 mL) juice per day. Juice containers 


commonly available from vending machines are much larger than this. 


• Eating a whole piece of fruit provides water and extra nutrients and is more filling than juice. 


 


10) What is the issue with artificially sweetened soft drinks (i.e., diet soft drinks)?  
 


• Like regular soft drinks, diet soft drinks provide no nutritional value. 


• Drinking artificially sweetened drinks can increase the desire for sweet tasting drinks, instead of 


enjoying plain water. 


• The acid in diet soft drinks can weaken teeth and lead to cavities. 


• The safety of artificial sweeteners is not well studied in children, especially if they consume a lot over 


time. 


 


11) What is the issue with vitamin waters or sweetened carbonated waters? 


 


• Vitamin waters and sweetened carbonated waters are still SSBs or contain artificial sweeteners. 


• Added sugar provides extra, unnecessary calories. 


• Vitamins commonly added to vitamin water are already adequate in the diets of the majority of 


Canadian children and adults. The body does not use the extra vitamins, but gets rid of them in the 


urine. 


• The acid in carbonated waters can weaken teeth and lead to cavities. 


 


12) Aren’t sports drinks the best choice for active people?  


 


• Sports drinks are SSBs that contain electrolytes.  


• The beverage industry promotes sports drinks as needed for hydration during and after physical 


activity. However, the need for extra electrolytes only occurs when physical activity is intense and 


longer than 1 hour or done in extreme heat.  


• For the typical child doing routine physical activity for less than 3 hours in normal temperature 


conditions, use of sports drinks in place of water is not needed. 
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Considerations for Vending Machine Beverages 


 


There are a wide range of beverage options available for vending machines, with different health 


issues depending on additives or ingredients. 


 


Additive or Ingredient Issue(s) 


Artificial sweeteners  Intensely sweet 


 Can increase desire for artificially sweet-tasting drinks and foods, 


instead of plain water and naturally sweet foods (e.g., fruit) 


 Safety is not well studied in children, especially if they consume 


a lot over time 


Caffeine  May cause jitteriness, nervousness, anxiety, gastrointestinal 


upset, tachycardia, insomnia and other negative impacts 


 Children are more sensitive to effects 


Carbonation  Acidity can weaken tooth enamel and lead to cavities 


Sugar (added or natural)  Contributes to excess sugar in the diet 


 Can promote bacterial growth and lead to cavities 


Note: All single-use beverage containers contribute to environmental waste concerns 


 


Vending Machine Beverages Available 


 


Water 


 


Plain water 


 Sugar-free, calorie-free 


 Best choice for hydration and to quench thirst 


 


Flavoured waters (e.g., Perrier, Aquafina, Nestle) 


 Usually contain added sugar, artificial sweeteners and/or carbonation 


 


Vitamin waters 


 Contain added sugar or artificial sweeteners 


 Vitamins commonly added are typically already adequate in the Canadian diet 


 


Milk or Soy-Based Drinks 


 


White milk or plain fortified soy beverage 


 No added sugar 


 Contain vitamins, minerals and protein (amount varies depending on product) 


 


Flavoured milks (e.g., chocolate milk) or flavoured fortified soy beverages 


 Contain added sugar or artificial sweeteners 


 Contain vitamins, minerals and protein (amount varies greatly depending on product) 







 


Fruit Based Drinks 


 


100% fruit or vegetable juices 


 Contain natural sugar 


 Contain vitamins and minerals (amount varies depending on product) 


 Vegetable juices contain sodium, which causes high blood pressure in excessive amounts 


(amount varies depending on product) 


 Container sizes currently sold in vending machines are larger than daily maximum fruit 


juice recommended for children (1/2 cup or 125 mL) 


 


Fruit drinks, fruit cocktails, or fruit punch 


 Contain added sugar and/or artificial sweeteners 


 Usually contain minimal amounts of vitamins and minerals 


 


Drinks that Contain Caffeine 


 


Energy drinks (e.g., AMP, Red Bull) 


 Contain added sugar or artificial sweeteners 


 May contain carbonation 


 Contain high amounts of caffeine  


 Contain other additives and herbal ingredients that may have negative impacts 


 Additional health concerns when combined with alcohol or physical activity 


 Not recommended for children or teenagers 


 


Iced tea (regular and diet) 


 Contain added sugar or artificial sweeteners 


 Contain caffeine 


 


Flavoured coffee or espresso beverages (e.g., iced coffee, Frappuccino) 


 Contain added sugar or artificial sweeteners 


 Contain caffeine 


 


Pop and soft drinks (regular and diet) 


 Contain added sugar or artificial sweeteners 


 Contain carbonation 


 May contain caffeine 


 


Other Drinks 


 


Sport drinks (e.g., Gatorade, Powerade) 


 Contain added sugar or artificial sweeteners 


 Added electrolytes and sugar are only needed when physical activity is intense and longer 


than one hour, or performed in extreme heat 
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So how do you get started? These steps should help.


“Your mission, should you choose to accept it…”
Public Health’s mission is well defined, “To improve the health of our communities through preparation, prevention, 
promotion and protection.”  While health is determined by many factors beyond personal health practices, such as 
income, education, social support networks and physical environments, there are many things individuals can do to 
help improve their health. 
So, let’s focus on you. Do you have a personal mission statement when it comes to your health? Most of us don’t, 
but perhaps it is time that we do.
What is a personal healthy mission statement? It defines who you are, how you will live and, most importantly, 
how you will treat yourself when it comes to your health. It provides clearness, commitment and focus in your life. 
It gives you a sense of purpose. It allows you to take control and to say no to unhealthy choices. It changes as 
you change. It is a powerful tool because it provides you with a roadmap to a healthy future, both mentally and 
physically, that is designed for you, by you.
A personal healthy mission statement can be as simple as wanting to feel better by committing to being more 
physically active or as ambitious as focusing on becoming as fit as an Olympic athlete. It may be that you want to 
reduce or quit smoking or drinking. It is up to you. Whatever you decide, writing it down makes it real.


Message from the Medical Officer of Health


1.	 Take an honest look at yourself
How healthy do you think you are now, both mentally and physically? Assess and reflect 
on all aspects of yourself. Get personal! Strengths? Weaknesses? Are you happy? 
Sad? Angry? Tired? Energetic? Good or poor exercise tolerance? Good or bad habits? 
What can you control? Decide what you think needs fixing and what doesn’t.  


2.	 Decide what ideal health would look like for you
What future self do you want to become? But, be realistic and honest about your 
vision of yourself and make it achievable. Set yourself up for success. Start with quick 
reachable wins. Take pride in each small step that will take you to the place where you 
eventually want to be.
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Dr. Jim Chirico


3.	 Determine why you want to do this
Knowing what motivates you can keep you focused and committed to achieving better 
health. It could be as simple as wanting to have more energy or feeling better. Or, it 
may be because you have a family history of diabetes or heart disease and you are 
determined to do all you can to reduce the risk factors that are under your control.


4.	 Define specific goals
Goals should be exact, measurable, achievable, results-focused and time bound. “It is my 
mission to …. I will do this by ….” For example, I am going to be able to walk two miles 
without stopping by the end of the month. Or, for the next month if I eat out it will only be 
healthy choices. Once achieved set a new goal. Remember to keep a journal of all your 
achievements. It could be a written, photo or video journal of your triumphs. You will be 
amazed at what you have accomplished. Take time to congratulate yourself and celebrate 
your successes. Share them with your loved ones.  


5.	 Write your healthy mission statement
Having completed the previous steps you are well on your way to creating your healthy 
mission statement. Keep it simple, clear and brief. A few sentences or a paragraph. It can 
be a statement or bullet points. It is not how you say it but what you say that is important. 
Be positive and confident.
This statement will guide your day-to-day actions and decisions and long-term goals to 
achieve personal health and growth. 


6.	 Refine your healthy mission statement
Several attempts may be necessary before you are happy with your statement. As you 
change and become healthier, so might your statement change.
Keep your healthy mission statement handy. Refer to it often. Every time you make an 
important health decision or choice let your healthy mission statement guide you.
Remember, you are not on this mission alone. While you are on your personal healthy 
mission, public health will be in your community advocating for your health. We may be 
visible, providing you with trusted support and information. We will also be behind the 
scenes, building healthy environments and policies that will support you in your journey. 
We are your accomplice on this mission and together, “MISSION POSSIBLE.”
(Adapted from How to Write a Personal Mission Statement in 8 Steps. Barrie Davenport)
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NIPISSING DISTRICT
Central Appointees		  Date Appointed/Term Ended
Mac Bain	 Municipal Appointee	 2015 to present
Dave Butti	 Citizen Appointee	 2014 to present
Stuart Kidd	 Citizen Appointee	 2014 to present
Nancy Jacko, Chairperson	 Citizen Appointee	 2014 to present
Tanya Vrebosch	 Municipal Appointee	 2014 to present
Eastern Appointee
Chris Jull	 Municipal Appointee	 2014 to present
Western Appointee
Guy Fortier	 Municipal Appointee	 2014 to present 


PARRY SOUND DISTRICT
North East Appointee
Heather Busch	 Municipal Appointee	 2014 to present
Western Appointee
Don Brisbane	 Citizen Appointee	 2014 to present
South East Appointee
Les Blackwell	 Municipal Appointee	 2015 to present


PROVINCIAL APPOINTEES
Rick Champagne	 Public Appointee	 2000 to 2016
John D’Agostino	 Public Appointee	 2016 to present
Mike Poeta, Vice-Chairperson	 Public Appointee	 2014 to present
John Stopper	 Public Appointee	 2013 to 2016


Board of Health


In 2016, our Board of Health (BOH) welcomed 1 new member, John D’Agostino, and 
had two members step down, Rick Champagne and John Stopper. The BOH elected 
Nancy Jacko as Chairperson and Mike Poeta as Vice-Chairperson. The BOH’s 
Finance and Property Committee re-elected John Stopper as Chairperson and Mac 
Bain as Vice-Chairperson. 
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Strategic Plan 2014-2018
Year three of our Strategic Plan saw progress related to each of our Strategic Priorities. Our Strategic planning 
involved 28 staff from 8 of our programs and services. Highlights from 2016 are indicated below.


1:	Foster Healthy Behaviours in Children and Youth
• 	 Initiated internal collaborative planning process focussed on child health.
•	 Initiated process to create a safe and positive space.
•	 Developed strategies to address food skills, as well as built environment and active transportation for school aged children.


		  2:	Promote Healthy Aging in Adults
		  •	 Created priority areas in our Healthy Living program (i.e., supportive environments, internal collaboration,  
			   community development, health equity, policy development and professional development) to better support  
			   healthy aging. 


				    3:	Expand Reach
			   	 •	 Completed internal scan of activities with a rural health component.
				    • 	 Developed research protocol to examine perceived health services needs of the homeless  
					     population in urban North Bay.
				    •	 Developed Communications Plan to build a lifetime relationship with our clients and community  
					     and to create brand consistency.          
				    •	 Determined capacity and resources to offer oral health services to low-income adults.   


              		   			   4:	Strengthen the Health Unit’s Organizational Supports		                
						      •	 Continued construction of our new building (345 Oak Street, North Bay). 
						      •	 Completed scan of internal health equity capacity. 
						      •	 Identified mapping software to enhance reporting of local-level data.
						      •	 Completed scan of our external partnerships.
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Priority 1 - Foster Healthy Behaviours in Children and Youth


A Baby-Friendly Workplace
Having been a Baby-Friendly Initiative (BFI) organization for five years, 
2016 was our year for re-designation. To receive this title, we had to meet 
standards set by the World Health Organization and the Breastfeeding 
Committee of Canada. This included an external review of our policies 
and resources, as well as interviews with staff and parents. 


Interviews with randomly selected postpartum mothers indicated that:


93%	 were offered help with breastfeeding within 48 hours of  
	 hospital discharge;


92%		 were given information on how and where to get help with  
	 feeding 	their babies after discharge from the hospital; and


82%	 who were using infant formula received information on how to  
	 safely prepare, store and use the formula.
  


We celebrated our re-designation and will continue to protect, promote 
and support a breastfeeding culture in our community.







Fostering Healthy Families  
The Triple P - Positive Parenting Program® is recognized as one of the world’s most effective 
parenting programs. The program is designed to give parents the skills they need to raise 
confident, healthy children and teenagers and to build stronger family relationships.


 “Before the course I knew some parenting but this has opened my eyes.  
I’m more relaxed, more positive, work with the kids, not against. The way  
I communicate is a lot better now, more positive. I understand how to  
manage my kids’ feelings.”  
(Dad, parenting seminar)


We had 1,693 home visits for parenting support through our Healthy 
Baby Healthy Children (HBHC) program. 


“The support I received was truly amazing, from weekly visits with 
activities, resources, work books, to daily phone calls from me 
about the most minute things. She was always kind, supportive, 
non- judgemental and always gave me the reassurance I 
needed to keep on going with my day. [Post-Partum Mood 
Disorder] PPMD is a very real and terrifying illness and I was 
so lost in this deep dark world. I can say with the upmost 
certainty that without Donna and this support I may not 
have survived that experience. When my second son was 
born I felt good and I had no fears. I did not suffer from 
PPMD this time and I believe that everything that Donna 
did for me with my daughter made this experience with 
my son so much more relaxed and enjoyable. I am now 
discharged from this program and I will always and 
forever be grateful for this service and the amazing, 
caring, knowledgeable women that this program 
brought into our lives!”  
(Client, HBHC program)
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Genetic Services  
This year, we received 350 referrals from health care providers for individuals and families with a variety of genetic concerns. 
Clinical Advisor, Dr. Chantel Morel, and a visiting Geneticist provided a total of twenty-one clinic days for referred clients. As part 
of our program, we:
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• assessed, tested and diagnosed genetic disorders;
• provided medical information and advised on genetic disorders;
• discussed the risk of developing a disorder and the risk of passing it on; and
• provided ways to prevent or to help people with a genetic disorder. 


Pertussis
A whooping cough (pertussis) outbreak was declared in the Municipality of 
West Nipissing in June. The total duration of the outbreak was 101 days. 
During this time there were 17 cases of whooping cough confirmed, with 
no cases hospitalized. The cases ranged in age from 8 to 46 years. To 
respond to the situation, we enhanced our surveillance and followed-up 
with individuals ill with symptoms of whooping cough, as well as their close 
contacts. To help protect the community, we held four immunization clinics in 
West Nipissing at which we vaccinated 272 individuals.
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We continued to expand the reach of oral health care to 
children in need. Through Healthy Smiles Ontario (HSO), 
a government-funded dental program, we provided free 
preventive, routine and emergency dental services for eligible 
children and youth 17 years of age and under from low-income 
households. We also assisted families who needed support to 
apply for the various streams of the HSO program. 


HSO Core Stream: Children whose families apply for the 
program and meet the income eligibility requirements. Children 
under Ontario Works, Ontario Disability Support Program and 
the Assistance for Children with Severe Disabilities Program 
are automatically enrolled in the HSO program and receive an 
HSO card in the mail. 


HSO Emergency and Essential Services Stream (EESS): 
Families whose children have urgent dental needs and 
indicate that they would suffer “financial hardship” in providing 
the necessary emergency and/or essential dental services. 
Children and youth enrolled in the EESS have access to a 
basket of dental services covered in the HSO Fee Schedule for 
one full year. 


HSO Preventive Services Only Stream: Families whose 
children are screened and identified as meeting the clinical 
eligibility criteria for preventive services. Families must confirm 
attestation of financial hardship and complete an application 
form for their children to receive a basket of preventive 
services for a one year period. Families must re-apply on an 
annual basis.


Non-Insured Health Benefits (NIHB) + Other: Includes 
children covered by NIHB for First Nations People, as well as 
individuals under the care of the Children’s Aid Society.


Healthy Smiles Ontario Dental Clinic 


Insurance Type	 Number of Clients	 Number of  
		  Appointments (%)


Healthy Smiles Ontario (HSO) Core Stream	 725	 1,756 (69%)


HSO Emergency and Services Essential Stream	 214	 523 (21%)	


HSO Preventive Services Only Stream	 153	 165 (6%)


Non-Insured Health Benefits (NIHB)+ Other	 42	 112 (4%)


TOTAL	 1,134	 2,556
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Safe and Positive Space
As part of our aim to promote healthy sexuality, we 
have committed to being a “Safe and Positive Space” 
for members of the LGBTQ+ community (Lesbian, Gay, 
Bisexual, Trans, Queer or Questioning). Our goal is to 
grow as a place that is open and welcoming, as well 
as equitable and accessible to persons of all sexual 
and gender diversities, both for clients and employees. 
To support this goal, we had a guest speaker from 
Rainbow Health Ontario present to staff about issues 
and barriers that are specific to the LGBTQ+ community, 
and to help build staff skills for providing equitable and 
comprehensive services to LGBTQ+ people.


Active Transportation to School
“Safe Routes to School” programs have been shown to increase walking to 
school by 3 to 70% and cycling by 15 to 114% (Stasiuk, Dubinski, Pope, & 
Paterson, 2013). To identify and address local barriers to active and safe travel 
to school for students, a School Travel Plan was developed with the Near 
North District School Board. This plan was piloted in two schools in the district 
(Alliance Public School and Vincent Massey Public School) with the goal of 
supporting students to actively travel to school in a confident and safe manner. 
As part of the pilot, we partnered with the Canadian Cancer Society to initiate 
a “Walking School Bus,” whereby a group of children walked together to school 
with one or more adult, following a set route and schedule. At the community 
level, other safe and active transportation activities included hosting road safety 
and cycling education events, identifying safe routes to schools, supporting 
student bike clubs and special bike event days.







10


Priority 2 - PROMOTE HEALTHY AGING IN ADULTS


Income and Healthy Eating
Each year, we calculate how much it costs to eat a basic healthy diet 
in our service area. In 2016, the cost for a family of four was $885 per 
month, an amount out of reach for many people in our area. 


Local monthly 
cost to feed 
a family of 4.$885


Food insecurity, not having enough money to buy healthy food, 
and income are strongly linked. The only long-term solution to food 
insecurity is to reduce poverty rates. In November, our Board of Health 
supported the concept of a basic income. A basic income would provide 
all adults, whether or not they are working, with enough income to cover 
the basic costs of living. The Ontario government will be testing this 
concept over the next three years. In the meantime, our Board of Health 
pushed for social assistance rates (Ontario Disability Support Program 
and Ontario Works) to be raised because we know that they are not 
adequate. To find out more about the Cost of Healthy Eating in 2016, 
visit: www.myhealthunit.ca/costofhealthyeating.


after monthly rent and food costs?


For heat, hydro, telephone, 
child care, transportation, clothing, 


out of pocket health costs etc.


Family of Four on Ontario Works Individual on Ontario Works


What is left


$2,245


- $1,131
INCOME


RENT


- $885
FOOD


+ $229
REMAINING


$780


- $550
INCOME


RENT


- $297
FOOD


- $67
MINUS BALANCE


Social assistance rates are inadequate 
All people should have access to a nutritious, 


adequate and culturally appropriate diet


12% of Ontario 
households are 
food insecure 12%



www.myhealthunit.ca/costofhealthyeating





Quit Smoking Supports 
We supported people who wanted to quit smoking through various programs, including 
workshops and our Quit Clinic. Eight “STOP on the Road” workshops were held in North 
Bay (six), Mattawa (one) and Sundridge (one). A total of 140 people participated in these 
workshops and were provided with five free weeks of Nicotine Replacement Therapy (NRT) to 
help them quit smoking. At our Quit Clinic we continued to offer one-on-one counselling and 
low-cost NRT to clients. In 2016, 147 smokers participated in this program, either as new or 
returning clients. While the Quit Clinic is available to all smokers, individuals from low-income 
households (<$30,000 annual after tax) continued to be the largest group accessing the Clinic 
(roughly 70% vs. 80% in 2015). Of our clients, 43% reported being unemployed and 28% were 
supported by the Ontario Disability Support Program. Over half (56%) of our clients identified 
as having been diagnosed with a mental illness, including depression, anxiety, schizophrenia 
and bipolar disorder, which is 10% higher than in 2015. 
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Preventing Infections in Long-Term Care Homes 
During Infection Control Week (October 17-23) we collaborated 
with the Infection Control Manager at Cassellhome, East 
Nipissing District Home for the Aged to plan and implement an 
infection control activity. The goal was to prevent the spread of 
infection to residents, health care providers, visitors and others. 
A portable cart was used to provide an “Infection Control Road 
Show” on units and facility areas. Managers, CEO, front line 
nursing, dietary and housekeeping staff were asked “What is 
your specific role in preventing outbreaks in the facility?” They 
wrote their answers down on paper in the shape of masks, 
gowns, needles, buckets and hands. The answers along with 
other infection control messaging formed a large wall display in 
the main corridor of the facility for all staff, visitors and residents 
to see. Cassellhome staff also participated in our Health Care 
Immunization Program.


Free Shingles Vaccine for 65-70 Year Olds
The risk of developing shingles increases as individuals get older. One 
in three Canadians will develop shingles in their lifetime and two out of 
three cases occur in individuals over 50 years of age. The severity of 
shingles and its complications increase with age. The vaccine, given as 
a single dose, is safe and effective for the prevention of shingles and 
its complications. Studies have shown that the vaccine reduces the risk 
of shingles by 51.3% and the risk of the burning pain that lasts long 
after shingles is gone by 66.5%. The vaccine’s effectiveness decreases 
considerably after age 70. In September 2016, Ontario began offering 
the shingles vaccine free of charge to seniors between the ages of  
65-70 years as part of the publicly funded immunization program. 
Between September 15 and December 31, we administered a total of 
141 doses of shingles vaccine to eligible seniors (97 doses in the North 
Bay office and 44 doses in the Parry Sound office).  An additional 2,280 
doses of shingles vaccine were distributed to health care providers in 
our district to administer.
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Working Behind the Scenes to Protect Health 
In public health, we often work behind the scenes to 
protect and improve the health of our communities. 
In 2016, our Public Health Inspectors (PHIs) and 
Tobacco Enforcement Officers (TEOs) conducted 3,993 
compliance inspections of public facilities across the 
district. This included restaurants, public pools and spas, 
personal service settings, small drinking water systems, 
public beaches, licensed child care centres, children’s 
recreational camps, special events, farmers’ markets 
and tobacco vendors. As a follow-up to compliance 
inspections, we completed 330 re-inspections. We 
promoted a public food safety campaign “Food Safety 
Made Easy” at some local farmers’ markets, where PHIs 
were there to answer food safety questions from the 
public and to provide resources.


Environmental Health


3,449 consultations to the public. 


178 complaints investigated.


140 adverse drinking water quality reports 
investigated. 


421 animal bites investigated. 


15 food handler certification courses offered  
with 338 participants certified. 


59 municipal beaches monitored for  
water quality.


1,225 beach water samples collected  
and signs posted at 2 beaches due to high  
bacteria counts.


32 human acquired ticks tested, with 1 tick  
from the North Bay area found to be positive for  
the bacteria that causes Lyme disease.
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Priority 3 - Expand Reach


Rural Health
The area serviced by our Health Unit 
spans over 17,000 km2 and has 
a higher percentage of people 
who live rurally compared 
to all of Ontario (>40% vs. 
14%). Rural residents have a 
higher number of health risks 
than people who live in urban 
regions and therefore finding 
ways to provide high quality 
programs and services to them 
is a priority. In 2016, nearly 80% 
(n= 484) of our planned activities had 
a rural health component. For instance, 
we supported community partners in rural areas by providing 
them with resources for falls prevention workshops and to 
identify people at risk for falls. We also developed a plan to 
reach a mom who required parenting support but was not able 
to access parenting classes at our North Bay office. Sexual 
health services were provided in rural high schools as most 
students cannot access our main clinics. These are just a few 
examples of how we strived to provide high quality programs 
and services to residents living in rural areas. We will continue 
to enhance our work so that all residents, regardless of their 
location, achieve their best health possible.
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Sexual Health
We had 9,058 client visits to our Sexual Health Clinic over the past year. Of these visits, 77% were female and 23% were male. 
Nearly 80% of clients were seen in our North Bay office, 12% in designated secondary schools across our district, 7% in our 
Parry Sound Office and less than 1% in our other branch offices (Mattawa, Sturgeon Falls and Burk’s Falls). The services offered 
at our Sexual Health Clinic include:


•	 Free Condoms                                          
•	 Low Cost Birth Control                   
•	 Pregnancy Testing                                     
•	 Pregnancy Counselling / Options (Parenting, Adoption, Abortion)                                    
•	 Pap Testing                                                 
•	 Emergency Contraceptive Pill  
•	 Sexually Transmitted Infection (STI) Testing / Treatment
•	 Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) Testing, including standard, 		
	 rapid, and anonymous testing
•	 Abstinence, Sexuality and Safer Sex Counselling
•	 Needle Exchange
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The Gateway Hub
Since 2013, over two dozen community agencies have been collaborating at the Community 
Mobilization North Bay Gateway Hub table. This group works to resolve high-risk situations 
before they get worse and more people are affected. The agencies work together to 
quickly identify which support services are required in each situation. Our Medical 
Officer of Health works with the North Bay Chief of Police to provide leadership and 
guidance to the Hub. We also collect and analyse the Hub data to try to pinpoint 
problems where community services and North Bay decision makers can focus 
their attention and direct resources. Our 2015 report highlighted, of the 187 
situations discussed:   


236 people were directly helped;
44% involved children;
34% reported domestic violence;
1,000+ risk factors were involved,  
with an average of six per situation;
the most common risk factors were: conflict between a parent 
and child (>40%), mental health risk factors – diagnosed mental 
illness (28%) and suspected mental illness (27%); and


4 community agencies on average were 
involved in each situation.
North Bay was the first community in Ontario to implement a 
Hub, serving as a model for other communities across  
the province. 
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Emergency Preparedness
All 31 municipalities in our service area are required to do emergency management training and exercises annually. Generally, 
the Emergency Control Group gathers at the municipal Emergency Operations Centre to review the emergency response plan 
and work through various emergency scenarios. The role of the group is to support the municipality’s citizens impacted by an 
emergency event as well as maintain municipal essential services during the emergency; considerations often vary dependent 
on the location of the municipality. 


The Emergency Control Group is composed of various stakeholder agencies such as police, fire, Emergency Medical Services, 
and includes our Medical Officer of Health (MOH). The Manager of Emergency Management attends the training and exercises 
on behalf of our MOH and the Health Unit. The training and exercises provide the opportunity to renew awareness and educate 
the municipal representatives and other stakeholders across the district about what the public health activities and capabilities 
are during an emergency event. 


Providing Information and Services to those in Need 
When people call or come into the Health Unit with questions, they are often greeted 
by one of our Public Health Nurses (PHN) in the Clinical Information office. In 2016, 
this program responded to inquiries and reached out to 1,989 clients. This included 
clients who live, work, and/or travel in rural and remote areas and are often difficult 
to reach. For example, two clients hitched an 80 km ride to North Bay to pick up drug 
use supplies through the Northern Points Exchange program. In response to the 
challenges these clients faced in getting to North Bay, we provided large quantities 
of supplies to meet not only the clients’ needs but also those of their friends at home 
who also used drugs. Building trust with these clients allowed for harm reduction 
education, promotion of services and sharing of information that in turn could be 
passed on to friends. In this way, accessibility to services was extended, peer 
support was enhanced and risks for infections were reduced. 
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Priority 4 – Strengthen the Health Unit’s Organizational Supports


Construction Underway at 345 Oak Street 
In February, the construction of our new building in North Bay broke 
ground. This building has been in the planning stages for many years 
to address inadequate and inefficient work space in our North Bay 
offices. We currently provide programs and services out of one main 
building and two additional office sites in the city. The new building will 
enable us to provide more coordinated services to the public, as well as 
appropriate accommodation for staff and programs. The overall project 
has been approved at a maximum cost of $20,000,000 (excluding land). 
We have been working closely with Tribury Construction and Mitchell 
Jensen Architects (project Consultant) to ensure success of the project 
and financial accountability. All costing and estimates received to date 
are within the allocated budget. 


With an estimated 51.8% of the construction complete, 
the projected move in date is summer 2017.


2014
Purchased land with Board of Health and 
majority approval from the 31 municipalities  
in our district 


2015 
Received Board of Health and majority  
municipal approval to proceed with construction 
Construction contract awarded to Tribury 
Construction (December)


2016
Building foundation work commenced (February)
Internal transition plan developed (February)
Internal committees formed to support 
transitional activities (May)







19


Cybersecurity
In 2016, cybercriminals attacked the healthcare sector more 
than any other industry, and for good reason. Healthcare data 
is unique and medical records can contain a lot of sensitive 
data a hacker would look for. A typical electronic health record 
can contain names and addresses of clients, email addresses, 
phone numbers, payment information, Social Insurance 
Numbers, employment information and medical history. Since 
these records contain a lot of exploitable information, the 
privacy and security of these records are critical. We saw high 
profile cases of healthcare organizations who were attacked 
through ransomware attacks, phishing attempts and malicious 
viruses. Our organization also saw an increase in phishing 
emails, malware and viruses, attempted exploits of servers 
and ransomware attacks.


To help mitigate some of the risks we took steps to develop 
an organizational cybersecurity strategy. We reviewed 
compliance with key ministry mandates (Municipal Freedom 
of Information and Protection of Privacy Act [MFIPPA] and 
Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act [FIPPA]) 
to ensure security and privacy of client records, reviewed 
our internal Information Technology (IT) security practices to 
ensure industry wide best practices and conducted internal 
information security risk evaluations of software and systems. 
We also educated staff through all staff meeting presentations, 
emails, and our Intranet on the types of cybersecurity threats 
that we faced and how to protect ourselves against them. 
We talked with our youth volunteers about cybersecurity 
and issues they face. By working with other healthcare IT 
organizations, we were able to share information and learn 
from their experiences as we worked toward staying ahead 
of threats. We will build upon the education and security 
foundation in place continuing to move the organization to a 
strategic, proactive approach to cybersecurity.
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Student Placements 
A number of student placements 
were coordinated in collaboration 
with educational institutions, 
managers and staff. We supported 
43 post-secondary unpaid 
students of which 23 completed 
an academic placement and 
20 worked with staff on health 
promotion projects. Students 
came from Master of Kinesiology, 
Bachelor of Science in Biology, 
Bachelor of Science in Nursing, 
Clerkship in Infection Control, 
High School co-op and Dietetic 
Internship programs. Some of our 
staff participated in a Public Health 
Ontario workshop to enhance 
their skills in working effectively 
with students. Evaluations from 
students and staff allowed us to 
improve the student placement 
opportunities and processes. 


One of our Public Health Nurses and a Nursing Student worked 
with a local radio personality to promote influenza immunization.







Communications
Last year was an eventful one with an outbreak of whooping cough, listeria, a tick testing positive 
for Lyme disease and of course – regular business. We kept the public up-to-date and informed 
via our website and social media outlets. 


Media 


34 News Releases, with the most common topics being; 
immunization information, nutrition and updates on  
Blue-Green Algae.


48 media requests; television (8), radio (14) and print (26). 
Our most requested topics were for information about our 
new facility at 345 Oak Street West, the whooping cough 
outbreak, and Blue-Green Algae. 


We were mentioned in at least thirty eight news stories  
over the year.


Social Media 
We kept our social media followers up-to-date on our 
programs and services, clinics, important information  
and community events that align with our core 
messages and values. 


Twitter: 165 tweets; 31 new followers; 
57 tweets from other accounts.
Facebook: 289 posts; 35 new page 
likes; 5 mentions from third parties. 


Website 
71,744 visitors (44,169 new visitors / 27, 575 returning visitors)
160,127 total page views  
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Research, Population Health Assessment and Surveillance 


Locally Driven Collaborative Projects
Public Health Ontario’s Locally Driven Collaborative Projects (LDCP) program supports public health  
units and other organizations to work together on research related to key public health issues. In 2016,  
we participated in three LDCPs.  


Evaluation Capacity Building LDCP
Now in Phase 2, this project aims to increase evaluation capacity in terms of individual skills, knowledge and attitudes.  
A Knowledge Translation (KT) framework has been created to improve uptake and use of research and evaluation results.  
Prior to the KT Framework being implemented at our Health Unit, survey results indicated that most of our staff were unaware 
that knowledge translation was more than a simple, one-way method of sharing findings. After introducing and discussing the  
KT Framework at program meetings, it became clearer to staff how knowledge could be summarized, distributed and exchanged. 
The post survey results indicated that 88% of staff agreed or strongly agreed that they were more aware of what the knowledge 
translation process entails and 83% were more aware of the importance of KT activities after an evaluation takes place. Next 
steps will consider staff training on specific KT components. 


Continuous Quality Improvement (CQI) LDCP
The Health Unit is a co-applicant on this project which focuses on understanding the current state of CQI in public health 
and how capacity can be supported within and across health units. A validated CQI Maturity Tool survey was implemented in 
34 participating health units in the fall of 2016, and a scoping literature review was also conducted to identify themes in the 
literature. Health unit specific reports have been disseminated and a provincial report is currently being prepared. The next 
phase of this project will be to use the results and learnings to develop resource materials for health units to enhance their  
use of CQI.


Food Literacy LDCP
This research project involves 17 health units, the Nutrition Resource Centre and an academic partner from the University 
of Waterloo. The research question is: Within the context of public health practice, how can we measure food literacy and its 
attributes? The project focuses on specific high-risk groups: youth (16 to 19 years of age), young parents (16 to 25 years of age) 
and pregnant women (16 to 25 years of age). 


The goal of the project is to lay the foundation for a tool that measures food literacy and its attributes within the public health 
context. The aim of the one-year funding is to identify and summarize the attributes of food literacy in the literature and to 
determine which attributes of food literacy are priorities for measurement and tool development. Next steps involve developing 
key indicators and developing a tool to measure food literacy as well as testing the tool with the identified target populations. 


As of 2016, the research consultants have been hired, the scoping review is complete and all three rounds of the consensus 
building “Delphi technique” are complete.
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Reports & Stats at a Glance


Community Mobilization:
	 • North Bay Gateway Hub: 	2015 Data Analysis Report


Health Behaviours:
	 • Tobacco use Among Students in Grades 7 to 12 in the NBPSDHU Region
	 •	 Alcohol use Among Student in Grades 7 to 12 in the NBPSDHU Region
	 •	 Cannabis use Among Students in Grades 7 to 12 in the NBPSDHU Region
	 •	 Other Substance use Among Students in Grades 7 to 12 in the NBPSDHU Region
	 •	 Self-Reported Alcohol Consumption During Pregnancy
	 • 	Gambling: A Snapshot of Gambling Behaviours & Activities Among Youth & Adults


Environmental Health:
	 • Food Skills Programming in the District of North Bay 
	 • Vector-Borne Diseases Report: 2015 Season
	 • 2016 Beach Sampling Report 


Infectious Diseases:
	 • Communicable Disease Control Report
	 • Sexually Transmitted Infections: A Snapshot of Chlamydia, Gonorrhea, Syphilis, HIV/AIDS, and Hepatitis B


Oral Health:
	 • Dental Care Behaviours of Adults in NBPSDHU 
	 • Oral Health Status of Adults in NBPSDHU



http://www.myhealthunit.ca/en/partnerandhealthproviderresources/resources/Reports__Stats/Gateway-Hub-2015-Report-FINAL.pdf

http://www.myhealthunit.ca/en/partnerandhealthproviderresources/resources/Reports__Stats/Tobacco-use-among-students-in-grades-7-to-12-in-the-NBPSDHU-region---2014-15.pdf

http://www.myhealthunit.ca/en/partnerandhealthproviderresources/resources/Reports__Stats/Alcohol-use-among-students-in-grades-7-to-12-in-the-NBPSDHU-region---2014-15.pdf

http://www.myhealthunit.ca/en/partnerandhealthproviderresources/resources/Reports__Stats/Cannabis-use-among-students-in-grades-7-to-12-in-the-NBPSDHU-region---2014-15.pdf

http://www.myhealthunit.ca/en/partnerandhealthproviderresources/resources/Reports__Stats/Other-Substances-use-among-students-in-grades-7-to-12-in-the-NBPSDHU-region---2014-15.pdf

http://www.myhealthunit.ca/en/partnerandhealthproviderresources/resources/Reports__Stats/Alcohol-Consumption-during-Pregnancy-2013-2015.pdf

http://www.myhealthunit.ca/en/partnerandhealthproviderresources/resources/Reports__Stats/Gambling---2007-08-Nov-2-2016.pdf

http://www.myhealthunit.ca/en/partnerandhealthproviderresources/resources/Reports__Stats/Food-Skills-Analysis-FINAL.pdf

http://www.myhealthunit.ca/en/partnerandhealthproviderresources/Environmental-Health.asp

http://www.myhealthunit.ca/en/partnerandhealthproviderresources/resources/Reports__Stats/2016-Beach-Report-Final.pdf

http://www.myhealthunit.ca/en/partnerandhealthproviderresources/resources/Infection%20Prevention%20&%20Control/AODA_Fact_Sheets/CDC_Report_2016_Final.pdf

http://www.myhealthunit.ca/en/partnerandhealthproviderresources/resources/Reports__Stats/Chlamydia---2006-2015.pdf

http://www.myhealthunit.ca/en/partnerandhealthproviderresources/resources/Reports__Stats/Gonorrhea---2006-2015.pdf

http://www.myhealthunit.ca/en/partnerandhealthproviderresources/resources/Reports__Stats/Syphilis--2006-2015.pdf

http://www.myhealthunit.ca/en/partnerandhealthproviderresources/resources/Reports__Stats/HIV.AIDS--2006-2015.pdf

http://www.myhealthunit.ca/en/partnerandhealthproviderresources/resources/Reports__Stats/Hepatitis-B--2006-2015.pdf

http://www.myhealthunit.ca/en/partnerandhealthproviderresources/resources/Reports__Stats/Adult-Access-to-Dental-Care_final.pdf

http://www.myhealthunit.ca/en/partnerandhealthproviderresources/resources/Reports__Stats/Adult-Oral-Health-Status_final.pdf
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Public Health Performance Indicators
The Health Unit has ongoing reporting requirements to the Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care as part of the Public Health 
Funding and Accountability Agreement (PHFAA) Indicators. The Public Health Funding and Accountability Agreement Indicators 
measures program delivery of select public health services. The Health Promotion Division includes 10 indicators and the 
Health Protection Division includes 21 indicators. The tables below lists each indicator name, the 2016 target and the 2016 
results. Indicators are classified as either Performance or Monitoring Indicators. Performance Indicators have annual targets 
for achievement whereas monitoring Indicators do not have targets and performance is reviewed by the Ministry to ensure that 
health units are meeting expectations.


Research Ethics Review Committee 
The end of 2016 saw the launch of an 
internal Research Ethics Review Committee 
(RERC). Consisting of 12 staff representing 
7 programs across the Health Unit, the 
purpose of this committee is to consider the 
implications of all research and evaluation 
projects that involve humans being conducted 
within the Health Unit and, if applicable, any 
research being conducted in collaboration 
with other partnering agencies/organizations. 
The committee meets on a bi-monthly basis 
to review and make collective decisions on 
submitted applications and act as a central 
resource to Health Unit staff on any research 
ethics inquiries.
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Table I: Health Promotion Indicators 


# Health Promotion Indicator	 2016 Target 2016 Results


1.1 % of population (19+) that exceeds the Low-Risk Alcohol 
Drinking Guidelines


Monitoring N/A ●


1.2 Fall-related emergency visits in older adults aged 65+ Monitoring N/A ●
1.3 % of youth (ages 12 – 18) who have never smoked a whole 


cigarette
Monitoring N/A ●


1.4 % of tobacco vendors in compliance with youth access 
legislation at the time of last inspection


≥ 90% 99.32% ●


1.5 % of secondary schools inspected once per year for 
compliance with section 10 of the Smoke-Free Ontario Act


100% 100% ●


1.6 % of tobacco retailers inspected for 
compliance with section 3 of the Smoke-
Free Ontario Act


Non-
Seasonal


100% 100% ●


Seasonal 100% 100% ●


1.7 % of tobacco retailers inspected for compliance with  
display, handling and promotion sections of the Smoke-Free 
Ontario Act


100% 100% ●


1.8 Oral Health Assessment and Surveillance: % of schools 
screened


100% 100% ●


% of all JK, SK and Grade 2 students screened in all publicly 
funded schools


100% 100% ●


1.9 Implementation Status of NutriSTEP® Preschool Screen Advanced Advanced ●
1.10 Baby-Friendly Initiative (BFI) Status Designated Designated ●







# Health Protection Indicator	 2016 Target 2016 Results


2.1 % of high-risk food premises inspected once every 4 months 
while in operation


Monitoring 100% ●


2.2 % of moderate-risk food premises inspected once every 6 
months while in operation


Monitoring 100% ●


2.3 % of Class A pools inspected while in operation Monitoring 100% ●
2.4 % of high-risk Small Drinking Water Systems inspections 


completed for those that are due for re-inspection
100% 100% ●


2.5 % of public spas inspected while in operation Monitoring 100% ●
2.6 % of restaurants with a Certified Food Handler (CFH) on site 


at time of routine inspection
Baseline 47.3% *


3.1 % of personal services settings inspected annually Monitoring 100% ●
3.2 % of suspected rabies exposures reported with investigation 


initiated within one day of public health unit notification
100% 100% ●


3.3 % of confirmed gonorrhea cases where initiation of follow-up 
occurred within two business days


Monitoring 100% ●


3.4 % of confirmed iGAS (invasive Group A Streptococcus) 
cases where initiation of follow-up occurred on the same day 
as receipt of lab confirmation of a positive case


Monitoring 100% ●


3.5 % of salmonellosis cases where one or more risk factor(s) 
other than “Unknown” was entered into the integrated Public 
Health Information System (iPHIS)


93.3% 100% ●
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Table II: Health Protection Indicators 







# Health Protection Indicator	 2016 Target 2016 Results


3.6 % of confirmed gonorrhea cases treated according to 
recommended Ontario treatment guidelines


Monitoring 48.6% ●


4.1 % of HPV (human papillomavirus) vaccine wasted that is 
stored/administered by the public health unit


Monitoring 3.1% ●


4.2 % of influenza vaccine wasted that is stored/administered by 
the public health unit


2.2% 0.1% ●


4.3 % of refrigerators storing publicly funded vaccines that have 
received a completed routine annual cold chain inspection


100% 100% ●


4.4 % of school-aged children who have completed 
immunizations for hepatitis B


Monitoring 71% ●


4.5 % of school-aged children who have completed 
immunizations for HPV (human papillomavirus)


Monitoring 56.3% ●


4.6 % of school-aged children who have completed 
immunizations for meningococcus


Monitoring 85.2% ●


4.7 % of measles, mumps and rubella (MMR) vaccine wastage Baseline 12.2% *
4.8 % of 7 or 8 year old students in compliance with the 


Immunization of School Pupils Act (ISPA)
Baseline 99.5% *


4.9 % of 16 or 17 year old students in compliances with the ISPA Baseline 96.4% *
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Table II: Health Protection Indicators 


●	 = Meeting or exceeding 2016 target 
●	 = Performance being monitored 


*	 = New indicator for 2016, establishing baseline
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Finance 


2016 Unaudited Expenditures by Program & Service
Program & Service	 Dollars ($)


Chronic Disease & Injury Prevention	 1,870,800.00


Organizational Supports	 1,938,300.00


Food/Water/Rabies/Other Environmental Hazards	 2,138,100.00


Building & Information Technology	 2,009,200.00


Dental Services	 1,379,300.00


Sexual Health	 1,539,900.00


Vaccine Preventable Disease	 1,400,900.00


Reproductive & Child Health, Healthy Babies	 1,863,900.00


Communicable & Infectious Disease Control	 1,132,800.00


Research & Quality Assurance	 817,800.00


Office of the Medical Officer of Health	 453,400.00


Smoking and Tobacco	 431,600.00


Genetics	 404,200.00


Communications & Community Information Office	 207,400.00


Vector Borne Disease	 166,100.00


Emergency Preparedness	 124,600.00


Building & Land	 2,758,900.00


Total Expense	 20,637,200.00
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Proclamation 


Human service organizations, health care professionals, educators, justice workers and the public are 
called to action to work together to reduce the occurrence of Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder (FASD). 
This can be done by increasing awareness and improving public efforts in the delivery of the preventive 
health message that women who are pregnant or who might become pregnant should abstain from 
drinking alcohol, and by collaborating to create environments that support this choice. In addition to 
these messages, we must increase awareness on how FASD may present in individuals across the 
lifespan and the ongoing need for services and support for individuals living with FASD.  


Whereas, there is no safe amount, no safe time, or no safe kind of alcohol that a woman can 
drink during pregnancy; and 
  


Whereas, the term “Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder” (FASD) describes the range of disabilities 
that can occur in an individual who was exposed to alcohol in utero/or during pregnancy; and  


 Whereas, prenatal alcohol exposure is the leading preventable cause of birth defects, such as 
physical and mental disability and behavioural and/or learning challenges; and 


Whereas, the exact number of people who have FASD is unknown, but it is estimated that about 
1 in 100 babies are born with effects of prenatal alcohol exposure annually; and 


Whereas, the lifetime cost for one individual with FASD is estimated at $1 million, covering 
education, health, social services and justice costs; and 


Whereas, about half of all pregnancies are unplanned meaning developing fetuses are 
inadvertently exposed to alcohol; and 


Whereas, people around the world began observing International FASD Awareness Day on 
September 9 each year beginning in 1999, in order that on the ninth day of the ninth month of the year, 
the world will remember that during the nine months of pregnancy it is important to abstain from 
alcohol; and 


Whereas, the good health and well-being of the people of PLACE are enhanced by the support 
of a national effort to educate about and prevent FASD through The Simcoe County FASD Prevention 
Committee of the Simcoe County FASD Initiative.   


NOW, THEREFORE, I, NAME, do hereby declare September 9, 2017 as “Fetal Alcohol Spectrum 
Disorder Awareness Day” in PLACE to promote awareness of the effects of prenatal exposure to alcohol, 
to increase compassion for those individuals so affected, to minimize further effects, and to ensure 
healthier communities in the future. 


Name 


Date 
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Item 9.17 Proclamation Letter


 
 
date 
(Name ) 
(Address ) 
 
Dear (Name) 


On behalf of the people of (Place) and the Simcoe County FASD Prevention Committee, I am writing to 
request that you officially proclaim FASD Awareness Day on September 9, 2017.  We will be joined by 
numerous communities across Canada, and around the world in proclaiming this day. 


Studies have found that one out of every 100 individuals in Canada are born with Fetal Alcohol Spectrum 
Disorder (FASD), affecting people of all ethnicities, income, and education levels. FASD is a term used to 
describe the range of disabilities that may affect a person exposed to alcohol during pregnancy. These 
disabilities may be physical, mental, behavioural, and/or learning challenges.  The condition has a big 
price tag. A recent study estimated the lifetime cost per person with FASD at $1 million, covering 
education, health, social services and justice costs. 


FASD is preventable. But prevention is not as simple as it seems. Many people don’t understand the 
possible effects of alcohol use during pregnancy. Even if they do understand the possible effects, it is 
estimated that up to 50 per cent of pregnancies are unplanned. Drinking may occur before the 
pregnancy is confirmed, exposing the developing baby to alcohol. 


The Simcoe County FASD Prevention Committee is a community partnership with the goal of building 
awareness and providing information and resources regarding FASD in Simcoe County. People around 
the world began observing International FASD Awareness Day on September 9 each year beginning in 
1999, in order that on the ninth day of the ninth month of the year, the world will remember that during 
the nine months of pregnancy a woman should abstain from alcohol.  
 
Thank you in advance for your time to consider this request. If you would like any additional information 
or presentations related to FASD, please feel free to contact me directly. 
 
Yours truly, 
 
 
 
 
Henrietta Carriere RN BNSc PNC(C) 
Chair Simcoe County FASD Prevention Committee 
Public Health Nurse, Reproductive Health Program 
Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit 
705-721-7520 ext. 7974 
henrietta.carriere@smdhu.org 



mailto:henrietta.carriere@smdhu.org




Item 4.1 Draft Minutes


Draft Minutes 
 


Item #4.0 
Board of Health 


Barrie Office 
March 15, 2017 


9:15 am – 12:00 pm 
 


Present: Scott Warnock (Chair), Thomas Ambeau, Ralph Cipolla, Anita Dubeau, Fred 
Hamelink, Steve Kinsella, BJ McCabe, Sergio Morales, Gail Mullen, Margaretta 
Papp-Belayneh, Terry Pilger, Ben Rattelade, Peter Willmott, Dr. Charles Gardner, 
Medical Officer of Health, Sandra Horney, Director Program Foundations & Finance 


 
Regrets:  Barry Ward (Vice Chair), Lynn Dollin, Sandy Cairns, Brian Saunderson 
 
Recorder: Marlene Klanert 
 


No.  Item Action/Motion 


1.0  Call To Order 


The meeting was called to order at 9:15 am 


 


 1.1 The Board Chair commended Ben Rattelade for 
his 14 years of service, Fred Hamelink for his 15 
years of service, and Margaretta Papp-
Belayneh for her 17 years of service on the 
Board of Health. 
All three members expressed their gratitude to 
the Board for the opportunity and experience 
that they have gained through their 
appointment. 


 


  Congratulations were expressed by the Board 
Chair to Gail Mullen for her reappointment to the 
Board of Health for one year to February 26, 
2018. 


 


2.0  Approval of the Agenda KINSELLA/AMBEAU 


THAT the Board of Health 
approve the agenda as 
presented. 


CARRIED 


3.0  Declaration of Conflict of Interest  


4.0  Minutes of Previous Meeting  


 4.1 Approval of Minutes from February 15, 2017. KINSELLA/HAMELINK 







 
THAT the Board of Health 
approve the minutes from the 
February 15, 2017 Board of 
Health meeting. 


CARRIED 


5.0  In Camera KINSELLA/AMBEAU 
THAT the Board of Health go in-
camera to discuss one HR and 
one Finance item. 
CARRIED 
 
CIPPOLLA/HAMELINK 
THAT the Board of Health come 
out of in camera and report. 
CARRIED 


 5.1 Finance Item. 
 


AMBEAU/HAMELINK 
THAT the Board of Health 
receive this briefing note as 
information;      
 
AND FURTHER THAT the Board 
of Health support the 
implementation of compensation 
adjustments to the salary range 
for the director position in 
keeping with Table 1. 
CARRIED 


 5.2 HR Item KINSELLA/AMBEAU 
THAT the Board of Health accept 
the report on Dr. Gardner’s 
performance appraisal. 
CARRIED 


6.0  New Business  


 6.1 Draft Standards for Public Health Programs and 
Services.  Briefing Note.  C. Gardner 
presented. 
 
 


KINSELLA/HAMELINK 
THAT the Board of Health 
receive this briefing note for 
information; 
 
AND FURTHER THAT the Board 
of Health support the 
development of a response to the 
draft Standards for Public Health 
Programs and Services by senior 
management based on the 







 
approach documented in this 
briefing note. 
CARRIED 


7.0  Advocacy  


 7.1 Tobacco End Game.  Briefing Note.  J. Loo, S. 
Rebellato, L. Zinkan-McKee, M. Kuhn and C. 
Gardner presented. 
 
Amendment to the motion.  The Association of 
Municipalities of Ontario and all Simcoe 
Muskoka Municipalities are also to be copied on 
both letters. 


MCCABE/MULLEN 
THAT the Board of Health 
receive this briefing note for 
information; 
 
AND FURTHER THAT the Board 
of Health write to the federal 
Minister of Health supporting the 
federal government’s proposal to 
commit to a target of less than 
5% tobacco use by 2035;  
 
AND FURTHER THAT the Board 
of Health recommend that the 
federal government’s approaches 
include those identified at the 
2016 summit, A Tobacco 
Endgame for Canada; 
 
AND FURTHER THAT the Board 
of Health write to the Ontario 
Minister of Health to recommend 
that the Smoke Free Ontario 
Strategy be aligned with the 
proposed tobacco endgame in 
Canada; 
 
AND FURTHER THAT copies be 
sent to the Chief Public Health 
Officer of Canada, the Chief 
Medical Officer of Health of 
Ontario, the Association of Local 
Public Health Agencies, the 
Ontario Public Health 
Association, all Ontario Boards of 
Health, the Association of 
Municipalities of Ontario, and 
within Simcoe Muskoka the local 
Members of Parliament, the local 
Members of Provincial 
Parliament, the Local Health 
Integration Networks, and the 
municipal councils; 







 
 
AND FURTHER THAT the Board 
of Health sponsor the 
accompanying resolution in 
Appendix A at the 2017 Annual 
General Meeting of the 
Association of Local Public 
Health Agencies. 
CARRIED 


8.0  Business Arising  


 8.1 Board of Health Development & Assessment.  
Briefing Note.  BJ McCabe and C. Gardner 
presented.  


A video on the impacts that people have on the 
lives of others was presented. Following this, 
the Board membership was led through an 
exercise of small working group discussions. 
During the open Board discussion afterwards, 
members shared the following regarding their 
interests and passions for the Board’s mandate:  


 
• Passionate about tobacco cessation 
• Everyone should be healthier 
• People being able to change – helpful to find 


someone to assist with their journey to 
wellbeing  


• Passionate about the importance of caring 
for humanity  


• Board members are good at modesty, and 
therefore have difficulty speaking on their 
personal strengths. It is important to 
acknowledge the baby steps in group 
development. 


 Personal reflections on what motivates 
individuals for change for the better, and the 
importance of the assistance of others to 
succeed. 


• The members have joined the Board 
because they are committed to this 
organization.  They are here in the best 
interest of the organization, the programs 
that they deliver and the people we serve. 


• The importance of caring more about each 
other, our families, and the community. The 
importance of achieving world peace and 
our location contributions to this.   


MCCABE/CIPOLLA 


THAT the Board of Health 
receive this briefing note as 
information,  


AND FURTHER THAT the Board 
approve the recommended 
approach to its self-evaluation 
and development retreat in May 
or June, and determine the date 
and location for this event based 
on the options in Appendix A.  


AND FURTHER THAT the Board 
participate in the facilitated self-
evaluation and development 
exercise at its March 15th 
meeting outlined in Appendix B. 


CARRIED 







 
• The balance of this year we will have 


several openings re the Board membership. 
Potential for changing membership again.  


• Fortunate to be living in Canada with 
Medicare and resources.   


• The importance of addressing poverty here 
and in other areas in the world. 


• An individual’s early life poverty experience 
– desire to address present childhood 
poverty. Importance of caring for our 
children as our future – to meet their needs 
for education and support. 


 
The Board review the options for its upcoming 
retreat and selected the morning of June 5th at 
Fern Resort in Ramara. 


9.0  Items of Education 


 9.1 March 29-31, 2017 - The Ontario Public Health Convention, Allstream Centre, 
Toronto, Ontario. 


 9.2 Engaging agency governance to enhance francophone inclusion: 
Let’s work together! April 5, 2017 from 3:30 pm to 6:30 pm, Barrie Country Club, 635 
St. Vincent St., Barrie 


 9.3 2017 Canadian Public Health Association (CPHA) annual conference June 5 to 8, 
2017 in Halifax, NS.   


 9.4 Save the Date - 2017 alPHa Annual General Meeting & Conference, June 11 to 
June 13, 2017 - Driving the Future of Public Health, Chatham-Kent John D. Bradley 
Convention Centre, Chatham, ON.  More details to follow when available. 


 9.5 Save the Date – 2017 Staff Education Days, October 11 & 12, 2017 at Geneva 
Park, Orillia.  (Each staff member only attends one of the two days; the agenda is 
identical for both days.) 


10.0  Items of Information 


 10.1 alPHa’s next steps in developing a response to the Standards for Public Health 
Programs and Services consultation document. 


 10.2 Copy of letter and attachments from Scott Warnock, Board of Health Chair, Simcoe 
Muskoka District Health Unit to the Honourable Charles Sousa, Minister of Finance 
re commending the Ministry of Finance for implementing a renewed tobacco tax 
increase effective February 26, 2016. 


 10.3 Email from Sandra Horney, Director, Program Foundations and Finance re 2017 
Program Based Grant (PBG) for Mandatory and Related Public Health Programs 
and Services. 


 10.4 Copy of letter from Gary McNamara, Chair, Windsor-Essex County Board of Health 
to the Honourable Dr. Eric Hoskins, Minister of Health and Long-Term Care re 
Marijuana controls under Bill 178, Smoke-Free Ontario Amendment Act, 2016. 







 


 10.5 Copy of letter from Gary McNamara, Chair, Windsor-Essex County Board of Health 
to the Honourable Dr. Eric Hoskins, Minister of Health and Long-Term Care re 
Opioid Addiction and Overdose. 


 10.6 Copy of letter from Nancy Sullivan, Chair, Wellington-Dufferin-Guelph Board of 
Health to the Honourable Kathleen Wynne, Premier of Ontario re requesting support 
for Enactment of Legislation under the HPPA to allow for the inspection and 
enforcement activities of personal service settings. 


 
10.7 


Memo from Dr. Davis Williams, Chief Medical Officer of Health, Ministry of Health 
and Long-Term Care re appointment of Dr. Marlene Spruyt to the position of Medical 
Officer of Health and CEO for the District of Algoma Health Unit. 


 
10.8 


Copy of letter from Mayor Mary Smith, Chair, Peterborough Public Health to the 
Honourable Dr. Eric Hoskins, Minister of Health and Long-Term Care re Expert 
Panel on Public Health. 


 
10.9 


Copy of letter from Jill Tettmann, Chief Executive Officer, North Simcoe Muskoka 
LHIN to the Honourable Helena Jaczek ,Minister of Community and Social Services 
and to the Horourable Chris Ballard, Minister of Housing re Guaranteed Basic 
Income. 


 10.10 Memo from Jill Tettmann, Chief Executive Officer, North Simcoe Muskoka LHIN to 
North Simcoe Muskoka LHIN Health Service Providers re Patients First Update 


 10.11 Letter from Dawn McAlpine, City Clerk, City of Barrie to Simcoe Muskoka District 
Health Unit re notice motion to increase the levy of the City of Barrie. 


 10.12 alPHa Information Break dated March 6, 2017 


11.0  Date and Time of Next Meetings: 
Wednesday, April 19, 2017, Barrie Office 
Wednesday, May 17, 2017, Gravenhurst Office (Confirmed) 
TENTATIVE May 24 or June 5, Board Retreat, Location TBD 
Wednesday, June 21, 2017, Barrie Office 


12.0  The meeting was adjourned at 12:10 pm 
 
 


CIPOLLA/MCCABE 
THAT the Board of Health meeting be 
adjourned. 
CARRIED 


 
 
  
 
Scott Warnock, Dr. Charles Gardner, 
Chair, Board of Health Medical Officer of Health 
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